



Shifting paradigms: holistic and empowering approaches for adolescent HIV

Guest Editors: Moherndran Archary, Audrey E Pettifor, Elona Toska **Supplement Editor:** Marlène Bras





Acknowledgements

The Guest Editors - Moherndran Archary, Audrey E Pettifor, and Elona Toska - would like to thank all of the authors who responded to our request for contributions, prepared manuscripts, and participated in the rigorous review and selection process. We wish that more articles could have been included, but hope that this collection of research on adolescent HIV is a starting point towards shifting our paradigms of service provision for all adolescents. We also thank the editors and staff of the *Journal of the International AIDS Society* for thoughtful guidance, rigorous support, and encouragement throughout the process.

Support

This supplement was supported by the Collaborative Initiative for Paediatric HIV Education and Research (CIPHER), a programme of the International AIDS Society, with funding from ViiV Healthcare and Janssen. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the views of the funding agency.

Disclaimer

The authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this supplement and they do not necessarily represent the views, decisions or policies of the institutions with which they are affiliated.

Shifting paradigms: holistic and empowering approaches for adolescent HIV

Guest Editors: Moherndran Archary, Audrey E Pettifor, Elona Toska **Supplement Editors:** Marlène Bras

Contents

Adolescents and young people at the centre: global perspectives and approaches to transform HIV testing, treatment and care Moherndran Archary, Audrey E Pettifor and Elona Toska	1
Rapid antiretroviral initiation among Thai youth living with HIV in the National AIDS programme in the era of treatment at any CD4 cell count: a national registry database study Sirinya Teeraananchai, Stephen J Kerr, Panthep Khananuraksa, Kiat Ruxrungtham and Thanyawee Puthanakit	5
Young people are experts and leaders in the HIV response Tinashe G Rufurwadzo, Audrey Inarukundo, Ikka Noviyanti and Miguel A Subero	13
Scaling up peer-led community-based differentiated support for adolescents living with HIV: keeping the needs of youth peer supporters in mind to sustain success Sarah Bernays, Maureen Tshuma, Nicola Willis, Kudzanayi Myududu, Adrian Chikeya, Juliet Mufuka, Frances Cowan and Webster Mavhu	15
Youth-friendly services and a mobile phone application to promote adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis among adolescent men who have sex with men and transgender women at-risk for HIV in Thailand: a randomized control trial Wipaporn Natalie Songtaweesin, Surinda Kawichai, Nittaya Phanuphak, Tim R Cressey, Prissana Wongharn, Chutima Saisaengjan, Tanat Chinbunchorn, Surang Janyam, Danai Linjongrat, Thanyawee Puthanakit and on behalf of the CE-PID – TRC Adolescent Study Team	21
"If it is left, it becomes easy for me to get tested": use of oral self-tests and community health workers to maximize the potential of home-based HIV testing among adolescents in Lesotho Alain Amstutz, Mathebe Kopo, Thabo I Lejone, Lefu Khesa, Mpho Kao, Josephine Muhairwe, Tracy R Glass and Niklaus D Labhardt	32
"Because we all have to grow up": supporting adolescents in Uganda to develop core competencies to transition towards managing their HIV more independently Chloe Lanyon, Janet Seeley, Stella Namukwaya, Victor Musiime, Sara Paparini, Helen Nakyambadde, Christine Matama, Anna Turkova and Sarah Bernays	40
Reproductive aspirations, contraception use and dual protection among adolescent girls and young women: the effect of motherhood and HIV status Elona Toska, Lucie Cluver, Christina A Laurenzi, Camille Wittesaele, Lorraine Sherr, Siyanai Zhou and Nontokozo Langwenya	47
Directed and target focused multi-sectoral adolescent HIV prevention: insights from implementation of the 'DREAMS Partnership' in rural South Africa Natsayi Chimbindi, Isolde Birdthistle, Sian Floyd, Guy Harling, Nondumiso Mthiyane, Thembelihle Zuma, James R Hargreaves, Janet Seeley and Maryam Shahmanesh	54
The HIV drug optimization agenda: promoting standards for earlier investigation and approvals of antiretroviral drugs for use in adolescents living with HIV Pablo Rojo, Deborah Carpenter, François Venter, Anna Turkova and Martina Penazzato	60
Preventing mental health conditions in adolescents living with HIV: an urgent need for evidence Christina A Laurenzi, Sarah Skeen, Sarah Gordon, Olamide Akin-Olugbade, Nina Abrahams, Melissa Bradshaw, Amanda Brand, Stefani du Toit, G J Melendez-Torres, Mark Tomlinson, Chiara Servili, Tarun Dua and David A Ross	65
Is HIV index testing and partner notification safe for adolescent girls and young women in low- and middle-income countries? Anne L Stangl, Meroji Sebany, Chisina Kapungu, Cassandra Jessee, Chelsea L Ricker and Eliza Chard	71
Fostering successful and sustainable collaborations to advance implementation science: the adolescent HIV prevention and treatment implementation science alliance Rachel Sturke, Susan Vorkoper, Linda-Gail Bekker, Wole Ameyan, Chewe Luo, Susannah Allison, Damilola Walker, Bill Kapogiannis and Laura Guay	77



EDITORIAL



Adolescents and young people at the centre: global perspectives and approaches to transform HIV testing, treatment and care

Moherndran Archary^{1,2,*} (b), Audrey E Pettifor^{3,4,*} (b) and Elona Toska^{5,6,7,§,*} (b)

[§]Corresponding author: Elona Toska, 4.29 Leslie Social Science Building, 12 University Avenue South, University of Cape Town, Rondebosch 7700, Cape Town, South Africa. Tel: +27216505158. (elona.toska@uct.ac.za; elona.toska@gmail.com)

*These authors have contributed equally to the work.

Keywords: HIV; prevention; care; adolescents; young people; approaches

Received 22 June 2020; Accepted 26 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

In this special issue of the Journal of the International AIDS Society, we focus on research and perspectives that put adolescents and young people at the centre of their HIV prevention and care. Globally over two million adolescents are living with HIV, while many more are at risk of HIV infection [1-3]. In contrast to reductions globally and in highest burden regions in the general population, estimates suggest that HIV incidence and mortality persist among adolescents and young people. Young people continue be less likely to test for HIV, to link to care in a timely way and to stay engaged in care if they test HIV positive compared to adults [4-7]. Although, these disparities in access to HIV prevention and care have been documented over the last decade, the evidence base of models, programmes and tools to address the challenges young people face is limited [8-11]. This special issue documents a series of promising and effective approaches that support adolescents and young people, not only to access and use HIV prevention and care, but also to live whole and fulfilling lives. The articles in this issue bring together evidence and lessons learned from a number of global settings, unified by one clear message: young people need and want to be at the centre of their HIV prevention and care programmes.

Changes in HIV-related policies and guidelines can have a positive impact in HIV-related outcomes among adolescents and young people. The move to universal test and treat in 2016 for people living with HIV has had dramatic impacts on the number of people living with HIV who have started antiretroviral therapy (ART) and overall better treatment outcomes in many settings [18]. This is no different for adolescents. Analyses of national data from Thailand by Teeraananchai et al. investigates the impact of shifting from ART initiation based on CD4 values to immediate ART initiation upon HIV-positive test results [18]. Their analyses of data from over 51,000 15- to 24-year-old young people show that universal test-and-treat can improve linkages to care and reduce mortality among young people, compared to CD4-driven ART initiation.

Young people and adolescents have long demanded to be centrally involved in developing and implementing HIV research agendas, programmes and policies [12]. Adolescents and young people have different prevention and care needs based on their personal experiences, priorities and aspirations, developmental stages and the context they live in. The approaches in the HIV response need to acknowledge those differences and adapt accordingly [10]. In this issue, Rufurwadzo et al. - young people working with youth-led organizations and networks at the regional or global level - write about the importance of including adolescents and young people [13]. They give concrete examples of how young people are involved in the HIV response as advocates, educators, researchers and delivering services both within health facilities and through outreach activities. These examples are a start, but need to become the norm in our research and programming for adolescents.

One area in HIV prevention and care that acknowledges adolescents and young people's voices and needs is their inclusion in the provision of peer support. Mark et al. define peer support for adolescents living with HIV as "a part of adolescent friendly health services as a class of implementation strategies that can support adolescents to access, engage and sustain treatment" [14]. Bernays et al. present data from the Zvandiri peer support programme in Zimbabwe focusing on the experiences of peer supporters themselves. Their findings on research with a cohort of Community Action Treatment Supporters (CATS) highlight several key considerations that need to be addressed as peer support is ramped up as the preferred model for care and support for adolescents living with HIV, especially in high HIV-burden low-resource settings [15]. CATS encountered challenges such as the risk of occupational deductive disclosure and managing the emotional labour of providing care as a peer supporter, but these challenges were eased by the support of other peers and adult mentors. In another example from Thailand, Songtaweesin et al. present data from a randomized controlled trial (RCT) showing that young men who have sex with men and young transgender women in Thailand who were provided with youth-friendly preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) services had good retention in care at six months (75%). The addition of an app to support adherence did not add to PrEP adherence compared to youth friendly services, underscoring the importance of youth-friendly service provision [16]. While the App was found to be acceptable to the young people, this small scale RCT may have been underpowered to detect improved outcomes when added to youthfriendly services. More work is needed on this topic given the often dynamic and unpredictable nature of adolescent sexuality and partnerships.

While adolescent-friendly and differentiated service provision is important to improve prevention and care outcomes for adolescents, it is essential to ensure that biomedical solutions which are accessible and available to adolescents and young people are developed and distributed. Amstutz et al. present findings from Lesotho demonstrating how HIV self-testing allows adolescents more flexibility in how, where and when they test for HIV thus improving the uptake of testing coverage, knowledge of HIV status and linkages to care [17]. HIV self-testing and mHealth solutions (apps or online platforms) could be critical to maintain our progress towards the global 95-95-95 targets among adolescents and young people, particularly in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and its consequences on an overburdened health system. However, the evidence on both is emerging and additional research is needed to understand when such solutions work, but also when they do not work, so that adjusted and tailored versions can be tested and scaled up.

While specific interventions may be critical to the survival of adolescents and young people, their lives, needs and aspirations must be acknowledged holistically and comprehensively. As millions of adolescents and young people remain at risk of HIV infection or are living with HIV, testing, treatment and care services must be provided with a human-centred and life course approach. Two papers in this issue provide evidence on the complex needs that adolescent HIV programming must take into account. Bernays et al. discuss the complexities of transitioning to second-line treatment for adolescents and young people living with HIV and the need for a multi-faceted supported process [19]. Although immediate adherence improvements were reported, these could only be sustained through the development of "adherence competencies" in the context of a gradual transition processes supported by both caregivers and clinicians.

Programmes need to continue to aim to provide comprehensive care for the whole young person when they do engage with them for HIV prevention or care. This is particularly relevant in the context of COVID-19 pandemic when non-critical engagements with the healthcare system must be limited. Now more than ever it is clear that we need programmes and services that are adaptive to the needs of young people and that meet them where they are with what they need. Toska et al. present data from a survey among young women in South Africa – including adolescent mothers – highlighting the continued importance of young women's sexual and reproductive health in addition to HIV prevention and care [20]. Even though nearly 95% of the pregnancies during adolescence among study participants were unintended, the use of hormonal contraception and condoms – dual protection

- was very low among young women, independent of their HIV status or whether they had already had a child. While these findings are similar to those of studies among adults, it is discouraging that - despite the dialogue on dual protection in the past two decades - there has not been considerable progress in this area. In another example in this issue, Chimbindi et al. report from experiences of scaling up and delivering a layered package of interventions for adolescent girls and young women: the DREAMS initiative, a partnership funded by the United States' President's Emergency Program for AIDS Relief, in a rural remote region of South Africa [21]. They report, much like Bernays and colleagues, that while many excellent programmes and practices exist for adolescent service delivery, there is limited documentation of what works, especially at scale. Additionally, experiences of scaling up a multi-component package like DREAMS highlights the tensions between local adaptation, adolescent engagement and ownership and maintaining fidelity to the original programmes. Despite the challenges, we must continue to learn how to best deliver combination and multi-dimensional programmes for youth.

This supplement was being prepared during the COVID-19 pandemic, though its content does not include data specific to COVID-19. Public health measure like physical distancing and limiting non-essential interactions with the healthcare system are raising challenges for access to services deemed nonessential in many settings, such as HIV testing, PrEP and contraception, as well as for essential services such as access to ART. However, the pandemic also may provide an opportunity to respond to these challenges with some of the adolescentfriendly and innovative interventions highlighted in this issue, such as the use of mobile health technology to augment adolescent- and youth-friendly services [16], HIV self-testing kits [17] and differentiated services [15,21]. The call by Rojo et al. for the development of long-acting antiretroviral drugs for adolescents can not only potentially improve acceptability and adherence but also limit the frequency of healthcare interactions [22].

AVENUES FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

In addition to the work presented in this issue, two commentaries highlight several areas for future research and implementation [23,24], while another calls for stronger implementation science [25]. Laurenzi et al. call for more research evaluating the effects of interventions designed to improve the mental health of adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV) [23]. They highlight four priorities, including to generate more evidence about preventive mental health interventions for ALHIV, to include mental health outcomes in research on psychosocial interventions for ALHIV, to conduct intervention research that is sensitive to differences amongst ALHIV population, while ensuring that adolescents are involved in intervention design and testing. Stangl et al. focus on the needs of young women in the context of implementing partner notification in the context of HIV case indexing [24]. While partner notification is being implemented in some settings, additional research is needed not only to identify effective models but also to ensure potential social harms are identified and mitigated. Both commentaries call for implementation science to assess availability, accessibility, acceptability and quality of programming for adolescent HIV interventions. Vorkoper and colleagues introduce the Adolescent HIV Prevention and Treatment Implementation Science Alliance (AHISA) as a platform for promoting implementation science lessons learned and building capacity to design and conduct implementation science as it relates to adolescent HIV prevention and care in the African region [25]. Such research is critical to understand how evidence-based programmes can be implemented at scale rigorously, effectively and cost effectively.

For years, adolescent HIV prevention and care practitioners, advocates and researchers have been calling for the urgent need for more evidence-based interventions to reduce new HIV infections and improve HIV care outcomes for adolescents and young people. Often the disconnect between the research, programme and policy worlds results in proven interventions for adolescents not being implemented, or programmes not being evaluated to identify barriers to scale up. The content of this special issue provides emerging evidence about what works for young populations in different contexts with regard to improving testing, PrEP use and linkage to and adherence to treatment. As highlighted in the youth viewpoint by Rufurwadzo et al., there is a need for healthcare policymakers and implementors to not be overly paternalistic, but to support and trust them to make good decisions through meaningful engagement [13]. Importantly, this supplement's content highlights that young people are often the best advocates and custodians of their care if they have the tools and the support they need to make safer and healthier choices. As adolescent HIV prevention and care specialists, providers and researchers, we support this positive trajectory and look forward to additional collaborations among policymakers, implementers and donor agencies to strengthen the evidence base and scale up programmes for adolescents and youth.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors have no competing interests.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹King Edward VIII Hospital, Durban, South Africa; ²Department of Paediatrics, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa; ³Department of Epidemiology, Gillings School of Global Public Health, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, USA; ⁴MRC/Wits Rural Public Health and Health Transitions Research Unit, School of Public Health, University of the Witwatersrand, Witwatersrand, South Africa; ⁵Centre for Social Science Research, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa; ⁷Department of Social Policy and Intervention, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

MA, AEP and ET co-conceptualized this editorial and co-wrote it with feedback from the Journal of International AIDS Society editorial team. All authors have read and approved this.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors are grateful to Drs Annette Sohn, Kenneth Myer, and Marlène Bras, Ms Marissa Vicari and Ms Karoline Soerensen for their support on this editorial and the supplement more broadly.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the UKRI GCRF Accelerating Achievement for Africa's Adolescents (Accelerate) Hub (Grant Ref: ES/S008101/1) and the International AIDS Society's CIPHER programme (2018/625-TOS). The views expressed in written materials or publications do not necessarily reflect the official policies of the International AIDS society. Research reported in this publication was supported by the Fogarty International Center, National Institute on Mental Health, National Institutes of Health under Award Number K43TW011434. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

REFERENCES

1. UNAIDS JUNP on H. Miles to go: closing gaps, breaking barriers, righting injustices [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland: Global AIDS Update; 2018.

2. UNAIDS. 2018 global HIV statistics [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland. 2019. [cited 2020 June 12]. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/file s/media_asset/UNAIDS_FactSheet_en.pdf

3. UNAIDS JUNP on H. At a glance - HIV among women and girls in Sub-Saharan Africa. 2019.

4. Wong VJ, Murray KR, Phelps BR, Vermund SH, McCarraher DR. Adolescents, young people, and the 90–90-90 goals: A call to improve HIV testing and linkage to treatment. AIDS. 2017;31:S191–4.

5. StatsSA. South Africa demographic and health survey 2016 - key indicators report [Internet]. Pretoria, South Africa; 2019. [cited 2020 June 12]. Available from: http://www.statssa.gov.za/?page_id=964

6. Zanoni BC, Archary M, Buchan S, Katz IT, Haberer JE. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the adolescent HIV continuum of care in South Africa: the Cresting Wave. BMJ Global Health. 2016;1:e000004.

7. Mavegam BO, Pharr JR, Cruz P, Ezeanolue EE. Effective interventions to improve young adults' linkage to HIV care in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. AIDS Care. 2017;29(10):1198–204.

8. Casale M, Carlqvist A, Cluver L. Recent interventions to improve retention in HIV care and adherence to antiretroviral treatment among adolescents and youth: a systematic review. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2019;33:237–52.

9. Ridgeway K, Dulli LS, Murray KR, Silverstein H, Dal Santo L, Olsen P, et al. Interventions to improve antiretroviral therapy adherence among adolescents in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the literature. Paraskevis D, editor. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0189770.

10. Murray KR, Dulli LS, Ridgeway K, Dal Santo L, De Mora DD, Olsen P, et al. Improving retention in HIV care among adolescents and adults in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the literature. PLoS One. 2017;12: e0184879.

11. Toska E, Pantelic M, Meinck F, Keck K, Haghighat R, Cluver L. Sex in the shadow of HIV: a systematic review of prevalence rates, risk factors and interventions to reduce sexual risk-taking among HIV-positive adolescents and youth in Sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0178106.

12. Denison JA, Pettifor A, Mofenson LM, Kasedde S, Marcus R, Konayuma KJ, et al. Youth engagement in developing an implementation science research agenda on adolescent HIV testing and care linkages in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS. 2017;31:S195–201.

13. Rufurwadzo TG, Inarukundo A, Noviyanti I, Subero MA. Young people are experts and leaders in the HIV response. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5): e25569.

14. Mark D, Hrapcak S, Ameyan W, Lovich R, Ronan A, Schmitz K, et al. Peer support for adolescents and young people living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa: emerging insights and a methodological agenda. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2019;16 (6):467–74

15. Bernays S, Tshuma M, Willis N, Mvududu K, Chikeya A, Mufuka J, et al. Scaling up peer-led community-based differentiated support for adolescents living with HIV: keeping the needs of youth peer supporters in mind to sustain success. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25570.

16. Songtaweesin WN, Kawichai S, Phanuphak N, Cressey TR, Wongharn P, Saisaengjan C, et al. Youth-friendly services and a mobile phone application to promote adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis among adolescent men who have sex with men and transgender women at-risk for HIV in Thailand: a randomized control trial. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25564

17. Amstutz A, Kopo M, Lejone TI, Khesa L, Kao M, Muhairwe J, et al. "If it is left, it becomes easy for me to get tested": use of oral self-tests and community health workers to maximize the potential of home-based HIV testing among adolescents in Lesotho. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25563.

18. Teeraananchai S, Kerr SJ, Khananuraksa P, Ruxrungtham K, Puthanakit T. Rapid antiretroviral initiation among Thai youth living with HIV in the National AIDS programme in the era of treatment at any CD4 cell count: a national registry database study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25574.

19. Lanyon C, Seeley J, Namukwaya S, Musiime V, Paparini S, Nakyambadde H, et al. "Because we all have to grow up": supporting adolescents in Uganda to

develop core competencies to transition towards managing their HIV more independently. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25552.

20. Toska E, Cluver L, Laurenzi CA, Wittesaele C, Sherr L, Zhou S, et al. Reproductive aspirations, contraception use and dual protection among adolescent girls and young women: the effect of motherhood and HIV status. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25558.

21. Chimbindi N, Birdthistle I, Floyd S, Harling G, Mthiyane N, Zuma T, et al. Directed and target focused multi-sectoral adolescent HIV prevention: insights from implementation of the 'DREAMS Partnership' in rural South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25575.

22. Rojo P, Carpenter D, Venter F, Turkova A, Penazzato M. The HIV drug optimization agenda: promoting standards for earlier investigation and approvals of antiretroviral drugs for use in adolescents living with HIV. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25576.

23. Laurenzi CA, Skeen S, Gordon S, Akin-Olugbade O, Abrahams N, Bradshaw M, et al. Preventing mental health conditions in adolescents living with HIV: an urgent need for evidence. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25556.

24. Stangl AL, Sebany M, Kapungu C, Jessee C, Ricker CL, Chard E. Is HIV index testing and partner notification safe for adolescent girls and young women in low- and middle-income countries? J Int. AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25562.

25. Sturke R, Vorkoper S, Bekker L-G, Ameyan W, Luo C, Allison S, et al. Fostering successful and sustainable collaborations to advance implementation science: the adolescent HIV prevention and treatment implementation science alliance. J Int AIDS Soc. 2020;23(S5):e25572.

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Rapid antiretroviral initiation among Thai youth living with HIV in the National AIDS programme in the era of treatment at any CD4 cell count: a national registry database study

Sirinya Teeraananchai^{1,2,§} (D), Stephen J Kerr^{1,3,4}, Panthep Khananuraksa⁵, Kiat Ruxrungtham^{1,6} and Thanyawee Puthanakit^{1,7,8} (D)

[§]Corresponding author: Sirinya Teeraananchai, Department of Statistics, Faculty of Science, Kasetsart University, Bangkok 10900, Thailand. Tel +66 2 5625555 ext 647119. (sirinya.te@ku.th)

Abstract

Introduction: The process indicators of ending the HIV epidemic include 90% of people living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy (ART). The population of youth, however, has less access to healthcare. We assessed ART initiation and attrition outcomes of the HIV continuum from HIV diagnosis to ART initiation in youth living with HIV (YLHIV) and factors associated with ART initiation.

Methods: We studied YLHIV aged 15 to 24 years who were registered on the National AIDS Program (NAP) from January 2008 to May 2019. The study period was divided into 2008 to 2013 (initiated ART by CD4-guided criteria) and 2014 to 2018 (initiate ART at any CD4). Date of registration was used as a surrogate for the diagnosis date and defined as the baseline. The database included ART prescription and laboratory results, and the vital status was linked daily with the National Death Registry. Competing risk methods were used to assess factors associated with accessing ART, with loss to follow-up (LTFU) and death considered as competing events. Logistic regression was used to assess factors associated with rapid ART initiation, defined as initiation \leq 1 month after registration.

Results: Overall, 51,607 youth registered on the NAP (42% between 2008 and 2013). Median age was 21 (IQR 20 to 23) years; 64% were male. Overall ART initiation was 80% in the first period and 83% in the second. The ART initiation rate was higher among YLHIV aged 15 to 19 years (86%) than 20 to 24 years (82%) (p < 0.001) in the second period. The proportion of youth starting rapid ART increased significantly from 27% to 52% between the two periods (p < 0.001). Factors associated with ART initiation were age 15 to 19 years (aSHR 1.09, 95% CI 1.06 to 1.11), female (aSHR 1.26, 95% CI 1.23 to 1.29) and registration year 2014 to 2018 (aSHR 1.73, 95% CI 1.69 to 1.76). The cumulative incidence of LTFU/death prior to ART initiation at 12 months was 3.8% (95% CI 3.6% to 4.1%) in the first period and 1.9% (95% CI 1.8% to 2.1%) in the second period. **Conclusions:** In the era of universal treatment of all at any CD4 level, 83% of YLHIV registered on the Thai National AIDS Program initiated ART. The majority initiated within one month of registration.

Keywords: youth living with HIV; antiretroviral therapy; universal coverage health programme; rapid ART; HIV cascade; loss to follow-up

Received 27 February 2020; Accepted 19 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Treating 90% of people who know they are living with HIV by 2030, the second step in the HIV care cascade, is an important UNAIDS 90:90:90 target [1]. Studies indicate that loss to follow up (LTFU) is high before people start antiretroviral therapy (ART) and more likely in these pre-ART patients with high CD4 counts and less advanced clinical stage [2-4], due to waiting times for ART eligibility [5]. Youth living with HIV (YLHIV) have traditionally had poor outcomes, with high LTFU and death rates before ART initiation, and even lower proportions achieve the final endpoint of viral suppression in the cascade of care [6-8]. Evidence from Africa and Thailand suggests that the rate of LTFU before ART initiation in young people (age 15 to 24 years) is higher than the rates observed in adults (age \geq 25 years) and early adolescents (age <15 years) [3,9,10].

In Thailand, people living with HIV have been offered free HIV care and treatment through the universal coverage National AIDS Program (NAP) from the end of 2007 [11]. Since then, there have been successive updates in the CD4 thresholds set for starting ART (CD4 < 200 cell/mm³ from 2008 to 2010, CD4 < 350 cells/mm³ from 2011 to 2013, and any CD4 level since 2014) [12]. The updated HIV treatment guidelines have led to overall increases in the number of patients accessing ART: in 2017, 87% of all people living with

HIV registered on the NAP accessed ART and 69% were virally suppressed [13].

However, although the largest group of new HIV diagnoses is in young people who acquired HIV sexually, particularly young men who have sex with men [14-16], no outcome data along the care cascade are available for this group.

We sought to assess and compare outcomes for YLHIV treated through the Thai NAP at the second step of the care cascade, for 2008 to 2013 and for 2014 to 2018 when guidelines changed to ART initiation recommended at any CD4 count. Our primary aim was to assess changes in ART initiation and attrition cumulative incidence after HIV diagnosis in YLHIV. Our secondary aims were to assess factors associated with ART initiation and ART initiation within 30 days of registration on the NAP.

2 | METHODS

2.1 Study cohort from national registry database

Briefly, health insurance programmes in Thailand consist of the Social Security Scheme for people working in the private sector, the Civil Servant Medical Benefit Schemes for people working in the public sector and the Universal Coverage Scheme for those not covered by either of the other two schemes. For HIV management, all these insurance systems were integrated as the NAP and have been administered by the National Health Security Office (NHSO) since 2007.

The NAP database was established in 2007 as a registration and reimbursement portal for HIV programmes. Hospitals and clinical sites enter laboratory results, clinical information and ART dispensing records into the database system at registration (HIV diagnosis) and all subsequent visits. CD4 tests are provided every six months and HIV-RNA is measured six months after starting ART and annually thereafter. ART is provided based on national HIV treatment guidelines [11]. Since site cost reimbursement is contingent on data being entered for services provided, the data are highly accurate. In addition, the database is linked with the national death registry, so patient vital status is updated daily.

More than 95% of YLHIV are covered by the Universal Coverage Scheme. An effective prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) programme has seen vertical transmission decline to <1% of live births [17], but young people who acquired HIV sexually now account for the biggest number of new infections [18,19]. Accordingly, the concept of treating YLHIV has become more flexible, allowing YLHIV to start ART without parental consent, consistent with treating at any CD4 level. Moreover, YLHIV are cared for in paediatric clinics if they are younger than 18 years and then mostly transferred to an adult clinic at the age of 18 years.

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Institute for Development of Human Research Protection, Ministry of Public Health, Thailand. A waiver of consent was granted for this data analysis. The NAP database was deidentified by the NHSO before analysis.

2.2 Study population

This study included YLHIV aged 15 to 24 years who registered on the NAP from January 2008 to May 2018. Follow-up data were available until August 2019, providing at least a year of follow-up for all patients to assess outcomes, including an additional three months to account for possible delays in data entry. We excluded patients who were treated before enrolment into the NAP since no clinical information was available at the time of HIV diagnosis or ART initiation.

2.3 Definitions and outcomes

Date of registration was used as a surrogate for diagnosis date and defined as the baseline.

The primary outcome was ART initiation, defined as patients starting ART after registration throughout the study period. Secondary outcomes were as follows:

- 1 Rapid ART initiation, defined as starting ART on the same day, within seven days and within one month of registration
- 2 Attrition outcomes (LTFU, mortality) from HIV diagnosis to ART initiation prior to ART initiation.

The study endpoints were ART initiation after HIV diagnosis. LTFU and death: those who did not start ART were censored at their last clinic visit. LTFU was defined as not starting ART and not attending clinic for 12 months after their previous appointment unless they subsequently returned to care before the final data transfer date. Patients who died without starting ART were classified as dead even if the patient was previously lost to follow-up. Patients who did not reach a study endpoint (starting ART, LTFU or death) were censored at the date of their most recent clinic visit. Baseline CD4 was taken as the closest result available to the date of registration within a window of six months before or after registration. Pre-ART CD4 results were defined as the closest results within a window 12 months before and up to two months after the date of ART initiation. Vital status was ascertained by linkage with death registry, which was updated daily.

2.4 Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics, including demographics, age (15 to 19 years were classified as older adolescents and 20 to 24 years as young adults [20]), year, region, history of opportunistic infection [20] and CD4 count level, were summarized using descriptive statistics by period of registration. The first period was defined as 2008 to 2013 and the second as 2014 to 2018. The outcomes along the HIV cascade from HIV diagnosis to ART initiation were reported as proportions by period of registration. The competing risk method of Fine and Gray [21] was used to calculate subdistribution hazard ratios (SHR), to assess associations between baseline characteristics and ART initiation, with LTFU and death considered as competing events.

From these analyses, the cumulative incidence of ART initiation and of LTFU/death was generated using competing risk estimators. Logistic regression was used to assess predictors of rapid ART initiation (within one month of registration). In this analysis, those starting ART within one month of registration were considered as successes and those who did not start within one month for any reason, including LTFU or death, were considered as failures. Covariates assessed in both logistic and competing risks models included baseline age, gender, country region, year of registration and history of opportunistic infections.

Variables with p < 0.10 were included in multivariate models. Statistical significance was identified using a two-sided p < 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed with SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA) and with Stata version 14 (Statacorp, College Station, TX, UAS).

3 | RESULTS

A total of 52,397 youth registered on the NAP from 2008 to 2018; 790 youth (2%) were excluded because they initiated ART in other facilities, such as private clinics and research programmes. Therefore 51,607 newly diagnosed patients were analysed, of whom 21,825 (42%) registered from 2008 to 2013 and 29,782 (58%) from 2014 to 2018.

3.1 | Patient characteristics

Baseline characteristics by period of registration are shown in Table 1. The median age was 21 (interquartile range [IQR] 20 to 23) years. Most patients (75%) enrolled at age 20 to 24 years versus age 15 to 19 years. The proportion of males increased from 50% to 74% from the first to the second period. A quarter of the YLHIV were from the northeast and the next highest proportions were from the northern and Bangkok regions. Fifty-one percent of YLHIV had CD4 counts available at registration and the median CD4 was 333 (IQR 171 to 491) cells/mm³ Only 48% of YLHIV who registered had pre-ART CD4 available: the median pre-ART CD4 count was 255 (IQR 81 to 395) cells/mm³ in the first period and 318 (IQR 163 to 468) cells/mm³ in the second period.

3.2 Study outcomes

The percentage of YLHIV achieving outcomes along the HIV cascade from HIV diagnosis to ART initiation, by study period, is shown in Figure 1. The percentage initiating ART throughout the study increased from 80% to 83% from 2008-2013 to 2014-2018 (p < 0.001). We found statistically significant improvements in the percentage of youth initiating ART on the same day, within seven days and within one month of registration in the first versus the second period. The percentage of deaths before ART initiation in the first period decreased from 4% to 2% in the second period (p < 0.001). In the recent period where guidelines advocated starting ART at any CD4 count, the percentage of patients who were lost to follow-up prior to ART initiation reduced from 17% to 11% (p < 0.001).

Moreover, the overall median duration from registration to ART initiation was 1.47 (IQR 0.37 to 12.18) months, with a total of 42,914 person-years. The median time from registration to ART initiation in 2008 to 2013 was six (IQR 0.8 to 25) months, significantly longer than in the second period [one (IQR 0.2 to 4) month, p < 0.001]. The crude mortality rate was 3.52 (95% CI 3.35 to 3.70) per 100 person-years. The crude LTFU rate was 16.11 (95% CI 15.74 to 6.50) per 100 person-years.

The cumulative incidence of initiating ART for those who registered from 2008 to 2013 at one, three, six and 12 months was 26.9% (95% CI 26.3% to 27.5%), 40.6% (95%

CI 40.0% to 41.3%), 46.5% (95% CI 45.9% to 47.2%) and 51.4% (95% CI 50.8% to 52.1%) respectively. Among those who registered from 2014 to 2018, the cumulative incidence of ART initiation at one, three, six and 12 months was 51.5% (95% CI 51.0% to 52.1%), 68.8% (95% CI 68.3% to 69.4%), 73.8% (95% CI 73.3% to 74.3%) and 78.0% (95% CI 77.5% to 78.4%) respectively. The cumulative incidence of LTFU/death prior to ART initiation at 12 months was 3.8% (95% CI 3.6% to 4.1%) in the first period and 1.9% (95% CI 1.8% to 2.1%) in the second period (Figure 2).

3.3 | Factors associated with antiretroviral treatment initiation

We assessed factors associated with ART initiation after NAP registration. All covariates from univariate analysis were included in the multivariate analysis (Table 2). Patients aged 15 to 19 years who registered had a 9% higher chance of initiating ART compared with those aged 20 to 24 years who enrolled (aSHR 1.09, 95% CI 1.06 to 1.11). Females (aSHR 1.26, 95% CI 1.23 to 1.29) were more likely to initiate ART than males. Young people with no history of opportunistic infection were less likely to access ART (aSHR 0.95, 95% CI 0.91 to 0.98). In addition, youth who registered from 2014 had a higher chance (aSHR 1.73, 95% CI 1.69 to 1.76) of initiating ART versus those who registered before 2014. Patients living in the southern, eastern and western regions of Thailand had a lower chance of starting ART than those who lived in Bangkok Metropolitan area.

3.4 Factors associated with rapid antiretroviral treatment initiation

In logistic regression analyses assessing starting ART within one month of registration (Table 3), all covariates tested in univariate models were included in the multivariate analysis. Patients aged 15 to 19 years who registered (aOR 1.14, 95% CI 1.10 to 1.19) were more likely to start ART within one month than those aged 20 to 24 years who enrolled. Females had 61% (aOR 1.61, 95% CI 1.54 to 1.68) higher odds of rapidly starting ART than males. Patients with no history of opportunistic infection were more likely to start ART within one month than those with history. The odds of starting ART rapidly increased threefold (aOR 3.20, 95% CI 3.07 to 3.33) in patients who registered in the period 2014 to 2018 versus those registered in 2008 to 2013. Patients living in the Bangkok Metropolitan area had higher odds of rapidly starting ART than other country regions.

4 | DISCUSSION

This study using the national registry database of the Thai National AIDS Program is the first to specifically address outcomes along the care cascade from HIV diagnosis to antiretroviral therapy initiation among young people aged 15 to 24 years. It reflects real-life practice and outcomes in a low-to middle-income country setting, where universal coverage is provided, in response to changes in national treatment guide-lines. Our study showed that ≥80% of YLHIV initiated ART in both periods. The proportion initiating ART within one month

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of youth living with HIV aged 15 to 24 years registered on the Thai National AIDS Program in 2008 to 2018

Baseline characteristics ^a	2008 to 2013	2014 to 2018	Total	p^{b}
N	21,825	29,782	51,607	
Median age at registration, years	22 (19 to 23)	21 (20 to 23)	21 (20 to 23)	< 0.001
Age group				
15 to 19 years	5546 (25)	7333 (25)	12,879 (25)	< 0.001
20 to 24 years	16,279 (75)	22,449 (75)	38,728 (75)	
Male	11,013 (50)	22,075 (74)	33,088 (64)	< 0.001
History of opportunistic infection				
Yes	2105 (10)	1588 (5)	3693 (7)	< 0.001
No	19,720 (90)	28,194 (95)	47,914 (93)	
CD4 available at registration	4682 (21)	21,612 (73)	26,294 (51)	
Median (IQR) CD4 at registration, cells/mm ³	331 (156 to 492)	333 (175 to 491)	333 (171 to 491)	0.22
Pre-ART CD4 available	6626 (30)	17,900 (60)	24,526 (48)	
Median pre-ART CD4 count (cells/mm ³)	255 (81 to 395)	318 (163 to 468)	300 (137 to 451)	< 0.001
Geographical regions				
Bangkok metropolitan	2987 (14)	5609 (19)	8596 (17)	< 0.001
Northeast	6015 (28)	7651 (26)	13,666 (26)	
North	3853 (18)	5079 (17)	8932 (17)	
Central	3397 (16)	5092 (17)	8489 (16)	
East	2225 (10)	2900 (10)	5125 (10)	
South	2440 (11)	2265 (8)	4705 (9)	
West	908 (4)	1186 (4)	2094 (4)	

ART, antiretroviral therapy.

^aPresented as n (%) for categorical data and median (interquartile range) for continuous data; ^bThe comparisons were performed using Pearson's Chi-square tests for categorical data, and a Wilcoxon rank sum test for continuous data.



■2008-2013 ■2014-2018

Figure 1. Outcomes of youth living with HIV aged 15 to 24 years after registered on the Thai National AIDS Program.

[§]ART initiation was defined as patients starting ART after registration throughout study period. [†]LTFU was defined as not starting ART and not attending clinic for 12 months after their previous appointment, unless they subsequently returned to care before the final data transfer date. [‡]Patients who died without starting ART were classified as dead even if they were previously loss to follow-up. There were statistically significant differences in the percent of youth experiencing all outcomes in 2008 to 2013 compared with 2014 to 2018 (p < 0.001). Formal comparisons were made using Pearson's Chi-square. Error bars represented 95% confidence interval. ART, antiretroviral therapy; LTFU, loss to follow up

of registration increased from 27% to 52%, and within six months of registration, it increased from 47% to 74%, coinciding with guidelines changing to starting ART at any CD4 count

[22]. This finding likely reflects the effect of the guideline change, in association with more experience in treatment sites and better infrastructure over the years.



Figure 2. Cumulative incidence of accessing antiretroviral therapy among youth living with HIV on the Thai National AIDS Program, by period of registration.

The cumulative incidence was calculated by competing risk models. ART, antiretroviral therapy; LTFU, loss to follow up.

Our study shows an increase in the trend of rapidly initiating ART in YLHIV during the study period. From 2014, more than 50% started ART within one month, increasing to 69% at three months and 78% at 12 months. This is higher than found by the International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) Global Cohort in young people aged 15 to 19 years (37.4% at one month, 62.2% at 12 months) [23]. Moreover, the median time from HIV diagnosis to ART initiation in our study decreased from six to one month after guidelines recommended starting ART irrespective of CD4 count levels. This finding is similar to a study from Zambia and South Africa in the period 2004 to 2015, where median time reduced after delivering an intervention to offer ART regardless of CD4 count (the HPTN 071, PopART, trial) from ten to six months [24].

The increase in cumulative incidence of ART initiation in YLHIV provides evidence of the changes in response to updates in the national HIV treatment guidelines. This finding is consistent with a meta-analysis that found the largest changes in cumulative incidence of ART initiation were in those who were ineligible under prior guidelines and in patients aged 16 to 24 years [25].

Our analysis of predictive factors for initiating ART and rapid ART showed that rates were especially high in those who were younger (15 to 19 years) and in females. This is similar to findings from an African study, where those who initiated same-day ART were younger, more likely to be female and presented with less advanced clinical disease [26,27]. With Thailand's PMTCT programme, all pregnant women are tested for HIV during pregnancy, so most female patients confirmed as HIV positive during pregnancy have prompt ART initiation; previous studies support evidence that rapid ART initiation in pregnancy is effective in reducing mother to child transmission [3,27-29].

Furthermore, patients who lived in the Bangkok area were more likely to access ART than those in the southern, western and eastern regions. One possible explanation is that the central (including Bangkok), northeast and northern regions have the highest prevalence of HIV and were the earliest regions affected by the Thai HIV epidemic. They therefore have more experience in managing HIV patients and perhaps have more specialized HIV clinics. Previous studies from Zimbabwe and China support evidence that patients who live in urban areas can more easily access ART or treatment than those who live in rural areas [30,31].

While our findings are encouraging, they also show that further and more aggressive efforts are needed to achieve the second and third goals of the treatment cascade: 90% of people diagnosed with HIV receiving ART; and 90% of these ART-treated YLHIV virally suppressed. Integration of multiple effective approaches from policy, hospital services, healthcare centre services and community-led services are essential strategies to reach this ultimate goal.

Previous studies indicate that attrition rates are high during the period from HIV testing to ART initiation when eligibility criteria are based on CD4 thresholds, particularly in YLHIV [2-3,5,7,23,32]. Since guidelines have recommended immediately starting ART in all people living with HIV, high rates of patient attrition in the period between HIV diagnosis and ART initiation have reduced [2,33,34]. LTFU before ART initiation in our study reduced from 17% to 11% in the period of recommending treatment at any CD4 count.

Meanwhile, the IeDEA Global Cohort, which is comprised of cohorts with different infrastructures, reported that overall

Characteristics (n = $51,607$) ^a	Univariate SHR (95% CI)	p	Multivariate aSHR (95% CI)	р
Age group		<0.001		<0.001
15 to 19 years	1.10 (1.08 to 1.13)		1.09 (1.06 to 1.11)	
20 to 24 years	Reference		Reference	
Sex		< 0.001		<0.001
Male	Reference		Reference	
Female	1.09 (1.06 to 1.11)		1.26 (1.23 to 1.29)	
History of opportunistic infection		0.04		0.001
Yes	Reference		Reference	
No	1.03 (1.01 to 1.07)		0.95 (0.91 to 0.98)	
Year of registration		< 0.001		<0.001
2008 to 2013	Reference		Reference	
2014 to 2018	1.62 (1.59 to 1.66)		1.73 (1.69 to 1.76)	
Geographical region		< 0.001		<0.001
Bangkok Metropolitan	Reference		Reference	
Northeastern	0.94 (0.91 to 0.97)		0.98 (0.94 to 1.01)	
Northern	0.93 (0.90 to 0.96)		0.97 (0.94 to 1.00)	
Central	0.95 (0.92 to 0.99)		0.97 (0.93 to 1.00)	
Southern	0.85 (0.82 to 0.88)		0.90 (0.86 to 0.93)	
Eastern	0.88 (0.85 to 0.92)		0.89 (0.86 to 0.93)	
Western	0.76 (0.72 to 0.80)		0.76 (0.72 to 0.81)	

Table 2. Factors associated with accessing antiretroviral treatment from a competing risks regression model

aSHR, adjusted subdistribution hazard ratio; SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio.

^aCharacteristics were evaluated at baseline.

LTFU (defined as clinic absence of >6 months) before starting ART was 20.4%, but only 2.3% in the Asia-Pacific region [35]. The majority of Asian cohorts in the IeDEA study were from research centres that specifically cater for YLHIV. These cohorts might therefore have a selection bias for better outcomes compared with the national registry database and with other world regions where LTFU is high due to undocumented mortality. However, similarly encouraging evidence was found by a Rwandan study where mortality and LTFU before ART initiation reduced after the change in Rwanda's national ART eligibility guidelines [36]. Offering ART immediately at diagnosis improves retention in care and mitigates LTFU in patients who are not ready to start ART [37].

There are a number of limitations to this study. First, we defined the date of registration with NAP as the surrogate for date of HIV diagnosis, which could create bias by shortening the perceived time from HIV diagnosis to ART initiation, as some patients may have been diagnosed at HIV testing centres or private clinics and re-tested at NAP registration. However, this seems unlikely because testing within the NAP is free and only 2% of NAP patients were known to be diagnosed outside the programme, indicating that our results are applicable to the vast majority of Thai youth diagnosed with HIV.

Second, the rate of initiating ART in the NAP may be lower than observed in our study since a small proportion of patients may access ART through research programmes and private clinics. We did not have detailed information about service delivery, whether hospitals had specialized HIV clinics, or hospital size; we had information only on location of hospital. These factors might impact on ART access in young people living outside Bangkok. For this reason, we could not definitively establish whether these structural factors influenced the differences we noted between urban and rural areas. Third, we were unable to link PMTCT programme information with the NAP data, so we cannot present separate data about females who were diagnosed during pregnancy in the study period. We also did not have data on mode of infection in the database. We assume that the majority of YLHIV diagnosed with HIV aged 15 to 24 years acquired HIV through sexual transmission.

Fourth, approximately 50% of baseline CD4 counts were not available in this study. Fifth, the NHSO database does not record details about socio-economic factors, such as caregiver status, education status, occupation and income, so we were precluded from examining the effects of these factors which might also have an impact on access to ART.

Last, this is an observational study and it is possible that the outcomes in our study may be subject to unobservable biases and confounding. Regression discontinuity or interrupted time series analysis would allow exploration of temporal trends that may have already been underway in Thailand before the guidelines recommended treatment at any CD4 count.

Nevertheless, we believe that our method is also valid to assess changes related to treatment guidelines since no improvement trends were evident by calendar time prior to 2014. In addition, our model was able to assess the Table 3. Factors associated with rapid antiretroviral treatment initiation within one month after registration in the Thai National AIDS Program

Characteristics ^a (n = $51,607$)	Starting ART within one month, n (%)	Univariate ^b OR (95% CI)	p	Multivariate ^b aOR (95% CI)	р
Age group			<0.001		<0.001
15 to 19 years	5795 (27)	1.20 (1.15 to 1.25)		1.14 (1.10 to 1.19)	
20 to 24 years	15,684 (73)	Reference		Reference	
Sex			< 0.001		< 0.001
Male	13,330 (62)	Reference		Reference	
Female	8149 (38)	1.16 (1.12 to 1.21)		1.61 (1.54 to 1.68)	
History of opportunistic infection			< 0.001		< 0.001
Yes	1092 (5)	Reference		Reference	
No	20,387 (95)	1.76 (1.64 to 1.90)		1.43 (1.33 to 1.54)	
Year of registration			< 0.001		< 0.001
2008 to 2013	5971 (28)	Reference		Reference	
2014 to 2018	15508 (72)	2.88 (2.78 to 2.99)		3.20 (3.07 to 3.33)	
Geographical regions			< 0.001		< 0.001
Bangkok Metropolitan	4120 (17)	Reference		Reference	
Northeastern	5690 (26)	0.78 (0.73 to 0.82)		0.80 (0.76 to 0.85)	
Northern	3730 (17)	0.78 (0.73 to 0.83)		0.81 (0.76 to 0.86)	
Central	3555 (16)	0.78 (0.74 to 0.83)		0.76 (0.71 to 0.81)	
Eastern	2026 (10)	0.71 (0.66 to 0.76)		0.70 (0.65 to 0.75)	
Southern	1712 (9)	0.62 (0.58 to 0.67)		0.67 (0.62 to 0.72)	
Western	646 (4)	0.48 (0.44 to 0.54)		0.46 (0.42 to 0.51)	

aOR, adjusted odd ratio; OR, odd ratio.

^aCharacteristics were evaluated at baseline; ^bThe analyses were performed using Logistic regression models.

cumulative incidence of ART initiation and attrition simultaneously in the same mode. Furthermore, the changes observed from our first to second study period coincided with a structural change in the National Treatment Guidelines on HIV/ AIDS Treatment, affecting the entire country in a period with stable availability of antiretroviral agents, which lends support to the validity of our findings.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

In the period 2014 to 2018 when Thai guidelines advocated initiation of ART at any CD4 count, 83% of young people initiated ART and more than half of YLHIV initiated ART within one month of registration. This more rapid initiation also likely influenced the lower rates of mortality and LTFU prior to ART initiation seen in this period. Continued improvement in early access to ART is needed to reach the target of treating 90% of YLHIV with ART. Moreover, initiating ART rapidly can help control the HIV epidemic and optimize the health of people living with HIV.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹HIV-NAT, Thai Red Cross AIDS Research Centre, Bangkok, Thailand; ²Department of Statistics, Faculty of Science, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand; ³Biostatistics Excellence Centre, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁴Kirby Institute, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia; ²⁵National Health Security Office, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁶Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁷Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁸Center of Excellence in Pediatric Infectious Diseases and Vaccines, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

COMPETING INTERESTS

KR received the Senior Research Scholarship from the Thailand Research Fund (TRF). He also received honoraria or consultation fees from Merck, Roche, Jensen-Cilag, Tibotec, Mylan and the Governmental Pharmaceutical Organization (GPO, Thailand). He has participated in a company-sponsored speaker's bureau from Abbott, Gilead, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Merck, Roche, Jensen-Cilag, GlaxoSmithKline and GPO. TP received a scholarship from the Anandamahidol Foundation and clinical research grant from ViiV. ST was funded as a CIPHER grantee from the International AIDS Society in 2018 to 2020.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

ST, SK, KR and TP created the study concept and study design. ST, SK, PK and KR were responsible for data collection or oversaw programme implementation. ST conducted the analysis. SK, KR and TP advised on the analysis. ST, SK, PK, KR and TP interpreted the data. ST drafted the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript and approved the manuscript for submission.

ABBREVIATIONS

NAP, National AIDS Program; LTFU, loss to follow up; ART, antiretroviral therapy; aSHR, adjusted subdistribution hazard ratio; aOR, adjusted odds ratio; IeDEA, the International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; IQR, interquartile range; PYFU, patient-years of follow-up; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; PMTCT, prevention of mother-to-child transmission.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The dataset was provided by the Thai NHSO and the Ministry of Health in Thailand. The content of this publication is solely the responsibility of the authors. The CIPHER grant was funded by the International AIDS Society, 2018-2020. This research was supported by HIV-NAT, Thai Red Cross AIDS Research Centre, Bangkok, Thailand.

DISCLAIMER

Data were presented in part at the 4th Asia Pacific AIDS & Co-infections Conference, 27-29 June 2019. Hong Kong.

REFERENCES

1. UNAIDS. 90–90–90—An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic | UNAIDS [Internet]. 2014. [cited 25 Oct 2017]; Available from: http:// www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2014/90-90-90

2. Mugisha V, Teasdale CA, Wang C, Lahuerta M, Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, et al. Determinants of mortality and loss to follow-up among adults enrolled in HIV care services in Rwanda. PLoS One. 2014;9:e85774.

3. Teeraananchai S, Kerr SJ, Ruxrungtham K, Avihingsanon A, Chaivooth S, Teeraratkul A, et al. Loss to follow-up and associated factors of patients in the National AIDS Program in Thailand. Antivir Ther. 2018;23(6):529–38.

4. Koech E, Teasdale CA, Wang C, Fayorsey R, Alwar T, Mukui IN, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of HIV-infected youth and young adolescents enrolled in HIV care in Kenya. AIDS. 2014;28(18):2729–38.

5. Shroufi A, Ndebele W, Nyathi M, Gunguwo H, Dixon M, Saint-Sauveur JF, et al. Risk of death among those awaiting treatment for HIV infection in Zimbabwe: adolescents are at particular risk. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18:19247.

 Auld AF, Agolory SG, Shiraishi RW, Wabwire-Mangen F, Kwesigabo G, Mulenga M, et al. Antiretroviral therapy enrollment characteristics and outcomes among HIV-infected adolescents and young adults compared with older adults-seven African countries, 2004–2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(47):1097–103.

7. Clouse K, Pettifor AE, Maskew M, Bassett J, Van Rie A, Behets F, et al. Patient retention from HIV diagnosis through one year on antiretroviral therapy at a primary health care clinic in Johannesburg, South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;62(2):e39–46.

8. Ojwang VO, Penner J, Blat C, Agot K, Bukusi EA, Cohen CR. Loss to followup among youth accessing outpatient HIV care and treatment services in Kisumu, Kenya. AIDS Care. 2016;28(4):500–7.

9. Agolory SG, Auld AF, Odafe S, Shiraishi RW, Dokubo EK, Swaminathan M, et al. High rates of loss to follow-up during the first year of pre-antiretroviral therapy for HIV patients at sites providing pre-ART care in Nigeria, 2004–2012. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0183823.

10. Fox MP, Shearer K, Maskew M, Meyer-Rath G, Clouse K, Sanne I. Attrition through multiple stages of pre-treatment and ART HIV care in South Africa. PLoS One. 2014;9:e110252.

11. Chaivooth S, Bhakeecheep S, Ruxrungtham K, Teeraananchai S, Kerr SJ, Teeraratkul A, et al. The challenges of ending AIDS in Asia: outcomes of the Thai National AIDS Universal Coverage Programme, 2000–2014. J Virus Erad. 2017;3(4):192–9.

12. Manosuthi W, Ongwandee S, Bhakeecheep S, Leechawengwongs M, Ruxrungtham K, Phanuphak P, et al. Guidelines for antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1 infected adults and adolescents 2014, Thailand. AIDS Res Ther. 2015;12:12.

13. NHSO. 90–90-90 treatment target: Thailand treatment cascade (PLHIV registered under government insurances) in 2017. 2017 [cited 2020 May 13]. Available from: http://napdl.nhso.go.th/NAPWebReport/LoginServlet

14. Teeraananchai S, Puthanakit T, Kerr SJ, Chaivooth S, Kiertiburanakul S, Chokephaibulkit K, et al. Attrition and treatment outcomes among adolescents and youths living with HIV in the Thai National AIDS Program. J Virus Erad. 2019;5(1):33–40.

15. Murray KR, Dulli LS, Ridgeway K, Dal Santo L, Darrow de Mora D, Olsen P, et al. Improving retention in HIV care among adolescents and adults in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the literature. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0184879.

16. Seekaew P, Pengnonyang S, Jantarapakde J, Sungsing T, Rodbumrung P, Trachunthong D, et al. Characteristics and HIV epidemiologic profiles of men who have sex with men and transgender women in key population-led test and treat cohorts in Thailand. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0203294. 17. Sidibe M, Singh PK. Thailand eliminates mother-to-child transmission of HIV and syphilis. Lancet. 2016;387(10037):2488–9.

18. Centers for Disease C, Prevention. HIV and syphilis infection among men who have sex with men–Bangkok, Thailand, 2005–2011. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013;62(25):518–20.

19. Thongnopakun S, Maharachpong N, Abdullakasim P. Factors Related to the Sexual Behaviors among Youth in Universities Located in the Eastern Region of Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai. 2016;99(Suppl 1):S43–50.

20. Masur H, Brooks JT, Benson CA, Holmes KK, Pau AK, Kaplan JE, et al. Prevention and treatment of opportunistic infections in HIV-infected adults and adolescents: Updated Guidelines from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institutes of Health, and HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(9):1308–11.

21. Fine JP, Gray RJ. A proportional hazards model for the sub distribution of a competing risk. J Am Stat Assoc. 1999;94:496–509.

22. Puthanakit TTA, Ananworanich J, Wongsawat J, Suntrattiwon P, Wittawatmongkol O, Mekmullica J, et al. Thai national guidelines for the use of antiretroviral therapy in pediatric HIV infection in 2010. Asian Biomed. 2010;4(4):505–13.

23. Lamb MR, Fayorsey R, Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Viola V, Mutabazi V, Alwar T, et al. High attrition before and after ART initiation among youth (15–24 years of age) enrolled in HIV care. AIDS. 2014;28(4):559–68.

24. Seeley J, Bond V, Yang B, Floyd S, MacLeod D, Viljoen L, et al. Understanding the time needed to link to care and start ART in seven HPTN 071 (PopART) Study Communities in Zambia and South Africa. AIDS Behav. 2019;23(4):929–46. 25. Tymejczyk O, Brazier E, Yiannoutsos C, Wools-Kaloustian K, Althoff K, Crab-tree-Ramirez B, et al. HIV treatment eligibility expansion and timely antiretroviral treatment initiation following enrollment in HIV care: A metaregression analysis of programmatic data from 22 countries. PLoS Med. 2018;15: e1002534.

26. Lilian RR, Rees K, McIntyre JA, Struthers HE, Peters RPH. Same-day antiretroviral therapy initiation for HIV-infected adults in South Africa: Analysis of routine data. PLoS One. 2020;15:e0227572.

27. Kerschberger B, Jobanputra K, Schomaker M, Kabore SM, Teck R, Mabhena E, et al. Feasibility of antiretroviral therapy initiation under the treat-all policy under routine conditions: a prospective cohort study from Eswatini. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25401.

28. Chan AK, Kanike E, Bedell R, Mayuni I, Manyera R, Mlotha W, et al. Same day HIV diagnosis and antiretroviral therapy initiation affects retention in Option B+ prevention of mother-to-child transmission services at antenatal care in Zomba District, Malawi. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19:20672.

29. Black S, Zulliger R, Myer L, Marcus R, Jeneker S, Taliep R, et al. Safety, feasibility and efficacy of a rapid ART initiation in pregnancy pilot programme in Cape Town, South Africa. S Afr Med J. 2013;103(8):557–62.

30. Rufu A, Chitimbire VTS, Nzou C, Timire C, Owiti P, Harries AD, et al. Implementation of the 'Test and Treat' policy for newly diagnosed people living with HIV in Zimbabwe in 2017. Public Health Action. 2018;8(3):145–50.

31. Zhang F, Dou Z, Ma Y, Zhang Y, Zhao Y, Zhao D, et al. Effect of earlier initiation of antiretroviral treatment and increased treatment coverage on HIV-related mortality in China: a national observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2011;11(7):516–24.

32. Mugglin C, Estill J, Wandeler G, Bender N, Egger M, Gsponer T, et al. Loss to programme between HIV diagnosis and initiation of antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa: systematic review and meta-analysis. Tropical Med Int Health. 2012;17(12):1509–20.

33. WHO. Guidelines on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2015.

34. Brown JP, Ngwira B, Tafatatha T, Crampin AC, French N, Koole O. Determinants of time to antiretroviral treatment initiation and subsequent mortality on treatment in a cohort in rural northern Malawi. AIDS Res Ther. 2016;13:24.

35. Desmonde S, Tanser F, Vreeman R, Takassi E, Edmonds A, Lumbiganon P, et al. Access to antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected children aged 0–19 years in the International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) Global Cohort Consortium, 2004–2015: A prospective cohort study. PLoS Med. 2018;15:e1002565.

36. Teasdale CA, Wang C, Francois U, Ndahimana J, Vincent M, Sahabo R, et al. Time to initiation of antiretroviral therapy among patients who Are ART eligible in Rwanda: improvement over time. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;68 (3):314–21.

37. Bor J, Fox MP, Rosen S, Venkataramani A, Tanser F, Pillay D, et al. Treatment eligibility and retention in clinical HIV care: A regression discontinuity study in South Africa. PLoS Med. 2017;14:e1002463.

VIEWPOINT



Young people are experts and leaders in the HIV response

Tinashe G Rufurwadzo^{1,§*} (D, Audrey Inarukundo^{2*} (D, Ikka Noviyanti^{3*} (D) and Miguel A Subero^{4*} (D)

^SCorresponding author: Tinashe G Rufurwadzo, Y+ Global/ GNP+, 50 Long Street, Office 106, Cape Town, 8000, South Africa. Tel: +27 21 031 3098. (trufurwadzo@yplusnetwork.org)

*These authors have contributed equally to the work.

Keywords: adolescents; young people; HIV; sexual and reproductive health and rights; peer support; advocacy; leadership

Received 7 June 2020; Accepted 14 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

It is 2020 and there are many examples of how young people are contributing to HIV prevention, treatment, support and care efforts globally. We do this as advocates, researchers, educators and service providers, among other roles.

This has not just happened overnight. We have had to push for meaningful leadership of young people in initiatives that affect our lives. In some contexts, we are still perceived as children who should stay quiet while adults and other experts say and do things for us. However, young people are increasingly taken seriously, as experts of our own lives, with clear ideas of what we are experiencing and need, as well as innovative ideas that respond to those needs.

Different factors have facilitated and supported our leadership, including organizations that believe in us and show it by funding and/or mentoring us, and programmes that enable us to be creative and deliver for our peers and for our communities. Processes and mechanisms placing young people at the table are critical to ensure that energies are spent taking up and making the most of these spaces.

There are a number of roles we play in the HIV response across advocacy, research, peer education and service delivery, using our experiences and skills to push change at community, national, regional and global levels.

1 | YOUNG PEOPLE AS ADVOCATES

We are the most effective advocates for our own health and wellbeing and that of our peers. We know the barriers and solutions to accessing health services. Some of these solutions, such as comprehensive sexuality education, may not be popular in some contexts. However, we push the conversation, even when it is uncomfortable, because it is important that we speak to our realities in order to propel change.

Examples of young people playing an effective role as advocates can be found in the Resilient and Empowered Adolescents and Young people (READY) movement [1], which supports adolescents and young people in our diversity to understand our sexual and reproductive health rights and support our peers in making healthy choices. Most specifically, through the READY + project, and in line with research recommendations [2], networks of young people living with HIV in East and Southern Africa have been successfully advocating within parliamentary committees and technical working groups to lower the age of consent for HIV testing from 18 to 15 years. Elsewhere, READY advocates have brought the voices of young people to international conferences on HIV and to the UN to speak out on barriers to accessing healthcare [3].

2 | YOUNG PEOPLE AS RESEARCHERS

There are a number of studies that research our behaviours and investigate health outcomes of specific interventions. However, we are not only subjects of research. We are also researchers, helping answer complex questions.

For example in 2019 young researchers led a trial to evaluate the effectiveness of the Zvandiri model for HIV-related and psychosocial support services for adolescents living with HIV in rural districts of Zimbabwe [4]. The study found that adolescents receiving Zvandiri services and Ministry of Health and Child Care services were 42% more likely to be virologically suppressed than adolescents receiving Ministry of Health and Child Care services alone. Not only were young researchers involved in the rollout of the trial, they were also involved in taking up and using the findings to coordinate the successful implementation of the Zvandiri model within the intervention clinics at the rural district level.

3 | YOUNG PEOPLE AS EDUCATORS

Since the HIV response began, young people have played a role as peer educators, passing on information to our peers through support groups, after school clubs and other settings. These efforts are ongoing, and the content of education and

way young people educate their peers has evolved. Young people deliver sexuality education on sensitive topics such as same-sex relationships, intergenerational relationships, violence and safe abortion to respond to the real questions and experiences of young people so they can stay healthy and make informed life and health choices [5].

For example Youth LEAD [6], a network of young key populations in Asia and the South Pacific, has a number of programmes that support peer education through 14 youth-led organizations to share information they may have received at school or at home with their peers. This includes information about sexuality and sexual choices and behaviours. Knowledge is power – and that remains the case for young people who, like others, need to stay on top of research and developments, especially those on work towards achieving the sustainable development goals [7] in order to maximize our own health and care for peers.

4 | YOUNG PEOPLE AS SERVICE PROVIDERS

Young people are also no longer only recipients of care. We are active in service provision both within health facilities and through outreach activities [8]. There are innovative collaborations between youth networks and organizations and health facilities to deliver quality care to young people – care that is non-judgemental, competent and directly responds to the needs of young people.

For example the national network of young people living with HIV in Burundi (RNJ+) runs a youth centre which serves adolescents and young people living with HIV and from key populations [9]. The network has a clinic on site where young people both deliver and access HIV prevention, treatment and support services, such as counselling, health talks and HIV testing. The network has also integrated the use of information and communication technology to promote dialogue about sexual and reproductive health rights within the community and drive demand for services among young people.

While it is increasingly recognized that we are experts of our own lives [10], we must continue to push for greater investment in youth-initiated interventions and youth-adult collaborations. We need to inspire transformation at scale so it becomes the norm to expect a youth-led network or organization to be at the centre of large programmes for improving the health and wellbeing of adolescents and young people. The days of being on the side-lines are over. We must be at the centre of these initiatives – and the examples shared show we can deliver if well-resourced and mentored to do so.

Viva young people, viva!

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Global Network of Young People Living with HIV (Y+ Global), Harare, Zimbabwe; ²Réseau National des Jeunes Vivant avec le VIH (RNJ+), Bujumbura, Burundi; ³Youth LEAD Asia Pacific Network of Young Key Populations, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁴Regional Network of Youth living with HIV, Latin America and the Caribbean (J+LAC), México City, Mexico

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the authors have a competing interests.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

TR, AI, IN and SA contributed equally to this viewpoint. Each wrote sections of the initial draft, reviewed all revisions and approved the final version of the manuscript.

AUTHORS' INFORMATION

All authors are young HIV advocates and experts of their own lives. Tinashe G. Rufurwadzo is Communications, Evidence and Influence Advisor at the Global Network of Young People Living with HIV (Y + Global). Audrey Inarunkundo is Executive Director at Réseau National des Jeunes Vivant avec le VIH (RNJ+). Ikka Noviyanti is Advocacy Officer at Youth LEAD Asia Pacific Network of Young Key Populations. Miguel A. Subero is Regional Coordinator at the Regional Network of Youth living with HIV, Latin America and the Caribbean (J + LAC).

ABBREVIATIONS

HIV, human immuno-deficiency virus; ICT, information and communication technology; READY, Resilient Empowered Adolescents and Young People; RNJ+, Réseau National des Jeunes Vivant avec le VIH; SRHR, sexual and reproductive health and rights; UN, United Nations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Lola Abayomi (Frontline AIDS), Georgina Caswell (Global Network of People Living with HIV) and Marissa Vacari (International AIDS Society) facilitated and provided mentorship for the writing group.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Amplify Change; Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands in Maputo; Frontline AIDS; Global Fund to Fight HIV, TB and Malaria; Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+); OMS/OPS Latina; Robert Carr Networks Fund; Tackle Africa; UNAIDS Geneva; UNAIDS Latina; UNESCO; UNFPA/Burundi; UNICEF; and ViiV Healthcare Positive Action.

DISCLAIMER

None declared.

REFERENCES

1. READY Movement. South Africa: Y+ Global [Internet]. 2017. [cited 2020 June 11]. Available from: http://www.yplusnetwork.org/ready-movement/

2. McKinnon B, Vandermorris A. National age-of-consent laws and adolescent HIV testing in sub-Saharan Africa: a propensity-score matched study. Bull World Health Organ. 2019;97(1):42–50.

3. FRONTLINE AIDS. As young people we want you all to recognise our power. Online, United Kingdom: Frontline AIDS; 2018. [cited 2020 May 29]. Available from: https://frontlineaids.org/as-young-people-we-want-you-all-to-recognise-our-power/

4. Mavhu W, Willis N, Mufuka J, Bernays S, Tshuma M, et al. Effect of a differentiated service delivery model on virological failure in adolescents with HIV in Zimbabwe. Lancet Glob Health 2020;8:e264-75. https://doi.org/10/1016/ S2214-109X(19)30526-1

5. UNESCO. UNESCO strategy on education for health and well-being: contributing to the Sustainable Development Goals. 2016. [cited 2020 May 29]. Available from: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000246453

6. Youth LEAD. Bangkok: youth LEAD [Internet]. 2020. [cited 2020 Jun 11]. Available from: https://www.youthleadap.org/

7. Youth LEAD. Key findings report: APFSD youth survey [Internet]. Bangkok: Youth LEAD; 2020. [cited 2020 Jun 11]. Available from: https://www.youthleada p.org/news-updates/key-findings-report-apfsd-youth-survey

 Stackpool-Moore L, et al. Linking sexual and reproductive health and rights and HIV services for young people: the Link Up Project. J Adolesc Health. 2017;60(2):S3–6.

9. Nininahazwe C, Alesi J, Caswell G, Lumumba M, Mellin J, Ndayizeye N-M, et al. Leadership & innovation—listening to and learning from young people in Burundi. J Adolesc Health. 2017;60:S7–9.

10. World Health Organisation. Global research agenda for adolescents living with HIV. Switzerland: World Health Organisation; 2017 [cited 2020 May 29]. Available from: https://www.iasociety.org/Web/WebContent/File/CIPHER_policy_brief_ado_EN.pdf

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Scaling up peer-led community-based differentiated support for adolescents living with HIV: keeping the needs of youth peer supporters in mind to sustain success

Sarah Bernays^{1,2,§} (b), Maureen Tshuma³, Nicola Willis⁴, Kudzanayi Mvududu³, Adrian Chikeya³, Juliet Mufuka³, Frances Cowan^{3,5} (b) and Webster Mavhu^{3,5} (b)

[§]Corresponding author: Sarah Bernays, Edward Ford Building, Fisher Rd, Camperdown, 2006, Australia. Tel: +61 02 9036 7137. (sarah.bernays@sydney.edu.au; sarah.bernays@lshtm.ac.uk)

Abstract

Introduction: Low rates of viral suppression among adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV) indicate that more effective support is urgently required at scale. The provision of peer support has generated considerable enthusiasm because it has the potential to ameliorate the complex social and relational challenges which underpin suboptimal adherence. Little is known about the impact on young peer supporters themselves, which is the focus of this paper.

Methods: We present qualitative findings from the Zvandiri trial investigating the impact of a peer support intervention on the viral load for beneficiaries (ALHIV, aged 13 to 19 years) in Zimbabwe. The Zvandiri peer supporters aged 18 to 24 years, known as community adolescent treatment supporters (CATS), are themselves living with HIV. Individual in-depth interviews were conducted in late 2018 with 17 CATS exploring their experiences of delivering peer support and their own support needs. Interviews were analysed iteratively using thematic analysis.

Results: The CATS reported that being peer supporters improved their own adherence behaviour and contributed to an improved sense of self-worth. The social connections between the CATS were a source of comfort and enabled them to develop skills to manage the challenging aspects of their work. Two substantial challenges were identified. First, their work may reveal their HIV status. Second, managing the emotional labour of this caring work; given how commonly the complexity of the beneficiaries' needs mirrored the circumstances of their own difficult lives. Both challenges were ameliorated by the support the CATS provided to each other and ongoing supervision from the adult mentor. There was variation in whether they felt their roles were appropriately valued through the remuneration they received and within the health system. There was a consensus that their experience meant that they would graduate from being a CATS with transferable skills that could enhance their employability.

Conclusions: Their experiences illustrate the advantages and opportunities of being a CATS. To minimize potential harms, it is vital to ensure that they feel valued in their role, which can be demonstrated by the provision of appropriate remuneration, recognition and respect, and that there is continued investment in ongoing support through ongoing training and mentoring.

Keywords: HIV; adolescents; differentiated service delivery; peer support; community based; health systems

Received 19 January 2020; Accepted 16 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

A tenacious driver of the higher rates of morbidity and mortality amongst adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV) is suboptimal adherence to HIV treatment [1-4] Although the global target is to get 95% of those on treatment to be virally suppressed, combined data from East and Southern African countries show that only 45% of adolescent girls living with HIV are virologically suppressed (vs. the goal of 86% under UNAIDS 95-95-95 targets for 2030) [5]. This makes them more vulnerable to treatment failure.

The provision of one-to-one peer support at scale has generated considerable enthusiasm because it has the potential to ameliorate the complex social and relational challenges that are known to affect adolescents' capability to engage in sustained adherence to HIV treatment [6-9]. Peer support is predicated on the basis that sharing knowledge and experience can provide emotional, social and practical support [10-12]. The similarity in experiences between the adolescent beneficiaries and young peer supporters provide the opportunity for effective support. However, being responsible for helping others experiencing the same problems may also exacerbate the vulnerability of peer supporters.

Community-based peer support models have not proven to be consistently effective for children, adolescents and young people living with HIV [13]. However, the Zvandiri trial, a

cluster-randomized trial which evaluated a theoretically informed peer-led differentiated service delivery intervention on HIV in Zimbabwe [14,15], found 42% lower prevalence of virological failure or death at 96 weeks among participants receiving the Zvandiri intervention than among those solely receiving standard HIV care at rural clinics [16,17]. A detailed explanation of the intervention and trial is outlined in related publications [15,18]. The findings from this trial add to the growing body of evidence to support the scale-up of differentiated service delivery incorporating peer-supporters to support adolescents' antiretroviral treatment (ART) adherence and retention in care. With an emerging investment in peer support programmes [19], there is a clear need to address the knowledge gap that exists about the impact, value and risks of such interventions for the young peer supporters themselves. In this paper, we draw on qualitative research conducted with the peer-supporters, known as Community Adolescent Treatment Supporters (CATS), in the Zvandiri trial to explore their experiences of delivering peer support and to identify their own support needs.

2 | METHODS

2.1 Study setting

The current HIV prevalence among those aged 15 to 49 years old in Zimbabwe is 12.7% [20-22]. The trial was conducted with public clinics in two rural districts (Bindura and Shamva) in Mashonaland Central province, Zimbabwe. The trial communities are characterized by high youth unemployment, a struggling economy, persistent stigma around HIV, faith healing and a stretched healthcare system with weak mental health provision.

2.2 Data collection

We conducted individual in-depth interviews between November and December 2018 with 17 of the 18 CATS, aged 19 to 24 years, who were actively working in the intervention sites (n = 6 female, n = 11 male). The one active CATS not interviewed was temporarily away from the district during the fieldwork period. There were 29 CATS who had been trained but were no longer active in the trial by the time of data collection. After the initial recruitment, a large proportion left in the early stages of the trial as they found the work did not suit them. We outline, using the information available, the reasons that the 29 CATS were no longer working in Table 1.

We explored how the CATS considered that the intervention affected their lives, their experiences of being involved and their support needs. Individual interviews were conducted by one male and two female Zimbabwean researchers (AC, MT and KM) in private spaces in the public clinics and lasted approximately an hour. All the interviews were conducted in Shona, the participants' language.

With the participants' permission, the interviews were audio recorded. The interviewers listenned back to the recordings and wrote up the interviews into detailed interview scripts [23,24]. Iterative data collection and analysis was conducted, in which the team discussed each interview in weekly analytical meetings. This informed the refinement

Table 1. Reasons CATS had left the trial intervention

Reason for attrition	Number of CATS
Relocated	5
Employment	2
Married	3
Pregnancy	1
Lack of engagement (competing	18
priorities, limited time to commit	
to CATS' duties, inadequate commitment)	
Total	29

CATS, Community Adolescent Treatment Supporters

of the topic guides. Our theoretical approach was informed by social constructionism with particular attention paid to relational agency, which is attentive to the restricted agency young people may have and how this is framed by their relationships, but is also fluid and so may be dynamic and transformative [25].

A thematic analytical approach was adopted, which involved SB, MT, AC and KM coding the scripts to develop a coding framework. Excel was used to organize the coding. Themes were developed through data-led analytical memos. Selected extracts were transcribed verbatim and translated for equivalent meaning in English. SB and WM provided analytical training to MT, AC and KM throughout 2018 and 2019.

Ethical approval was granted by the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (#2032) and the ethics committees of the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (London, UK; #11042) and University College London (London, UK; #2358/004). Written informed consent was collected prior to participation. Pseudonyms are used for all participants.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 Feeling valuable: helping them, helps me

3.1.1 Changes in adherence behaviour

In general, the CATS reported that working as a CATS had brought them considerable opportunity and advantage, including improving their capacity to manage their HIV status. Although the remit of the CATS was to support other ALHIV, many of them themselves had been struggling with adhering to treatment: "Prior to being a CATS, I would take them anytime (ARVs). If I wasn't reminded at times I would skip." (Progress, female, aged 20). Many reported that the training and education which they received through the programme had improved their treatment literacy and galvanized their commitment to compliance: "I only got to know about all of this when I became a CATS." (Rudo, female, aged 24).

All of the CATS who had previously struggled with adherence described how the reminder structures they put in place for beneficiaries helped them too: "I send adolescents reminders, so there is no way that I won't also take my medication at seven o'clock." (Geoffrey, male, aged 20); "when you see the impact of those that are not taking their medication on time and think about yourself who is taking on time you realise there is a difference." (Taurai, male, aged 21). These insights encouraged them to comply.

"When I became a CATS and seeing others this gave me strength that even if I wanted to default I should know it's my own life being affected. From then, it has helped me to know that medication should be taken correctly and on time." (Rudo, female, aged 24)

Overall the CATS considered their work fulfilling and were proud that the support they offered had a positive impact. The majority considered that the proximity of their own experiences to those of the beneficiaries enabled them to make a unique contribution, which underpinned why they were so effective:

"This is work that I enjoy as I work with my age-mates. I am able to relate to them well... it may be difficult for adults to understand them." (Lisa, female, aged 20).

Many of them reported that they had developed an increased sense of self-worth, which motivated their investment in their own health. Farai explained the mutual benefit of the peer support that he offered:

"I find myself really happy because of the interaction with the adolescents, giving them support and sharing with them what I have gone through. I am able to motivate them. It is really helping me too because we share problems with the adolescent on what they are going through and what I am going through. We help each other." (Male, aged 22)

3.1.2 | Gaining comfort and strength from the CATS' community

For most CATS their experience of living with HIV prior to engaging with the Zvandiri programme had been defined by solitude. They described having been burdened by anxiety about the anticipated loneliness and limited prospects that would characterize their futures. The CATS had regular and various opportunities to interact with each other through the coordination meetings and reported deriving significant benefits from engaging in a community of young people affected by HIV. Feeling accepted and connected transformed their expectations of what it meant to live with HIV: "I realised that I was letting myself down. This programme gave me confidence to love myself." (Lazarus, male, aged 20).

Sharing their experiences was also instrumental in developing their capacity to deliver their duties as CATS. They consistently emphasized the value of being able to collectively develop support strategies and resolve problems in the regular discussions they had with the other CATS and mentors. "We help each other and sharpen each other intellectually with ideas" (Tapiwa, male, aged 20). Progress reflected a widely held opinion: "I have learnt a lot including that if you face any challenge don't make it your own but share it with others so that you can help each other solve it." (Female, aged 20).

3.2 | Dilemmas in being "seen" as a CATS

The Zvandiri intervention was new to the districts in the trial. So the CATS were a new cohort and had no prior experience of the intervention. The youngest CATS to be recruited at the start of the trial were 18 years old. Many were still in the process of accepting their HIV status. Despite the internal progress made around self-acceptance, they were mindful of prevailing stigmatizing attitudes that persisted within their local communities. Consequently, the majority of CATS concealed the nature of their work from others in the community. As Lazarus explains:

"I don't show them what the job entails, but they try to find out what I do. I am an open person but ... I am not able to do that (to talk about his status in public)." (Male, aged 20).

Public disclosure of one's HIV status is not a requirement of being a CATS. For a significant minority the risk of their role, and consequently their HIV status, being discovered was a source of worry and stress. They described finding this difficult to manage, particularly in the first months of working as a CATS. Although the risk persisted, with support and guidance from other CATS and their mentors, their anxiety tended to ease over time as they became more robust in managing other people's questions. Geoffrey described a common pattern in his reaction to uncomfortable questions from those within the wider community:

"This mainly happened in the first days... At first it pained me and you would really have so many different thoughts... (Fellow) CATS will then say to me 'my friend, I came across this numerous times. They are not people to listen to, what you need to do is just ride your bicycle and go'. I ended up doing that. Now I have a good relationship with them and no one asks me what I am doing." (Male, aged 20).

There were two exceptional cases when individuals had less control over who knew about their status within the community. For one CATS his HIV-positive status had been widely presumed because as a child he had been known as a "sickling." In the second case a healthcare worker had disclosed a CATS' HIV-positive status to other patients at the clinic. Although this has been "a painful experience," it was attributed to a rare act of thoughtlessness by the healthcare worker. In general, the risk of deductive disclosure in which their HIV positive status was revealed by virtue of being eligible to work as a CATS appeared to be low and to be well managed by both the young people, their mentors and others involved.

3.3 \mid Critical support needs to offset risks of being a CATS

Events such as falling sick, struggling with their mental health or problems within their own households were rare, but did at times influence their capacity to fulfil the obligations of the role. In addition, hearing about the shared challenges they faced as young people growing up with HIV, contributed to the CATS' precarious vulnerability. The substantial support offered by the CATS' mentors was a critical factor mediating the emotional burden which accompanied their work. On some occasions this involved the mentors needing to be flexible about an individual CATS' workload.

The Zvandiri mentors, adults with professional experience caring for adolescents living with HIV, provided training, as well as ongoing supervision to the CATS and took on the management of mental health referrals and support in complex cases. The counselling and personal support provided by the mentors played a pivotal role in enabling the CATS to continue to provide support, without being overwhelmed or risk "burn-out." Sarudzai recalled how her mentor "follows up every week to check on me" (female, aged 20), which acted as a safety net to manage the daily stresses that could otherwise disrupt the CATS' adherence and wellbeing. Practically, the mentors also focused on keeping the number of cases that a CATS was responsible for to fewer than ten and equipping them with bicycles so that they could cover the relatively long distances to complete the required number of home visits. These were pivotal management strategies to support the CATS in their work.

In the first few months of their role as CATS, young people had to absorb a lot of information, implement new skills and develop relationships with beneficiaries and caregivers. Concomitantly, having just finished school and entering the employment market, they were by definition very early on in their careers as caring professionals. In common with anyone embarking on a career in a caring profession, the CATS were still learning how to manage the burden of responsibility involved in their role. They praised the mentors and other CATS in supporting them through this early period. For example, the mentors commonly facilitated introductions of CATS to households where caregivers were initially reticent for their child to be engaged in the programme. Over time it became easier, but ongoing support remained critical:

"I say it's easy (CATS work) because you are not left to work with the adolescents by yourself. In most cases I work with others and you are helped if you have any questions... It's the mentor that supports me." (Lisa, female, aged 20)

Without exception the CATS reported feeling a keen sense of responsibility for the health and wellbeing of their beneficiaries. When beneficiaries received high viral load results it was not uncommon for the CATS to feel "hurt," "disappointed" and "worried." Chipo (female, aged 21) explains how in such instances, "I may blame myself and wonder if I am failing to do my work or is it the adolescent who is just not understanding." The impact was even more acute when a beneficiary died.

In general, the opportunity to engage the mentor when they were struggling and stressed was pivotal to CATS being able to manage the related stresses of complex cases. Part of this involved acknowledging that some of the problems that beneficiaries encountered were likely to be beyond the remit of what the CATS could be expected to influence. Managing their expectations was key: not all of the problems could be resolved, but with the intervention's support they might be ameliorated. "She was able to help with advice... well she was able to help to a certain level which made the situation lighter though this didn't completely solve the problem." (Chipo, female, aged 21).

Despite the pressures, the CATS were generally very positive about the consistency of the support that they received. There were only a few instances when the provision of support was considered to have been late or insufficient. The negative reactions of CATS when support was considered inadequate, although rare, further reinforces the importance of timely, responsive and proactive support to mitigate the risks of being a CATS.

3.4 Being valued: the role of remuneration and recognition

3.4.1 | Competing commitments: working in my household and working doing home visits

The CATS considered themselves to be both valuable and valued in their roles. The stipend they received for their work was welcomed by most of the CATS. Those who could generally spend it on their own needs consistently described it as helpful: "I have been able to do certain things like I managed to take my class four (driver's licence) as well as to make a part payment for a course (operating earth moving equipment)." (Tanatswa, male, aged 20). However, many CATS had additional responsibilities and needed income to support their dependents and they were more likely to describe the remuneration as insufficient. Some had contemplated quitting to take up work with better pay.

The relatively "low" remuneration (US\$20 a month) paid to the CATS created challenges in how their role was perceived within their own households, as well as within the clinics. For a minority, their limited earning was a source of household tension. The remuneration was considered inadequate to justify the time spent away from household chores.

"At home I was not being treated well ... they were giving me a hard time. They would always say 'you are running away from doing chores, the money you are getting is peanuts. How can you work for only twenty dollars (US\$)?"" (Tinashe, male, aged 23).

The competing demands of contributing to their household and fulfilling their duties as a CATS was most apparent during farming seasons when the CATS often had to stay at home to work in the gardens: "I will be preoccupied with other household chores ... as I will be at home some of the time because I am the head of the house." (James, male, aged 22).

3.4.2 | Recognition of skills to support transitioning on

In the first few months of the intervention, healthcare workers reportedly expressed some ambivalence about the contribution that the CATS could make. However, over time most of the CATS described feeling recognized and valued within the clinics where they worked. "They (healthcare workers) say 'you are clever, you are doing your work well' ... I start to feel elated and I know that it is really working well." (Chipo, female, aged 20). The vast majority of the CATS articulated their hopes that the CATS' role would be formally recognized within the health system.

Being a CATS is a time limited role, with young people unable to continue once they are 25 years old. Many were hoping that they would go on to be employed by the Zvandiri programme but recognized that this was a narrow option only available to a few. In general, the transferable skills they gained through their training and professional experience increased their employability. There were some challenges in describing their work experience because without a generic qualification, having to describe the precise nature of their role risked deductive disclosure. In some cases, CATS transitioned to taking on other roles in the clinics or benefitting directly from sponsorship opportunities:

"I collected my school results (ordinary level) recently. There are subjects I am supposed to rewrite. The nurse from this clinic has offered to pay my examination fee to supplement these subjects that I want to write. So for me, there are many opportunities." (Farai, male, aged 22)

4 | DISCUSSION

Increasing attention is now being paid to community-based peer-support programmes as a mechanism to improve clinical outcomes and wellbeing [19-21]. While the predominate focus of research on peer support for ALHIV has focused on the potential benefits to those receiving peer support [26], this study demonstrates that peer supporters themselves also benefit through improved adherence behaviours and self-confidence. But it was characterized as emotionally and at times physically gruelling work, resonating with existing research on other peer support programmes [19,27]. These findings illuminate the specific challenges and needs that might arise for young peer supporters providing HIV support in resourcestretched settings. Despite the celebration of the effects of peer support, the discursive emphasis on the "adolescent" and/or "youth" characteristic of the CATS may act as a glass ceiling, inadvertently justifying not adequately valuing the contribution that they make in their title or in their pay.

There needs to be a formalized recognition of their contribution within the health system. There is currently some tension in how they are seen. This could be overcome if they were described as paid lay counsellors, rather than volunteers who receive a stipend. The CATS are not acting in a peer educator or navigator role but operating as skilled peer counsellors. Equivalent adult cadres, ordinarily working in the role of primary counsellors, are remunerated more than they are; CATS currently receive marginally more than village health workers [28]. While the CATS entry qualifications may be less and their initial training shorter than the standard six-month duration for primary counsellors, the CATS as young adults receive training and supervision through the work that they are doing. To accelerate their integration, more emphasis needs to be placed on the initial preparatory work with healthcare workers in the clinic and caregivers within the households to assuage initial resistance. Given that many CATS described the resistance they encountered as dispiriting, this may be an opportunity to mitigate early attrition.

If there were more formal recognition of CATS as primary lay counsellors, for example where they graduated with a certified accreditation, this would also support their ability to demonstrate their impressive skillset once they transition on from being a CATS. This would avoid the current deductive disclosure risks that accompany explaining their prior role as a CATS. Instead, it would equip them with neutral language to describe the skillset and experience that they have gained, enabling them to leverage the employment opportunities that their experience warrants; a need recognized but rarely actioned in HIV youth activities more generally [29].

Although many of the CATS' support needs relate to their age and shared HIV experiences, they also reflect those that would be required by anyone, regardless of age or HIV status, on their initiation into a professional caring role. To support the implementation of the intervention at scale, continuing to budget for intensive mentor support for new cohorts of CATS and investing in it as an integral principle of youth peer support is vital [26]. This would ensure that there is adequate support to ameliorate the cluster of challenges relating to stakeholder resistance, concerns around the occupational risks of deductive disclosure and related stigma [30,31] and under-appreciating the value of peer-supporters, which can occur upon initial roll out of the intervention within communities. The findings demonstrate the supportive value that the CATS gain from each other, in common with various manifestations of peer support [32]. but also illustrate that this can be further reinforced by the opportunities to mentor and be mentored through the provision of ongoing training and coordination meetings with peers [17].

A strength of this study was attending to the experiences of those providing peer support, making a valuable contribution to the emerging evidence-base that has generally focused narrowly on the recipients. However, by not interviewing those who had already left the programme, the results may be biased towards those with more positive experiences as peer supporters. Further research with those who work only briefly as peer supporters is required to understand the factors shaping attrition. However, a pertinent distinction should be drawn between peer supporters affected by attrition, who stop due to the effects of inadequate pay, support or poor health and transition, when individuals move onto other opportunities reflecting their successful growth in navigating considered decisions about becoming parents or seeking more sustainable employment opportunities. From the available information among the 29 inactive CATS, the latter was more common. Without further research there is a risk that attrition rates may be over-estimated. Peer supporters who move on before they exceed the age threshold may not represent an intervention failing, but instead indicate successful "graduation".

5 | CONCLUSIONS

The experiences of the CATS demonstrate the considerable personal value that they gain from their work. To be able to maximize the benefits and minimize potential occupation harms over time, ongoing intensive and age-appropriate training and mentoring, as well as the establishment and maintenance of systems and remuneration which values the peer support role that CATS play, are integral to the success of peer support.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Global Health and Development, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ²School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia; ³Centre for Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Research (CeSHHAR), Harare, Zimbabwe; ⁴Africaid, Harare, Zimbabwe; ⁵Department of International Public Health, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Liverpool, United Kingdom

COMPETING INTERESTS

Authors declare no competing interests.

AUTHORS'S CONTRIBUTIONS

SB was the lead social scientist, designing the process evaluation study with WM and FC which forms the basis of the data presented in this manuscript. MT, KM and AC collected the data with the support of SB, WM, NW and JM. All authors contributed to the overview of data collection and preliminary analysis for this paper through focused team discussions. SB, MT, KM, AC and WM conducted the data analysis. SB developed the manuscript with support from WM, MT, KM and AC. All authors read, reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research reported in this publication was funded by ViiV Healthcare's Positive Action for Adolescents Programme. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of ViiV Healthcare. We thank study respondents, without whom this study would not have been possible.

REFERENCES

1. Ferrand RA, Simms V, Dauya E, Bandason T, McHugh G, Mujuru H, et al. The effect of community-based support for caregivers on the risk of virological failure in children and adolescents with HIV in Harare, Zimbabwe (ZENITH): an open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2017;1 (3):175–83.

2. WHO. Health for the World's Adolescents: a second chance in the second decade. Geneva: WHO. 2014.

3. Boerma RS, Boender TS, Bussink AP, Calis JC, Bertagnolio S, Rinke de Wit TF, et al. Suboptimal viral suppression rates among HIV-infected children in lowand middle-income countries: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63 (12):1645–54.

4. Enane LA, Vreeman RC, Foster C. Retention and adherence: global challenges for the long-term care of adolescents and young adults living with HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2018;13(3):212–9.

5. Brown K, Williams DB, Kinchen S, Saito S, Radin E, Patel H, et al. Status of HIV epidemic control among adolescent girls and young women aged 15–24 years - seven African Countries, 2015–2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018;67(1):29–32.

6. Bernays S, Paparini S, Gibb D, Seeley J. When information does not suffice: young people living with HIV and communication about ART adherence in the clinic. Vulnerable Child Youth Stud. 2016;11(1):60–8.

7. Bernays S, Paparini S, Seeley J, Rhodes T. "Not Taking it Will Just be Like a Sin": young people living with HIV and the stigmatization of less-than-perfect adherence to antiretroviral therapy. Med Anthropol. **2017**;36(5):485–99.

8. Ammon N, Mason S, Corkery JM. Factors impacting antiretroviral therapy adherence among human immunodeficiency virus-positive adolescents in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. Public Health. 2018;157:20–31.

9. Arnold EM, Swendeman D, Harris D, Fournier J, Kozina L, Abdalian S, et al. The stepped care intervention to suppress viral load in youth living with HIV: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc. 2019;8:e10791.

10. Boothroyd R, Fisher E. Peers for progress: promoting peer support for health around the world. Fam Pract. 2009;27:i62–8.

11. Fisher EB, Boothroyd RI, Elstad EA, Hays L, Henes A, Maslow GR, et al. Peer support of complex health behaviors in prevention and disease management with special reference to diabetes: systematic reviews. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;3(1):4.

12. Solomon P. Peer support/peer provided services: underlying processes, benefits, and critical ingredients. Pyschiatr Rehabil J. 2004;27:392–401.

13. Mark D, Armstrong A, Andrade C, Penazzato M, Hatane L, Taing L, et al. HIV treatment and care services for adolescents: a situational analysis of 218 facilities in 23 sub-Saharan African countries. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21591.

14. WHO. HIV and adolescents: guidance for HIV testing and counselling and care for adolescents living with HIV: recommendations for a public health approach and considerations for policy-makers and managers. Geneva: WHO. 2013.

15. Willis N, Napei T, Armstrong A, Jackson H, Apollo T, Mushavi A, et al. Zvandiri-bringing a differentiated service delivery program to scale for children, adolescents, and young people in Zimbabwe. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;78 Suppl 2:S115–23.

16. Mavhu W, Willis N, Mufuka J, Bernays S, Tshuma M, Mangenah C, et al. Effect of a differentiated service delivery model on virological failure in adolescents with HIV in Zimbabwe (Zvandiri): a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet Global Health. 2020;8(2):e264–75.

17. Grimsrud AT, Pike C, Bekker LG. The power of peers and community in the continuum of HIV care. Lancet Global Health. 2020;8(2):e167–8.

18. Mavhu W, Willis N, Mufuka J, Mangenah C, Mvududu K, Bernays S, et al. Evaluating a multi-component, community-based program to improve adherence and retention in care among adolescents living with HIV in Zimbabwe: study protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2017;18(1):478.

 WHO. Adolescent friendly health services for adolescents living with HIV: from theory to practice. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2019.
Mark D, Bloch K, Cluver L, Toska E, Ronan A, Gittings L, et al. The power of peers: multi-country analysis of adolescent viral suppression in sub-Saharan Africa. International AIDS Conference; Amsterdam; 2018.

21. PEPFAR. PEPFAR Solutions Database. Operation Triple Zero: empowering adolescents and young people living with HIV to take control of their health in Kenya. 2018.

22. UNAIDS.Zimbabwe country factsheet [Internet]. [cited 2019 Dec 06]. UNAIDS. 2018. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/zimbabwe

23. LeCompte MD, Schensul JJ. Designing & conducting ethnographic research. Lanham, MD and Oxford: Rowman Altamira Press; 1999.

24. Schensul SL, Schensul JJ, LeCompte MD. Essential ethnographic methods: observations, interviews, and questionnaires. Lanham, MD and Oxford: Rowman Altamira Press; 1999.

25. Bernays S, Bukenya D, Thompson C, Ssembajja F, Seeley J. Being an 'adolescent': the consequences of gendered risks for young people in rural Uganda. Childhood. 2018;25(1):19–33.

26. Mark D, Hrapcak S, Ameyan W, Lovich R, Ronan A, Schmitz K, et al. Peer support for adolescents and young people living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa: emerging insights and a methodological agenda. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2019;16 (6):467–4.

27. Burke EM, Pyle M, Machin K, Morrison AP. Providing mental health peer support 2: Relationships with empowerment, hope, recovery, quality of life and internalised stigma. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 2018;64(8):745–55.

28. Perry H, Crigler L, Case SH.Studies of large-scale community health worker programs was derived from the developing and strengthening community health worker programs at scale: a reference guide and case studies for program managers and policymakers. 2017. [cited 2019 Dec 07]. Available from: https:// www.chwcentral.org/blog/zimbabwe%E2%80%99s-village-health-worker-program 29. Oliveras C, Cluver L, Bernays S, Armstrong A. Nothing about us without RIGHTS—meaningful engagement of children and youth: from research prioritization to clinical trials, implementation science, and policy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;78:S27–31.

30. Busza J, Simms V, Dziva Chikwari C, Dauya E, Bandason T, Makamba M, et al. "It is not possible to go inside and have a discussion": how fear of stigma affects delivery of community-based support for children's HIV care. AIDS Care. 2018;30(7):903–9.

31. Mburu G, Ram M, Oxenham D, Haamujompa C. lorpenda KF, L. Responding to adolescents living with HIV in Zambia: a social–ecological approach. Child Youth Serv Rev. 2014;45:9–17.

32. Reif LK, Rivera VR, Bertrand R, Belizaire ME, Joseph JMB, Louis B, et al. "FANMI": a promising differentiated model of HIV Care for Adolescents in Haiti. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2019;82(1):e11–3.

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Youth-friendly services and a mobile phone application to promote adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis among adolescent men who have sex with men and transgender women at-risk for HIV in Thailand: a randomized control trial

Wipaporn Natalie Songtaweesin^{1,§} (D), Surinda Kawichai¹, Nittaya Phanuphak² (D), Tim R Cressey^{3,4,5}, Prissana Wongharn¹, Chutima Saisaengjan¹, Tanat Chinbunchorn², Surang Janyam⁶, Danai Linjongrat⁷, Thanyawee Puthanakit^{1,8} (D) and on behalf of the CE-PID – TRC Adolescent Study Team

^SCorresponding author: Wipaporn Natalie Songtaweesin, 9th Floor Sor Kor Building, King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, 1873 Rama 4 Rd, Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand. Tel: +662 256 4930. (wipaporn.n@chula.ac.th)

ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03778892.

Abstract

Introduction: Strategies are needed to curb the increasing HIV incidence in young men who have sex with men (YMSM) and transgender women (YTGW) worldwide. We assessed the impact of youth-friendly services (YFS) and a mobile phone application (app) on adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in YMSM and YTGW in Thailand.

Methods: A randomized control trial was conducted in YMSM and YTGW aged 15 to 19 years. Participants were provided daily oral tenofovir disoproxil fumerate/emtricitabine (TDF/FTC), condoms and randomized to receive either YFS or YFS plus a PrEP app (YFS + APP), whose features included self-assessment of HIV acquisition risk, point rewards and reminders for PrEP and clinic appointments. Clinic visits occurred at zero, one, three and six months and telephone contact at two, four and five months. HIV testing was performed at every clinic visit. PrEP adherence was evaluated with intracellular tenofovir diphosphate (TFV-DP) concentrations in dried blood spot (DBS) samples at months 3 and 6. The primary endpoint assessed was "PrEP adherence" defined as TFV-DP DBS concentrations \geq 700 fmol/punch (equivalent to \geq 4 doses of TDF/week).

Results: Between March 2018 and June 2019, 489 adolescents were screened at three centres in Bangkok. Twenty-seven (6%) adolescents tested positive for HIV and 200 (41%) adolescents participated in the study. Of these, 147 were YMSM (74%) and 53 YTGW (26%). At baseline, median age was 18 years (IQR 17 to 19), 66% reported inconsistent condom use in the past month. Sexually transmitted infection prevalence was 23%. Retention at six months was 73%. In the YFS + APP arm, median app use duration was three months (IQR 1 to 5). PrEP adherence at month 3 was 51% in YFS and 54% in YFS + APP (*p*-value 0.64) and at month 6 was 44% in YFS and 49% in YFS + APP (*p*-value 0.54). No HIV seroconversions occurred during 78 person years of follow-up.

Conclusions: Youth-friendly PrEP services enabled good adherence among half of adolescent PrEP users. However, the mobile phone application tested did not provide additional PrEP adherence benefit in this randomized trial. Adolescent risk behaviours are dynamic and require adaptive programmes that focus on "prevention-effective adherence."

Keywords: adolescents; HIV prevention; pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) adherence; men who have sex with men (MSM); transgender women (TGW)

Received 20 January 2020; Accepted 10 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Adolescents and young men who have sex with men (YMSM) and young transgender women (YTGW) bear disproportionate burdens of HIV globally [1-4]. In Thailand, the HIV incidence among YMSM/YTGW has been consistently high, reported at 4 to 11 per 100 person years [3-7], similar to the United States where an estimated 14% of TGW are living with HIV

(US CDC 2019) and over a third of all new HIV infections are in YMSM [8,9]. The Thai epidemic among YMSM and YTGW is perpetuated by low rates of HIV test uptake, poor HIV knowledge and rates of condom use below 50% [10,11]. To achieve the ending of AIDS, comprehensive HIV prevention packages must be delivered to this key population [12]. Preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) awareness in Thailand is low, reflected in national figures from December 2018, where only an estimated 4% of PrEP-eligible YMSM and YTGW in Thailand received it, with one-quarter and one-third, respectively, accessing PrEP in Bangkok [13,14]. Only 2% of all PrEP prescribed in 2017 were to under 20s despite this age group having the highest national HIV incidence of 10 per 100 person years [13].

YMSM and YTGW at risk of HIV face a multitude of barriers in accessing and adhering to PrEP, including financial, third party consent laws, low perceived HIV risk, gender-based stigma and discrimination and lack of services that address their psychosocial needs [15-19]. Research studies from the United States emphasize the importance of regular contact to ensure good PrEP adherence in adolescents, with adherence dropping to less than half of PrEP users after monthly visits are extended to quarterly visits [20,21].

Thai YMSM and YTGW face considerable issues with low PrEP uptake and adherence. Among the 2,986 Thai adolescents and young adults aged 15 to 24 years who received counselling about PrEP between 2016 and 2020, only 24% accepted PrEP [22]. Among the 714 who have cumulatively initiated PrEP nationwide, only 22% continue to take PrEP since 2016 [22]. These uptake and retention challenges are similar to those seen with previous adolescent trials network (ATN) studies in adolescents aged 15 to 19 years, with PrEP discontinuation during ongoing HIV acquisition risk more likely (0.82 per 10-year increase in age) in younger individuals [23,24].

Mobile health (mHealth) technologies can facilitate task-shifting by utilizing its automation, widen availability, non-reliance on infrastructure development and ability to deliver personalized care [25]. As the information-motivation-behavioural (IMB) skills model has been validated and used previously for various HIV reduction interventions, it was utilized in this study to support engagement of adolescents in increasing self-risk awareness and consequently motivate behavioural risk reduction through *tailored information*: feedback of a calculated self-HIV risk level based on information of weekly risk behaviours, and *motivation*: point accumulation for mobile application use [26-28]. The goal of this study was to investigate whether use of a mobile phone application (app) in conjunction with youthfriendly services would improve PrEP adherence in YMSM and YTGW in Thailand.

2 | METHODS

2.1 Study design and participants

This study was a prospective randomized controlled trial among young adolescents at risk of HIV acquisition in Bangkok, Thailand. Enrolment criteria included: (1) being YMSM or YTGW (assigned male sex at birth, self-reported sex with men, self-defined gender identity of being MSM or TGW for any period of time); (2) 15 to 19 years old; (3) self-reported risk behaviours, including inconsistent condom use; (4) being HIV negative. Participants could be new, previous or ongoing PrEP users, and were screened and recruited into the study at voluntary HIV testing centres at the Thai Red Cross AIDS Research Centre (TRCARC) and its community-based organization (CBO) branches, Rainbow Sky Association Thailand (RSAT) and Service Workers in Group Foundation (SWING), all located in Bangkok, Thailand via counsellors, online advertising, peer recruiters and word of mouth. Institutional Review Board approval was granted by the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University with a waiver for parental consent granted. This study was registered with ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03778892.

2.2 Study procedures

Participants were randomized (1:1) to receive youth friendly services (YFS) or YFS plus use of a PrEP adherence supporting mobile phone app (YFS + APP). Clinic visits occurred at months 0, 1, 3, 6 and telephone contact was made at months 2, 4 and 5. All participants were provided PrEP counselling, condoms and lubricants and daily oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) 300mg and emtricitabine (FTC) 200mg fixed-dose combination tablets; TenoEm (Thai Government Pharmaceutical Organization), Tenof-Em (Hetero Healthcare) or Ricovir-EM (Mylan). Sexually transmitted infection (STI) screening (*Neisseria gonorrhea, Chlamydia trachomatis*) was performed on urine and anal swab samples and syphilis on blood samples at baseline and month 6 [29]. Surveys on sexual risk behaviours and perception were administered at baseline and monthly thereafter.

2.3 | Youth-friendly services only arm

YFS provided included ongoing counselling or support provided outside scheduled visits through online instant messaging or telephone calls with responses provided within 24 hours. Trained counsellors provided motivational interviewing focusing on risk reduction and adolescent self-empowerment through collaborative, non-judgemental discussions and positive reinforcement throughout the study [30,31]. Visits focused on building a fun and friendly atmosphere to build rapport with participants. Clinics were available out-of-office hours. Topics covered in counselling sessions were tailored to individual needs and included educational issues, lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (LGBT) stigma and discrimination, mental health and substance abuse issues, with specialist referrals where necessary. All clients had access to transgender counselling and gender-affirming related blood testing, and hormonal therapy.

2.4 | Youth-friendly services plus mobile phone application arm

In addition to YFS, the YFS + APP arm received an app for use, named "Project Raincoat" produced by Focal Intelligence Co., Ltd., which was designed based on use of the IMB skills model, specifically with information tailored to promote PrEP adherence and reduction of risk behaviours [26,28]. We conducted two adolescent YTGW and YMSM focus group discussions (FGDs) to inform design of the app. Focus groups of participants aged 15 to 19 years were conducted using a semi-structured interview guide with topics on desirable app functions, aesthetic designs and potential barriers and motivators for use. Key themes and subthemes were identified from a content analysis and utilized in informing app design, which included features supporting self-risk evaluation where users could input data once weekly on number of sex acts, sex partners, pills taken and condom use which was then used to calculate a feedback HIV risk of low, medium, high and very high risk. Points were rewarded in real time for data input

(maximum reward of 21 points per week) as well as responding to staff follow-up calls (5 points each), attendance of clinic visits (10 points each) and negative anti-HIV test results (50 points each). Points were exchangeable for cash, 100 points being exchangeable for 100 Thai Baht (3 USD). Users were able to customize self-reminders for medication and appointment reminders. Due to budgetary restraints the app was available on the Android operating system (OS) only and those using other OSs were loaned Android OS mobile phones.

2.5 | Data collection process

Behavioural surveys were completed by participants on paper forms at clinic visits. During scheduled telephone follow-up sessions, these were administered by staff. Participants completed monthly surveys asking about numbers of sexual partners, numbers of sex acts, condom use, numbers of PrEP pills taken each week and self-perceived HIV risk level. Self-perceived risk was determined by asking participants "in the last month, how would you rate your own risk of getting HIV?". Participants were able to select 1 from the 4 following possible responses; "low risk," "moderate risk," "high risk" and "extremely high risk." PrEP adherence was evaluated using tenofovir-diphosphate (TFV-DP) concentrations in dried blood spot (DBS) samples at months 3 and 6; with \geq 700 fmol/punch equivalent to \geq 4 TDF doses/week. App paradata including first and last entry into the app were collected [32].

2.6 Laboratory assays

HIV antibody testing was performed using a chemiluminescent immunoassay (Architect HIV Ag/Ab Combo Reagent, Abbott Laboratories, Wiesbaden, Germany or Cobas HIV Combi Principle CMIA, 4^{th} Generation). HIV testing at CBOs was performed using a rapid strip test (Alere Determine HIV-1/2, Alere International Limited, Ballybrit Galway, Ireland). STI screening was performed on urine and anal swab specimens for Neisseria gonorrhea (NG) and Chlamvdia trachomatis (CT) with nucleic acid amplification (NAAT) testing using in vitro polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays (Abbott RealTime CT/ NG, Abbott Molecular, Inc., IL, USA). Syphilis testing at the TRCAC was performed using the electrochemiluminescence immunoassay analyser (ECLIA) and chemiluminescent magnetic microparticle immunoassay (CMIA). Syphilis testing at CBOs was performed using a solid phase immunochromatographic assay for the qualitative detection of antibodies of all isotypes (IgG, IgM, IgA) against Treponema pallidum (SD BIO-LINE Syphilis 3.0, Standard Diagnostics, Inc., Kyunggi-do, Korea). TFV-DP concentrations were measured from dried blood spot (DBS) samples collected onto Whatman Protein Saver 903 cards. Dried blood spots were stored at -70°C until analysis. TFV-DP was analysed using liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). The TFV-DP calibration curve range was 200 to 10,000 fmol/3mm punch [33,34].

2.7 | Sample size estimation

Estimating from results of previous adolescent PrEP trials, presuming that 45% of those in the YFS arm and 65% of those in the YFS + APP would have TFV-DP levels \geq 700 fmol/punch with a power of test of >80% and presumed

20% loss of cases to follow-up, a sample size of 100 for each arm was calculated, equating to a total of 200 participants needed for the trial [21,35].

2.8 Statistical analysis

Primary outcome was PrEP adherence as measured via TFV-DP at months 3 and 6 follow-up. PrEP adherence was defined as those who had TFV-DP levels of \geq 700 fmol/punch [36]. Secondary outcomes included rates of HIV infection, rates of study retention at month 6, associated factors with PrEP adherence and overall HIV acquisition risk protection (combined period with PrEP adherence or 100% consistent condom use).

Consistent condom use was defined as 100% condom use during all episodes of sexual intercourse. Substance use was defined as substances taken recreationally, including alcohol, sildenafil citrate, poppers and other illicit drugs (including amphetamine, ketamine and marijuana). Loss to follow-up was defined as no attendance for clinic visits or response to scheduled telephone calls for at least two consecutive months.

Associations of PrEP adherence with factors at enrolment was examined using univariable and multivariable logistic regression models. Associations were presented using odds ratios and 95% CI with *p*-values calculated utilizing the Z-test (Wald test). Factors where an association of p < 0.1 in univariable analysis were selected for further multivariable analysis.

Age analysis was divided into 15 to 17 to represent "adolescence" and 18 to 19 to represent "young adulthood" [37]. To assess level of HIV protection from either PrEP adherence and/or 100% condom use, behavioural risk data were summarized into three-month blocks of risk periods prior to TFV-DP collection. Stata/SE 13.0 was used for all data analyses.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 Characteristics at baseline and month 6

Between March 2018 and June 2019, 489 adolescents were screened, 27 (6%) tested positive for HIV and 200 (41%) enrolled to the study. There were 147 were YMSM (74%) and 53 YTGW (26%). Baseline characteristics between the YFS and YFS + APP arms were similar (Table 1). Median (IQR) age was 18 years (17-19) at enrolment. Median (IQR) age of sexual debut was 16 (15-17) years. Of those sexually active within the past month, 34% reported consistent condom use. Laboratory diagnosed STI prevalence at enrolment was 23%. Thirteen percent of participants overall reported substance use in the last three months. Self-reported substance use included alcohol (6%), amphetamines or methamphetamines (4%), ketamine (0.5%), poppers (volatile alkyl nitrites) (5%), marijuana (2%) and sildenafil citrate (4%).

An overall six-month retention rate of 73% was observed at six-month follow-up, 72% in the YFS arm and 73% in the YFS + APP arm (p = 0.87). No characteristics were found to be associated with month 6 retention (Table 2). Consistent condom use in the past month among sexually active adolescents increased from 34% (95% Cl, 25 to 43) at baseline to 58% (95% Cl, 49 to 68) at month 3 (p < 0.001) and remained a similar level at month 6 (52%; 95% Cl, 41 to

	Overall, n = 200 (%)	YFS, n = 100	YFS + APP, n = 100
Gender identity			
MSM	147 (74%)	71 (71%)	76 (76%)
TGW	53 (26%)	29 (29%)	24 (24%)
Age at enrolment median (IQR)	18 (17, 19)	18 (17, 19)	18 (17,19)
15 to 17 years	63 (32%)	32 (32%)	31 (31%)
18 to 19 years	137 (68%)	68 (68%)	69 (69%)
Age sexual debut (years)	16 (15, 17)	16 (15, 17)	16 (15, 17)
Sexually transmitted infections ^a	45 (23%)	19 (19%)	26 (26%)
No. of sex partners in the past month			
0	57 (29%)	29 (29%)	28 (28%)
1	87 (44%)	41 (41%)	46 (46%)
≥2	56 (28%)	30 (30%)	26 (26%)
Condom use in the past month in sexually act	tive (N = 143)		
Inconsistent	94 (66%)	46 (65%)	48 (67%)
Consistent	49 (34%)	25 (35%)	24 (33%)
Substance use in the past 3 months ^b	26 (13%)	8* (8%)	18* (18%)
Self-perceived risk (N = 197)			
Low risk	121 (61%)	62 (63%)	59 (60%)
Moderate risk	66 (34%)	29 (30%)	37 (37%)
High- extremely high risk	10 (5%)	7 (7%)	3 (3%)

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of adolescents taking once daily HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis

Consistent condom use = 100% condom use. MSM, men who have sex with men; TGW, transgender women; YFS, youth-friendly services; YFS + APP, youth-friendly services plus pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence motivation mobile phone application use.

³Sexually transmitted infections were laboratory confirmed and included syphilis, *Neisseria gonorrhoea* and *Chlamydia trachomatis*, the latter 2 from anal swabs and urine samples.

⁵Substance use included alcohol, amphetamines, methamphetamines, ketamine, poppers (volatile alkyl nitrates), marijuana and sildenafil citrate p < 0.05 with Pearson's chi-squared test.

62). No evidence of reduced condom use was seen with good PrEP adherence (Table 3). STI incidence was 25.2 per 100 patient years during the study. In the 78 person-years of follow-up, there were no incidence cases of HIV seroconversion.

3.2 Mobile application use

Of the 100 participants assigned to use the app, 62% had their own phone and the remaining 38% were loaned phones. Eighty-seven percent of participants used the app more than once and median duration of app use was three months (IQR 1 to 5). Approximately 75% of participants completed self-risk assessments in the first two weeks, dropping to 50% in six weeks and 25% by week 12. For point rewards, 60% of adolescents earned 100 to 199 points in the app, with a median of 120 points earned (IQR 60 to 205). One third (32%) redeemed their cash rewards at their month 3 visit and the remaining at their month 6 closing visit.

3.3 | Assessment of TDF adherence using TFV-DP DBS concentrations

A total of 294 TFV-DP samples were collected from 164 participants, 155 at month 3 and 139 at month 6. An additional seven timepoints (5 clients at month 3 and 2 clients at month 6) were added in the analysis as undetectable TFV-DP levels, where blood samples were not taken due to self-reporting of no PrEP use in the preceding month. A total of 301 risk periods were therefore analysed. PrEP adherence by TFV-DP level was 52% (95% CI 45 to 60) at month 3 and 48% (95% CI 39 to 55) at month 6. PrEP adherence at month 3 was 51% in the YFS arm and 54% in the YFS + APP arm (p = 0.64) and at month 6 was 44% in the YFS arm and 49% in the YFS + APP arm (p = 0.54) (Figure 1).

3.4 Associated factors with PrEP adherence

Variables with significant association (p < 0.1) in univariable analysis to PrEP adherence were included in a further multivariable analysis, which included: gender identity, age, number of sex partners, self-perceived risk for HIV infection and study arm. Education was not included due to its collinearity with age. Multivariable analysis showed only gender identity remained significantly associated with PrEP adherence at month 3, with YMSM being associated with greater odds of PrEP adherence compared to YTGW (OR 3.1, 95% CI 1.3 to 7.6, p < 0.01), but not at month 6 (OR = 2.4, 95% CI 1.0 to 6.2, p = 0.06) (Table 4).

3.5 Overall HIV acquisition risk protection

A total of 296 risk period blocks for analysis were available (145 in YFS, 151 in YFS + APP, 5 of 301 available TFV levels

Table 2.	Characteristics	associated	with	retention ^a	at 6 months
----------	-----------------	------------	------	------------------------	-------------

Characteristics	No	Retention (%)	Unadjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	Wald test p-value
Gender identity				
MSM	147	109 (74.2)	1.35 (0.68, 2.69)	0.39
TGW	53	36 (67.9)	1	
Age at enrolment (years)				
15 to 17	63	44 (69.8)	1	
18 to 19	137	101 (73.7)	1.21 (0.63, 2.34)	0.57
Education				
≤Junior high school	87	65 (74.7)	1	
≥Senior high school	113	80 (70.8)	0.82 (0.44, 1.54)	0.54
Number of sex partners in last month				
0	57	43 (75.4)	1	
1	87	63 (72.4)	0.85 (0.04, 1.84)	0.69
≥2	56	39 (69.6)	0.75 (0.33, 1.71)	0.49
Condom use in last month among sexually a	ctive (N = 143	3)		
100% condom use	49	34 (69.4)	1	
Inconsistent condom use	94	68 (72.3)	1.15 (0.54, 2.46)	0.71
Substance use in last three months ^b				
No	174	122 (70.1)	1	0.06
Yes	26	23 (88.5)	3.27 (0.94, 11.36)	
Self-perceived risk (N = 197)				
Felt at low risk	121	92 (76.0)	1	
Felt at moderate-extremely high risk	76	53 (69.7)	0.72 (0.38, 1.38)	0.33
Intervention arm				
YFS	100	72 (72.0)	1	
YFS + APP	100	73 (73.0)	1.05 (0.56, 1.96)	0.87

MSM, men who have sex with men; TGW, transgender women; YFS, youth-friendly services; YFS + APP, youth-friendly services and mobile phone application.

^aRetention defined as engagement with PrEP prevention services throughout six-month study period with no more than 1 period of disengagement for no longer than 2 consecutive months. PrEP, pre-exposure prophylaxis

^bSubstance use defined as alcohol, amphetamines, methamphetamines, ketamine, poppers (volatile alkyl nitrates), marijuana and sildenafil citrate.

had risk data missing so were excluded from this part of the analysis). In addition to the 51% of risk periods protected from HIV with PrEP, an additional 18% of risk periods were protected with self-reported consistent condom use, achieving a presumed total of 69% protection against HIV (Figure 2). Of the 67 % of risk periods with inconsistent condom use reported, 54% of these were protected with PrEP.

4 | DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study in the Asia Pacific region that provides insights of youth-friendly PrEP service implementation in YMSM and YTGW aged 15 to 19 years with an innovative approach using a mobile phone application to support adherence. This study demonstrated that youth-friendly service integration to a PrEP programme enabled retention of three-quarters of adolescent clients and HIV protective TFV-DP levels of \geq 700 fmol/punch among half of adolescent PrEP users during six months of follow-up. However, the mobile application used did not provide additional PrEP adherence benefit in this randomized trial. For Thailand,

lessons learned in this study are particularly valuable in supporting nationwide PrEP services for key populations including youth under its universal health coverage scheme as of October 2019, considerable progress from Thailand's first feebased PrEP services in 2014 [29,38-41].

TFV-DP DBS concentrations ≥700 fmol/punch, deemed to be protective from HIV for the preceding 30 days [42] in this study was found in 46% to 52% of participants at both three and six months, similar figures to those seen in US adolescent studies conducted between 2013 and 2014 (30% to 50%) at the same time points [21,35]. An earlier adolescent study in 2010 that saw protective levels of only 20% by six months [43], a trend of improved adherence in newer studies also observed in adult studies, presumed to be due to higher general knowledge in PrEP efficacy and better informed and more motivated study participants in PrEP studies [44,45]. The fact that all aforementioned studies including this study did not see any HIV seroconversions despite imperfect PrEP adherence may have been due to PrEP use being effectively used in an event-driven fashion during risky events. Encouraging "prevention-effective adherence," the use of PrEP during periods of risk exposure to effectively protect against HIV acquisition

	Baseline ^a	Month 3 visit	p-value	Baseline ^a	Month 6 visit	p-value
Overall ^{b,c}	38 (34%, 25 to 43)	66 (58%, 49 to 68)	0.0002	33 (33%, 24 to 42)	48 (52%, 41 to 62)	0.008
PrEP adherent ^d	21/67 (31%, 20 to 42)	36/60 (60%, 48 to 72)		17/50 (34%, 21 to 47)	27/49 (55% 41 to 69)	
Non-PrEP adherent	17/45 (38%, 24 to 52)	30/53 (57%, 43 to 70)		16/50 (32% 19 to 45)	21/44 (48%, 33 to 62)	

^aBaseline figures based on availability of TFV-DP results to match with self-reported condom use data for corresponding follow-up month analysed.

^bp-value of Z-test for proportions comparing % of consistent condom use between month 3 versus month 6 = 0.329.

^cNo *p*-values calculated from Z-test for proportions comparing % of consistent condom use between PrEP adherent versus non-adherent groups within visits reached 0.05.

^dPrEP adherent defined as tenofovir-diphosphate levels ≥700 fmol/punch.



Figure 1. Adherence to once daily oral HIV pre-exposure 3 prophylaxis at months 3 and 6 of follow-up by randomization arm.YFS, Youth-friendly services; YFS + APP, Youth-friendly services plus mobile phone application use.

is important because it acknowledges the dynamic pattern of HIV risk acquisition behaviours and the use of alternate HIV prevention strategies [46]. This may be a more appropriate goal to aim for in adolescents where the expectation of perfect adherence may become a barrier for those who would otherwise benefit from PrEP [44,46]. We believe that in this study, a mix of few sex acts, use of alternate HIV protection methods such as condoms and reduced perceived risk of situations driven by incomplete neurocognitive development typical of the adolescence phase of growth contributed to the inconsistent PrEP use seen [44-45,47]. This emphasises the need to combine PrEP with condoms and other HIV prevention modalities as a package to protect adolescents against HIV. It is encouraging that approximately 50% of participants had "high" adherence based on TFV-DP DBS concentrations of ≥700 fmol/punch and in combination with self-reported consistent condom use increased the overall protection to 68%. This cohort showed that with service delivery of an HIV prevention package, an increase in proportion of condom use was seen, contrary to speculated concerns of PrEP reducing condom use [48]. However, it is acknowledged that condom use can only be measured by self-report. We believe that recall bias was minimized by surveys at monthly intervals,

although it should be kept in mind this may still have been offset with a degree of reporting bias due to social desirability bias.

The vulnerability to HIV infection of the population investigated was reflected by the high rates of self-reported inconsistent condom use (66%) and laboratory diagnosed STIs at baseline of 23%, similar figures to those seen in the ATN studies 110 and 113 [21,35]. This was in contrast to the majority of participants who felt at low or moderate risk of HIV infection. This suggests that HIV prevention services for adolescents may be better justified to offer services based on risk behaviours rather than self-perceived risk. This cohort of adolescents had a relatively lower number of sex acts (2 to 3/month) and partners in the preceding month compared to much higher numbers (8 to 10/month) in the seminal ANRS Ipergay trial in adult MSM. This highlights the unique context of young people being at high risk of HIV acquisition for reasons such as lower rates of condom use and access to PrEP services, rather than number of sexual exposures [49]. For this reason, event-driven PrEP may be more suited to adolescents, further studies are needed [50].

There are studies in adolescent HIV prevention research with preliminary data suggesting the feasibility and

PrEP adherent^a Ν % Ν Unadjusted odds ratio (95% CI) p-value Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI) p-value Characteristics (Total N = 160) Month 3 follow-up 52.5 Total 160 84 Gender identity 0.003 0.01 MSM 120 74 61.7 4.83 (2.16, 10.79) 3.13 (1.30, 7.55) TGW 40 10 25.0 1 Age at enrolment (years) 17 15 to 17 49 347 1 2.87 (1.42, 5.77) 0.003 0.11 18 to 19 111 67 60.4 1.91 (0.87, 4.20) Education ≤Junior high school 70 30 42.9 1 ≥Senior high school 90 54 60.0 2.00 (1.06, 3.77) 0.03 No. of sex partners in past month 0 48 35.4 1 17 1 70 40 57.1 2.43 (1.14, 5.20) 0.02 1.62 (0.69, 3.79) 0.26 >2 42 27 64.3 3.28 (1.38, 7.80) 0.007 1.74 (0.66, 4.63) 0.26 Condom use in past month (N = 112) 38 55.3 Consistent use 21 1 74 1.33 (0.66, 2.94) 0.48 Inconsistent use 46 62.2 Substance use in past three months $^{\rm b}$ No 137 70 51.1 1 Yes 23 14 60.9 1.49 (0.60, 3.67) 0.39 Self-perceived HIV acquisition risk (N = 157) Not at risk 96 42 43.8 1 0.008 2.45 (1.26, 4.76) 1.74 (0.84, 3.63) 0.14 At risk 61 40 65.6 Laboratory diagnosed STI at baseline 51.2 No 123 63 1 Yes 37 21 56.8 1.25 (0.60, 2.62) 0.56 Intervention 50.6 YES 79 40 1 YFS + APP81 44 54.3 1.16 (0.62, 2.16) 0.64 1.08 (0.54, 2.16) 0.82 Characteristics (total N = 141) Month 6 follow-up Total 141 66 46.8 Gender identity MSM 105 57 54.3 3.56 (1.53, 8.30) 0.003 2.44 (0.96, 6.20) 0.06 TGW 36 9 25.0 1 Age at enrolment (years) 15 to 17 42 12 28.6 1 18 to 19 99 54 54.6 3.00 (1.38, 6.53) 0.006 1.89 (0.80, 4.50) 0.15 Education ≤Junior high school 63 23 36.5 1 78 2.14 (1.08, 4.22) 0.03 ≥Senior high school 43 55.1 No. of sex partners in past month 0 41 39.0 16 1 1 62 25 40.3 1.06 (0.47, 2.37) 0.90 0.80 (0.33, 1.91) 0.61 1.94 (0.71, 5.30) 0.20 ≥2 38 25 65.8 3.00 (1.20, 7.52) 0.02

Table 4. Associated factors with PrEP adherence^a, 4A at month 3 of follow-up 4B at month 6

Table 4. (Continued)

	PrEP adherent ^a						
	N	N	%	Unadjusted odds ratio (95% Cl)	p-value	Adjusted odds ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Condom use in past m	onth (N =	100)					
Consistent use	33	17	51.5	1			
Inconsistent use	67	33	49.2	0.91 (0.40, 2.10)	0.83		
Substance use in past	three mor	nths ^b					
No	118	57	48.3	1			
Yes	23	9	39.1	0.69 (0.28, 1.71)	0.42		
Self-perceived HIV acc	uisition ri	sk					
Not at risk	89	37	41.6	1			
At risk	52	29	55.8	1.77 (0.89, 3.54)	0.10	1.28 (0.60, 2.76)	0.52
Laboratory diagnosed	STI at bas	eline					
No	107	51	47.7	1			
Yes	34	15	44.1	0.87 (0.40, 1.88)	0.72		
Intervention							
YFS	68	30	44.1	1			
YFS + APP	73	36	49.3	1.23 (0.64, 2.39)	0.54	1.18 (0.58, 2.42)	0.64

fmol/punch, femtomoles per 3 mm punch; MSM, men who have sex with men; TGW, transgender women; STI, sexually transmitted infection, laboratory confirmed and included syphilis, *Neisseria gonorrhoea* and *Chlamydia trachomatis*, the latter 2 from anal swab and urine samples; TFV-DP DBS, tenofovir diphosphate dried blood spots; YFS, Youth-friendly services; YFS + APP, Youth-friendly services plus mobile phone application. ^a"PrEP adherent" defined as TFV-DP DBS concentrations \geq 700 fmol/punch [equivalent to \geq 4 doses of TDF/week].

^b"substance use" defined as alcohol, sildenafil citrate and other recreational and illicit drug use including alcohol, amphetamines, methamphetamines, ketamine, poppers (volatile alkyl nitrates), marijuana and sildenafil citrate.

acceptability of apps in supporting PrEP adherence, however, trial results on efficacy are pending [51-54]. The "Raincoat" app used in this trial did not show efficacy in PrEP adherence or service retention. The median time of app use was only three months out the total six months of the study, substantially lower than in an adult study where >60% continued to use a PrEP adherence app at by six months [55]. This may have been due to (1) lack of social networking features such as chat boards or a leader board, (2) lack of ongoing new features over the six-month period contributing to boredom (3) availability on only one operating system (Android), meaning one-third of participants had to borrow phones to use the app, which may have been inconvenient. Retention could further be addressed with more adaptive designs to service delivery, which include (1) convenience - more accessibility and flexibility of services, self-testing for HIV and postal delivery of PrEP, (2) adaptability to medication needs - adolescent sexual activity changes over time and may be more suited to event-driven PrEP, (3) technological developments to add interactive activity such as leader boards, and chat boards to increase engagement or sense of community.

There are some data to suggest risk perception influences risk behaviours in adult MSM [56,57], and has similarly been described in a Thai YMSM study. We designed "Project Raincoat" based on the assumption that self-risk assessment would lead to increased adherence. Findings from studies have been mixed with some evidence to suggest risk perception has some relation to reduced risk behaviours [58,59], whereas in others despite risk perception, risk reduction was unaffected

[60]. It could be argued that although there is evidence to suggest low perceived risk is associated with poor adherence in YMSM [61], this does not mean the opposite is necessarily true. It is important to point out that risk perception was part of a spectrum of other factors influencing risk taking behaviours not explicitly addressed by the intervention in this arm, such as addressing of barriers to condom use and alcohol use which may explain the outcomes observed in this study [62]. At the time of this study, there were no universally accepted validity tools available for the effectiveness of mobile applications prior to taking them to randomized trials. There is acknowledgement that multiple factors influence whether a mobile application is effective, including participant demographics, intervention factors (intensity, components), technology used (video, infographics, text) and behavioural change intervention used, only some of which were possible to investigate in this trial [63]. More understanding is also needed on whether and how point rewards influence YMSM behaviour. A qualitative component of this study is underway.

Retention in HIV prevention services was fairly high at 73% by six months, similar to figures seen in the ATN 110/113 studies, with no clear differences between YMSM and YTGW in contrast to previous experience in Thailand suggesting TGW have poorer retention rates in HIV prevention care [64]. This may have been related to comprehensive care including gender affirming hormone therapy [65]. High overall retention rates suggest that the approach to counselling and multidisciplinary care taken in this study were important in engaging and retaining adolescents in HIV prevention services as has been previously found [12].



Figure 2. Mode of protection of risk periods against HIV and STIs seen in Thai adolescents."PrEP protection" defined as ≥700 fmol/ punch, "condom protection" defined as 100% condom use. PrEP, pre-exposure prophylaxis; STIs, sexually transmitted infections.

The strength of this study was it provided youth-friendly services that focused on adolescents between 15 and 19 years. This study was made possible through Thailand's policies that allow adolescents aged 13 to 18 years to access to HIV and STI testing and treatment without parental consent and approval of parental consent exemption by an ethics committee. It was further supported by the Princess PrEP Program led by HRH Princess Somsawali, recently appointed UNAIDS Goodwill Ambassador for HIV Prevention in Asia and the Pacific (2019) that funded our PrEP supply in accordance with HIV acquisition risks regardless of age or gender identity [66]. These strengths of Thailand exemplify the advances possible in HIV prevention efforts through giving importance to the overcoming of legal and structural barriers. Finally, this study is continuing with qualitative data collection on the mobile phone application used, which will provide information to improve future designs.

Our study also had a number of limitations. The mobile application was only available on the Android platform. Additionally, this study was not specifically designed to focus on YTGW, who are increasingly recognised as a distinct group with unique needs and therefore it could be argued that a separate gender-specific study with tailored interventions for YTGW is more appropriate [67]. The relatively short sixmonth duration of follow-up was also a limitation. Although this study looked at PrEP "execution," further study is needed to address PrEP "persistence" in order to study ongoing HIV risk adolescents have over time [46]. We currently have an ongoing open-label extension study following up participants to look at PrEP persistence. It must also be noted that the comprehensive YFS offered in this study is not routinely offered across Thailand and other middle-income countries in the region, which may have negated any effects the mobile app had on PrEP adherence on the intervention arm of this study. Self-reported measures regarding sex acts, sex partners or condom use may have been subject to reporting bias. Finally, this study may have been underpowered to detect differences in study arms due to a higher than expected dropout rate.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

Using youth-friendly service delivery, we were able to achieve retention in three-quarters of our clients at six months and good adherence among half of adolescent PrEP users, with no seroconversions. However, the mobile phone application tested did not provide additional PrEP adherence benefit to comprehensive YFS in this randomized trial. Adolescent HIV risk behaviours are dynamic and require adaptive programmes that focus on "prevention-effective adherence." Further research is required on how improved adherence may be programmatically supported in adolescents both short and long-term through further qualitative and PrEP persistence studies.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Center of Excellence for Pediatric Infectious Diseases and Vaccines, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand; ²Institute of HIV Research and Innovation, Bangkok, Thailand; ³PHPT/IRD UMI 174, Faculty of Associated Medical Sciences, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand; ⁴Department of Immunology & Infectious Diseases, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, USA; ⁵Department of Molecular & Clinical Pharmacology, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom; ⁶The Service Workers IN Group Foundation, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁷Rainbow Sky Association, Bangkok, Thailand; ⁸Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

WNS was responsible for writing the initial version of the manuscript. SK did the data analysis. TP supervised the overall manuscript writing process and content. NP and TC oversaw PrEP operations at the TRCARC. TRC led TEV-DP laboratory analysis. PW coordinated this study and did the data collection. CS oversaw holistic care of study participants. SJ and DL oversaw PrEP operations at community-based organisations. All authors have read and approved the final version of this manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The CE-PID – TRC Adolescent Study Team:

Praphan Phanuphak, Chitsanu Pancharoen, Somsong Teeratakulpisarn, Reshmie Ramautarsing, Rena Janamnuaysook, Kritima Samitpol, Jiratchaya Kongkapan, Artsanee Chancham, Pravit Mingkwanrungruang, Narukjaporn Thammajaruk, Nuttawut Teachatanawat, Krittaporn Termvanich, Tippawan Pankam, Thantip Sungsing, Sorawit Amatavete, Chotika Prabjantuek, Phubet Panpet, Jureeporn Jantarapakde, Tuangtip Theerawit,Watsamon Jantarabenjakul, Suvaporn Anugulruengkitt, Nattapong Jitrunruengnit, Noppadol Wacharachaisurapol, Pintip Suchartlikitwong, Pakpoom Janewongwirot, Juthamanee Moonwong, Rachaneekorn Nadsasarn, Patchareeyawan Srimuan, Siwanart Thammasala, Sasiwimol Ubolyam, Patcharin Eamyoung, Jiratchaya Sophonphan, Stephen Kerr, Taninee Petwijit, Chansuda Bongsebandhu-phubakdi, Buajoom Raksakul, Pathranis Meekrua, Orawan Fungfoosri, Prapaipan Plodgratoke, Pakitta Kidsumret, Kamolchanok Chumyen, Sahakun Chintanakarn, Sirinthon Yenjit, Chanin Suksom, Tanunjit Rugphan, Somsri Tantipaibulvut, Prakaipech Kaw-In, Penprapa Chanachon, Chanjiraporn Pondet.

Special thanks to: Marissa Vicari from CIPHER for her support of this project, Emeritus Professor Praphan Phanuphak for his guidance and support of this project at the Thai Red Cross AIDS Research Center, Professor Linda-Gail Bekker for her guidance and support of this project, Dr Chitsanu Pancharoen for his support training staff in adolescent counselling for this project, Anuchit Vasionta from Focal Intelligence Co. Ltd and his team Rachapong Pornwiriyangkura, Mathawee Tusjunt, Patcharamon Siriphongpiphat, Rawisara Loekiatthamrong and Sitthiphong Achavanfor their support in designing and producing "Project Raincoat," and Yardpiroon Tawon for her hard work in supporting TFV-DP assay analyses.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the CIPHER Grant ID 2017/472-SON; The Princess PrEP Fund; FHI360; LINKAGES; The Chulalongkorn University Ratchadapisek Sompotch Fund, Faculty of Medicine (Grant number 61/037); The Chulalongkorn University Ratchadapisek Sompotch Fund (2019), Telehealth Cluster Grant; The Chulalongkorn University Ratchadapisek Sompotch Fund, Postdoctoral Fellowship Fund; The Center of Excellence in Transgender Health, Chulalongkorn University.

REFERENCES

1. van Griensven F, Guadamuz Thomas E, de Lind van Wijngaarden JW, Phanuphak N, Solomon SS, Lo Y-R. Challenges and emerging opportunities for the HIV prevention, treatment and care cascade in men who have sex with men in Asia Pacific. Sex Transmit Infect. 2017;93(5):356–62.

2. Baral SD, Grosso A, Holland C, Papworth E. The epidemiology of HIV among men who have sex with men in countries with generalized HIV epidemics. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2014;9(2):156–67.

3. van Griensven F, Thienkrua W, McNicholl J, Wimonsate W, Chaikummao S, Chonwattana W, et al. Evidence of an explosive epidemic of HIV infection in a cohort of men who have sex with men in Thailand. AIDS. 2013;27(5):825–32.

4. Thienkrua W, van Griensven F, Mock PA, Dunne EF, Raengsakulrach B, Wimonsate W, et al. Young men who have sex with men at high risk for HIV, Bangkok MSM Cohort Study, Thailand 2006–2014. AIDS Behav. 2018;22 (7):2137–46.

5. van Griensven F, Varangrat A, Wimonsate W, Tanpradech S, Kladsawad K, Chemnasiri T, et al. Trends in HIV prevalence, estimated hiv incidence, and risk behavior among men who have sex with men in Bangkok, Thailand, 2003–2007. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;53(2):234–9.

6. Centers for Disease C, Prevention. HIV and syphilis infection among men who have sex with men–Bangkok, Thailand, 2005–2011. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013;62(25):518–20.

7. Wasantioopapokakorn M, Manopaiboon C, Phoorisri T, Sukkul A, Lertpiriyasuwat C, Ongwandee S, et al. Implementation and assessment of a model to increase HIV testing among men who have sex with men and transgender women in Thailand, 2011–2016. AIDS Care. 2018;30(10):1239–45.

8. Garofalo R, Hotton AL, Kuhns LM, Gratzer B, Mustanski B. Incidence of HIV infection and sexually transmitted infections and related risk factors among very young men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016;72 (1):79–86.

9. Elopre L, McDavid C, Brown A, Shurbaji S, Mugavero MJ, Turan JM. Perceptions of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis among young, black men who have sex with men. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2018;32(12):511–8.

10. Chemnasiri T, Netwong T, Visarutratana S, Varangrat A, Li A, Phanuphak P, et al. Inconsistent condom use among young men who have sex with men, male sex workers, and transgenders in Thailand. AIDS Educ Prev. 2010;22(2):100–9.

11. Musumari PM, Tangmunkongvorakul A, Srithanaviboonchai K, Yungyuankul S, Techasrivichien T, Suguimoto SP, et al. Prevalence and Correlates of HIV testing among young people enrolled in non-formal education centers in urban Chiang Mai, Thailand: A cross-sectional study. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0153452.

12. Pettifor A, Nguyen NL, Celum C, Cowan FM, Go V. Tailored combination prevention packages and PrEP for young key populations. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18:19434.

13. Cumulative number of Thai PrEP users: PrEP-30 and Princess PrEP estimated number as of December 2018, Thai Red Cross AIDS Research Center. [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Apr 7]. Available from: www.PrEPthai.net

14. Zablotska I, Grulich AE, Phanuphak N, Anand T, Janyam S, Poonkasetwattana M, et al. PrEP implementation in the Asia-Pacific region: opportunities, implementation and barriers. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19:21119.

15. Society for Adolescent H, Medicine. HIV Pre-exposure prophylaxis medication for adolescents and young adults: a position paper of the society for adolescent health and medicine. J Adolesc Health. 2018;63(4):513–6.

16. UNAIDS. Ending the AIDS epidemic for adolescents, with adolescents. A practical guide to meaningfully engage adolescents in the AIDS response. 2016 [cited 2020 Apr 7]. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/docume nts/2016/ending-AIDS-epidemic-adolescents

17. Avert. HIV prevention programmes overview [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 7]. https://www.avert.org/professionals/hiv-programming/prevention/overview 18. Baggaley R, Armstrong A, Dodd Z, Ngoksin E, Krug A, Young key populations and HIV: a special emphasis and consideration in the new WHO Consolidated Guidelines on HIV Prevention, Diagnosis, Treatment and Care for Key Populations. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18:19438.

19. Bekker LG, Gill K, Wallace M. Pre-exposure prophylaxis for South African adolescents: what evidence? S Afr Med J. 2015;105(11):907–11.

20. Organization WH. WHO Implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection. Module 1: Clinical. 2017.

21. Hosek SG, Landovitz RJ, Kapogiannis B, Siberry GK, Rudy B, Rutledge B, et al. Safety and feasibility of antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for adolescent men who have sex with men aged 15 to 17 years in the United States. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(11):1063–71.

22. Bureau of AIDS TaS. Report on HIV PrEP Provision Thailand: Bureau of AIDS, TB and STIs. 2020 [cited 2020 Jan 7]. Available from: http://www.preptha i.net/ViewAGroup.aspx

23. Schueler K, Ferreira M, Nikolopoulos G, Skaathun B, Paraskevis D, Hatzakis A, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) awareness and use within high HIV transmission networks. AIDS Behav. 2019;23(7):1893–903.

24. Spinelli MA, Scott HM, Vittinghoff E, Liu AY, Gonzalez R, Morehead-Gee A, et al. Missed visits associated with future preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) discontinuation among PrEP users in a municipal primary care health network. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;6:ofz101.

25. eHealth WGOf. mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. 2011.

26. Aliabadi N, Carballo-Dieguez A, Bakken S, Rojas M, Brown W 3rd, Carry M, et al. Using the information-motivation-behavioral skills model to guide the development of an HIV prevention smartphone application for high-risk MSM. AIDS Educ Prev. 2015;27(6):522–37.

27. Ybarra ML, Korchmaros JD, Prescott TL, Birungi R. A randomized controlled trial to increase HIV preventive information, motivation, and behavioral skills in Ugandan adolescents. Ann Behav Med. 2015;49(3):473–85.

28. Hawkins RP, Kreuter M, Resnicow K, Fishbein M, Dijkstra A. Understanding tailoring in communicating about health. Health Educ Res. 2008;23(3):454–66.

29. Thai Ministry of Public Health. Thailand National Guidelines on Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis: HIV-PrEP. 2018. ISBN: 978-616-11-3732-8. http://aidssti.ddc. moph.go.th/medias/view/126/549

30. Palacio A, Garay D, Langer B, Taylor J, Wood BA, Tamariz L. Motivational interviewing improves medication adherence: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2016;31(8):929–40.

31. Miller WR, Rollnick S. Meeting in the middle: motivational interviewing and self-determination theory. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2012;9:25.

32. Couper MP, Alexander GL, Zhang N, Little RJ, Maddy N, Nowak MA, et al. Engagement and retention: measuring breadth and depth of participant use of an online intervention. J Med Internet Res. 2010;12:e52.

33. Anderson PL, Liu AY, Castillo-Mancilla JR, Gardner EM, Seifert SM, McHugh C, et al. Intracellular tenofovir-diphosphate and emtricitabine-triphosphate in dried blood spots following directly observed therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2018;62:e01710-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01710-17 34. Grant RM, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu A, Amico KR, Mehrotra M, et al. Uptake of pre-exposure prophylaxis, sexual practices, and HIV incidence in men and transgender women who have sex with men: a cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(9):820–9.

35. Hosek SG, Rudy B, Landovitz R, Kapogiannis B, Siberry G, Rutledge B, et al. An HIV preexposure prophylaxis demonstration project and safety study for young MSM. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;74(1):21–9.

36. Anderson PL, Glidden DV, Liu A, Buchbinder S, Lama JR, Guanira JV, et al. Emtricitabine-tenofovir concentrations and pre-exposure prophylaxis efficacy in men who have sex with men. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:151ra125.

37. Hergenrather KC, Emmanuel D, Durant S, Rhodes SD. Enhancing HIV prevention among young men who have sex with men: a systematic review of HIV behavioral interventions for young gay and bisexual men. AIDS Educ Prev. 2016;28(3):252–71.

38. Thailand NNBo. PrEP HIV-prevention med makes progress in Thailand 2019 [updated 29 October 2019. Available from: http://thainews.prd.go.th/en/ news/detail/TCATG191029161049997

39. Office NHS.Top 10 performance of the Universal Coverage Scheme (UCS) Fund in 2019. National Health Security Office. [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: http://eng.nhso.go.th/view/1/Description_news/NewsAndEvents/4/EN-US 40. Health MoP. Thailand National guidelines on HIV/AIDS treatment and prevention 2017. Bangkok, Thailand; 2017.

41. Colby D, Srithanaviboonchai K, Vanichseni S, Ongwandee S, Phanuphak N, Martin M, et al. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis and health and community systems in the Global South: Thailand case study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18:19953.

42. Baxi SM, Vittinghoff E, Bacchetti P, Huang Y, Chillag K, Wiegand R, et al. Comparing pharmacologic measures of tenofovir exposure in a U.S. pre-exposure prophylaxis randomized trial. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0190118.

43. Hosek SG, Siberry G, Bell M, Lally M, Kapogiannis B, Green K, et al. The acceptability and feasibility of an HIV preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) trial with young men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;62 (4):447–56.

 Haberer JE. Current concepts for PrEP adherence in the PrEP revolution: from clinical trials to routine practice. Current Opin HIV AIDS. 2016;11(1):10–7.
Pyra MN, Haberer JE, Hasen N, Reed J, Mugo NR, Baeten JM. Global

implementation of PrEP for HIV prevention: setting expectations for impact. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25370.46. Haberer JE, Bangsberg DR, Baeten JM, Curran K, Koechlin F, Amico KR,

et al. Defining success with HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis: a prevention-effective adherence paradigm. AIDS. 2015;29(11):1277–85.

47. Cohn LD, Macfarlane S, Yanez C, Imai WK. Risk-perception: differences between adolescents and adults. Health Psychol. 1995;14(3):217–22.

48. Maljaars LP, Gill K, Smith PJ, Gray GE, Dietrich JJ, Gomez GB, et al. Condom migration after introduction of pre-exposure prophylaxis among HIV-uninfected adolescents in South Africa: a cohort analysis. South Afr J HIV Med. 2017;18:712.

49. Sagaon-Teyssier L, Suzan-Monti M, Demoulin B, Capitant C, Lorente N, Préau M, et al. Uptake of PrEP and condom and sexual risk behavior among MSM during the ANRS IPERGAY trial. AIDS Care. 2016;28 Sup1:48–55.

50. Organization WH. What's the 2+1+1? Event-driven oral pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV for men who have sex with men: Update to WHO's recommendation on oral PrEP. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019.

51. LeGrand S, Knudtson K, Benkeser D, Muessig K, McGee A, Sullivan PS, et al. Testing the efficacy of a social networking gamification app to improve pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence (P3: Prepared, Protected, emPowered): protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc. 2018;7:e10448.

52. Mitchell JT, LeGrand S, Hightow-Weidman LB, McKellar MS, Kashuba AD, Cottrell M, et al. Smartphone-based contingency management intervention to improve pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence, Pilot Trial. JMIR mHealth and uHealth. 2018;6:e10456.

53. Biello KB, Marrow E, Mimiaga MJ, Sullivan P, Hightow-Weidman L, Mayer KH. A Mobile-based app (MyChoices) to increase uptake of HIV testing and pre-exposure prophylaxis by young men who have sex with men: protocol for a pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc. 2019;8:e10694.

54. Liu A, Coleman K, Bojan K, Serrano PA, Oyedele T, Garcia A, et al. Developing a Mobile App (LYNX) to support linkage to HIV/sexually transmitted infection testing and pre-exposure prophylaxis for young men who have sex with men: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc. 2019;8: e10659.

55. Finkenflügel RNN, Hoornenborg E, Achterbergh RCA, Marra E, Davidovich U, de Vries HJC, et al. A mobile application to collect daily data on preexposure

prophylaxis adherence and sexual behavior among men who have sex with men: use over time and comparability with conventional data collection. Sex Transm Dis. 2019;46(6):400–6.

56. Downing MJ Jr. Perceived likelihood of HIV and sexually transmitted infection acquisition among men who have sex with men. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2014;25(1):98–102.

57. van der Snoek EM, de Wit JBF, Mulder PGH, van der Meijden WI. Incidence of sexually transmitted diseases and hiv infection related to perceived HIV/AIDS threat since highly active antiretroviral therapy availability in men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Dis. 2005;32(3):170–5.

58. Corneli A, Wang M, Agot K, Ahmed K, Lombaard J, Van Damme L. Perception of HIV risk and adherence to a daily, investigational pill for HIV prevention in FEM-PrEP. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;67(5):555–63.

59. Bauermeister JA, Pingel ES, Jadwin-Cakmak L, Harper GW, Horvath K, Weiss G, et al. Acceptability and preliminary efficacy of a tailored Online HIV/ STI testing intervention for young men who have sex with men: the get connected! Program. AIDS Behav. 2015;19(10):1860–74.

60. Corneli AL, McKenna K, Headley J, Ahmed K, Odhiambo J, Skhosana J, et al. A descriptive analysis of perceptions of HIV risk and worry about acquiring HIV among FEM-PrEP participants who seroconverted in Bondo, Kenya, and Pretoria, South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:19152.

61. Arrington-Sanders R, Wilson CM, Perumean-Chaney SE, Patki A, Hosek S. Brief report: role of sociobehavioral factors in subprotective TFV-DP levels among YMSM enrolled in 2 PrEP trials. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2019;80 (2):160–5.

62. Khumsaen N, Stephenson R. Beliefs and Perception about HIV/AIDS, selfefficacy, and HIV sexual risk behaviors among young thai men who have sex with men. AIDS Educ Prev. 2017;29(2):175–90.

63. Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The Effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med. 2013;10:e1001362.

64. Seekaew P, Nguyen E, Sungsing T, Jantarapakde J, Pengnonyang S, Trachunthong D, et al. Correlates of nonadherence to key population-led HIV preexposure prophylaxis services among Thai men who have sex with men and transgender women. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):328.

65. Sevelius JM, Patouhas E, Keatley JG, Johnson MO. Barriers and facilitators to engagement and retention in care among transgender women living with human immunodeficiency virus. Ann Behav Med. 2014;47(1):5–16.

66. Phanuphak N, Sungsing T, Jantarapakde J, Pengnonyang S, Trachunthong D, Mingkwanrungruang P, et al. Princess PrEP program: the first key population-led model to deliver pre-exposure prophylaxis to key populations by key populations in Thailand. Sex Health. 2018;15(6):542–55.

67. Poteat T, German D, Flynn C. The conflation of gender and sex: Gaps and opportunities in HIV data among transgender women and MSM. Glob Public Health. 2016;11(7–8):835–48.

RESEARCH ARTICLE



"If it is left, it becomes easy for me to get tested": use of oral self-tests and community health workers to maximize the potential of home-based HIV testing among adolescents in Lesotho

Alain Amstutz^{1,2,3,§} (b), Mathebe Kopo⁴, Thabo I Lejone⁴, Lefu Khesa⁴, Mpho Kao⁴, Josephine Muhairwe⁴, Tracy R Glass^{1,2} and Niklaus D Labhardt^{1,2,3} (b)

[§]Corresponding author: Alain Amstutz, Department of Medicine, Clinical Research Unit, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Socinstrasse 57, 4051 Basel, Switzerland. Tel: +266 5 860 4300. (alain.amstutz@swisstph.ch) Clinical Trial Number: NCT03598686 (clinicaltrials.gov).

Abstract

Introduction: Home-based HIV testing fails to reach high coverage among adolescents and young adults (AYA), mainly because they are often absent during the day of home-based testing. ADORE (ADolescent ORal tEsting) is a mixed-method nested study among AYA in rural Lesotho, measuring the effect of home-based secondary distribution of oral HIV self-tests (HIVST) on coverage, as well as exploring how AYA perceive this HIV self-testing model.

Methods: ADORE study was nested in a cluster-randomized trial. In intervention village-clusters, oral HIVST were left for household members who were absent or declined testing during a testing campaign. One present household member was trained on HIVST use. Distributed HIVST were followed up by village health workers (VHW). In control clusters no self-tests were distributed. The quantitative outcome was testing coverage among AYA (age 12 to 24) within 120 days, defined as a confirmed HIV test result or known status, using adjusted random-effects logistic regression on the intention-to-treat population. Qualitatively, we conducted in-depth interviews among both AYA who used and did not use the distributed HIVST.

Results: From July 2018 to December 2018, 49 and 57 villages with 1471 and 1620 consenting households and 1236 and 1445 AYA in the control and intervention arm, respectively, were enrolled. On the day of the home-visit, a testing coverage of 37% (461/1236) and 41% (596/1445) in the control and the intervention arm, respectively, were achieved. During the 120 days follow-up period, an additional 23 and 490 AYA in control and intervention clusters, respectively, knew their status. This resulted in a testing coverage of 484/1236 (39%) in the control versus 1086/1445 (75%) in the intervention arm (aOR 8.80 [95% CI 5.81 to 13.32]; p < 0.001). 21 interviews were performed. Personal assistance after the secondary distribution emerged as a key theme and VHWs were generally seen as a trusted cadre.

Conclusions: Secondary distribution of HIVST for AYA absent or refusing to test during home-based testing in Lesotho resulted in an absolute 36% increase in coverage. Distribution should, however, go along with clear instructions on the use of the HIVST and a possibility to easily access more personal support.

Keywords: HIV; adolescent; oral self-test; Lesotho; HIVST; secondary distribution

Received 13 January 2020; Accepted 8 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

In Southern Africa, adolescents and young adults (AYA) experience high HIV transmission rates as access to HIV prevention, testing and care services remains low among AYA [1-4]. In 2016, UNICEF estimated that only 13% of adolescent girls and 9% of adolescent boys aged 15 to 19 in Southern Africa have been included in in HIV testing services in the previous 12 months [5].

In high HIV incidence settings, community-based HIV testing tailored to the needs of AYA are seen as one important

pillar to reduce HIV incidence, morbidity and mortality in this age group [4]. However, while uptake is usually at 90% during home-based testing, the testing coverage remains low due to a large number of household members being absent at the time of the campaign, mainly men, adolescents and young adults [6-9]. In a previous study from Lesotho, more than 40% of young men aged 15 years and older could not be reached through home visits during week nor weekend days [7]. A promising approach to reach higher testing coverage during home-based HIV testing may be the use of HIV self-testing (HIVST). Oral-fluid rapid HIVST has been shown to increase
uptake, particularly among young people, in facility- and homebased testing models across the region [10-12].

One approach to increase testing coverage using oral HIVST may be its secondary distribution for household members not present during a home-based testing campaign. The HOSENG (HOme-based SEIf-testiNG) trial assessed the increase in testing coverage through secondary HIVST distribution to household members, all ages, absent or refusing to test during a home-based testing campaign in rural Lesotho [13]. Overall, 58% of HIVST distributed were used and returned within 120 days, resulting in an overall HIV testing coverage of 81%, more than 20% higher than in the standard of care arm where no HIVST were distributed [14].

The ADORE (ADolescent ORal tEsting) study is a mixedmethod study nested within HOSENG trial, investigating the effectiveness and perception of secondary oral HIVST distribution with a follow-up by village health workers (VHWs) among AYA 12 to 24 years old.

2 | METHODS

2.1 Study design, participants and recruitment

The ADORE study is a predefined mixed-method nested study embedded in the HOSENG trial, a cluster-randomized trial conducted in 106 rural villages in the catchment area of 20 health facilities of two districts in Lesotho. The randomization was stratified by district (Butha-Buthe vs. Mokhotlong), village size (≥30 vs. <30 households) and access to the nearest health facility (easy vs. hard to reach, defined as needing to cross a mountain or river or >10 km away from a health facility). An independent statistician was responsible for the computer-generated randomization list. The study protocol of HOSENG including the nested study ADORE has been published [13]. In short, the trial assessed the increase in HIV testing coverage in intervention clusters through secondary HIVST distribution for household members absent or refusing to test during the day of the home-based testing campaign compared to control clusters, where no HIVST were distributed during the home-based testing campaign. Before cluster-randomization and trial start, the study team obtained verbal consent from all involved village chiefs by attending the village chiefs' councils and presenting the project. On the day of the HIV testing campaign, the study campaign team, consisting of counsellors and a nurse, obtained a written consent from each household head (or representative aged 18 years or older), to collect household data on all absent and present household members and to propose HIV testing. If the household consented to participate, then the study team enumerated all household members, offered blood-based HIV testing and counselling plus multi-disease screening (tuberculosis, alcohol) and HIV prevention (voluntary medical male circumcision referral, condom provision). The counsellors obtained from each household member written informed consent for HIV testing, following national testing guidelines [15]. According to national guidelines individuals aged 12 years or older can consent to HIV testing. For HIVST no written consent was obtained as the act of self-testing itself represents consent.

In control villages, during the home-based testing campaign household members with unknown HIV status and absent or refusing to test were encouraged to get tested at the nearest facility. In intervention arm, study teams offered to leave an oral HIVST (OraQuick[®]) to household members with unknown HIV status and absent or refusing to test if they were 12 years or older. One present household member was trained and tested with the HIVST by a personal step-by-step explanation along with the written instruction in Sesotho (the local language). Prior to the campaign, the VHW from intervention villages were trained on the use and interpretation of the HIVST. During the campaign, these VHWs received a list of all household members for whom an HIVST was dispensed and were instructed to visit the households two to four weeks after the campaign to collect the oral HIVST if it was not returned to them before. In the case of a reactive HIVST, the VHW coordinated further blood-based testing to confirm the outcome.

The qualitative part included 12 to 24 years old participants who refused to use the secondary distributed HIVST and those who used the secondary distributed HIVST, stratified by two pre-defined factors: male versus female; age 12 to 15 versus 16 to 24 years. They were recruited using purposive sampling, following the concept of saturation [16]. Eligible participants provided written informed consent. Illiterate participants provided a thumb print after a literate witness of their choice read, explained and co-signed the form, and participants below 18 years chose a caregiver to co-sign.

This study was approved by the National Health Research and Ethics Committee of the Ministry of Health of Lesotho (ID06-2018) and the Ethics committee in Switzerland (Ethikkomission Nordwest- und Zentralschweiz; 2018-00283).

2.2 Data collection and outcomes

Data collection for the quantitative part of the ADORE study was launched with the start of HOSENG trial on 26 July 2018 in both districts simultaneously. Recruitment lasted for five months. Details about data collection are published elsewhere [13]. The quantitative outcome of ADORE study was testing coverage among AYA (age 12 to 24) within 120 days after home-based testing, defined as the proportion of all individuals aged 12 to 24 years living in a household of the surveyed area with a confirmed HIV test result. A follow-up period of 120 days allowed sufficient time for absent members to return to their households, conduct the self-test, and return it to the VHW. The VHWs re-read the result of the oral HIVST strip and documented the outcome on a studyspecific form. Furthermore, at all health facilities in both study districts, the study team searched through the testing registers to collect testing outcomes for those participants who decided to come to the clinic for testing instead. Twelve years was chosen as lower age-limit for oral self-testing because it is the legal age for providing HIV testing consent in Lesotho [17] and by then available evidence supported the use of the oral HIVST for individuals 12 years of age and older [18]. We defined confirmed HIV test results as (i) known HIV-positive with documentation (in the health booklet or the national testing register), (ii) known HIV-negative (tested within previous 4 weeks with documentation in the health booklet or the national testing register), or (iii) confirmed HIV test result during the study period according to the national HIV testing guidelines [15]. We classified a reactive oral HIVST as confirmed only if follow-up blood-based testing was performed.

After assessment of the quantitative outcome, one-on-one in-depth interviews were conducted from February 02, 2019 until 14 May 2019, by one trained interviewer. The interviews lasted approximately 20 minutes and were conducted in Sesotho in a private space at participants' home. The interviewer used a semi-structured interview questionnaire tailored to participants who refused versus who used the HIVST. The questionnaire covered socio-demographic characteristics, HIV testing preferences, their individual views on the secondary distribution of HIVST, perceptions about the optimal support needed during usage of HIVST and the follow-up of distributed HIVST. Two qualitative research objectives were defined:

- 1 How do AYA (12 to 24 years old) perceive the use of an oral HIVST that was left for them because they were absent during the day of the HIV testing campaign or because they refused blood-based HIV testing?
- 2 How do AYA (12 to 24 years old) perceive the involvement of the village health worker in the follow-up of the distributed oral HIVST?

2.3 Data analysis

The quantitative outcome was analysed following an intentionto-treat approach with clusters as unit of randomization and individuals as unit of analysis, using multi-level logistic regression models including village and household as random effects. The model was adjusted for the pre-specified randomization stratification factors. Results are presented as adjusted odds ratios (aOR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI). As pre-defined subgroup analyses, the potential effect modification of sex (male, female) was assessed and intervention effects calculated separately in the case of significant effect modification. All analyses were done using Stata (version 15, Stata Corporation, Austin, TX, USA) and all tests used two-sided *p*-values with alpha 0.05 level of significance.

Regarding the qualitative data, audio recordings were translated and transcribed into English, and the analysis process determined according to the Framework Method [19]. A codebook was developed by the qualitative study team, deducting themes and codes from the two qualitative research objectives. Three researchers coded the transcripts independently, line by line and regularly met to compare the coding. In parallel to the rollout of the interviews, a working analytical framework was developed, and the codebook was constantly updated, adding more detailed codes inductively. A matrix was developed to systematically compare relevant responses across participants. Similarities and differences in findings by the stratified groups were identified, and illustrative quotes were selected.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Quantitative results

3.1.1 | Participant characteristics

From July 26, 2018, until December 12, 2018, 49 and 57 villages with 1471 and 1620 consenting households and 1236 and 1445 enumerated AYA in the control and intervention

arm, respectively, were enrolled. 843 (68%) AYA in the control arm and 911 (63%) AYA in the intervention arm were absent. Table 1 summarizes the demographic information of all enumerated participants.

3.1.2 | Testing coverage among AYA

Figure 1 displays the HIV testing coverage among the study participants in detail. Applying the outcome definitions of a confirmed HIV test results (see above), a testing coverage on the day of the home-visit of 37% (461/1236) and 41% (596/ 1445) in the control and the intervention arm, respectively, was achieved. In intervention clusters, overall, 785 oral HIVST were left for AYA who were absent (n = 771) or refused testing (n = 14) during the home-visit. Uptake of the distributed HIVST was 62% (487/785). At completion of the 120 days follow-up period after the HIV testing campaign, in the intervention clusters 490 additional AYA - who were initially absent or refused to test during the campaign - knew their HIV status: 99% (487) through usage of the distributed oral HIVST and 1% (3) through testing at a health facility. In the control arm. 23 AYA initially absent or refusing to test attended the health facility for testing within the follow-up period.

Overall, this resulted in a HIV testing coverage among AYA within 120 days after the home visit of 484/1236 (39%) in the control arm versus 1086/1445 (75%) in the intervention (aOR 8.80 [95% CI 5.81 to 13.32]; p < 0.001; Table 2). The intervention effect was greater in male AYA (70% vs. 25%; aOR 16.40 [CI 8.35 to 32.24]) than female AYA (80% vs. 52%; aOR 5.78 [CI 3.55 to 9.41], *p*-interaction <0.001; Table 2). Linkage to care data will be published separately.

3.2 | Qualitative results

3.2.1 Interviewee characteristics

Overall 21 participants from intervention village-clusters were interviewed: 11 who refused to use the HIVST and 10 who did use HIVST. On average, the participants had completed 10 years of schooling, showed moderate HIV/AIDS-related knowledge and low HIV/AIDS-related stigma. Over 80% of the participants reported having tested for HIV before (all blood-based) and 80% in the HIVST user group and 60% in the HIVST non-user group reported oral-based testing as pre-ferred test specimen (Table 3).

3.2.2 | Perceptions about secondary distribution of HIVST

Many participants thought secondary distribution was acceptable; "Because if a person wants to test if they were not at home they would miss to test if it was not left" (female, 14 years, HIVST user) Some emphasized that it was a convenient way of getting tested; "I think it's a good thing because I do not go to the doctor, so I do not have many opportunities to get tested so when it is left it becomes easy for me to get tested" (female, 18 years, HIVST user); whereas others pointed out the confidentiality of testing; "I think it's a good thing, because a person is sometimes scared to use while another person is present but if it is left for them that will be easy" (male, 15 years, HIVST user).

Table 1. Characteristics of study participants by study arm

	Control	Intervention	Total
N	1236 (100)	1445 (100)	2681 (100)
Absent			
Yes	843 (68.2)	911 (63.0)	1754 (65.4)
No	393 (31.8)	534 (37.0)	927 (34.6)
Reason for being absent			
Work	51 (6.0)	63 (6.9)	114 (6.5)
School	503 (59.4)	466 (50.9)	969 (55.0)
Within the village	109 (12.9)	151 (16.5)	260 (14.8)
Outside the village	166 (19.6)	226 (24.7)	392 (22.2)
Unknown	10 (1.2)	8 (0.9)	18 (1.0)
Other reasons	8 (0.9)	1 (0.1)	9 (0.5)
Age	17.0 (14.0 to 21.0)	18.0 (15.0 to 21.0)	18.0 (15.0 to 21.0
Gender			
Female	652 (52.8)	776 (53.7)	1428 (53.3)
Male	584 (47.2)	668 (46.3)	1252 (46.7)
Pregnant ^a			
Yes	18 (3.3)	35 (5.0)	53 (4.3)
No	522 (96.7)	662 (95.0)	1184 (95.7)
Main caregiver for the child ^b			
Mother	337 (56.8)	368 (56.1)	705 (56.4)
Father	51 (8.6)	74 (11.3)	125 (10.0)
Other family member	204 (34.4)	213 (32.5)	417 (33.4)
Friend	1 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (0.1)
Neighbour	0 (0.0)	1 (0.2)	1 (0.1)
Orphan ^b			
Yes, single orphan	130 (21.9)	126 (19.4)	256 (20.6)
Yes, double orphan	46 (7.7)	42 (6.5)	88 (7.1)
No	418 (70.4)	481 (74.1)	899 (72.3)
Years of schooling	7.0 (5.0 to 8.0)	7.0 (6.0 to 9.0)	7.0 (5.0 to 9.0)
Work			
Employed in Lesotho	55 (4.5)	79 (5.5)	134 (5.0)
Employed in RSA	17 (1.4)	14 (1.0)	31 (1.2)
Self-employed	24 (2.0)	28 (2.0)	52 (2.0)
Subsistence farming	71 (5.8)	63 (4.4)	134 (5.0)
No regular income/employment	305 (24.8)	365 (25.5)	670 (25.2)
Housewife	81 (6.6)	121 (8.4)	202 (7.6)
Student	665 (54.2)	753 (52.5)	1418 (53.3)
Child	10 (0.8)	10 (0.7)	20 (0.8)

^aOnly asked among female participants; ^bOnly asked among participants below 16 years of age. RSA, Republic of South Africa.

A few participants also raised concerns, mainly challenges related to pre-test counselling. Specifically, some noted that they did not feel ready to test; "I believe I need to think a lot before I can use it, so that I am ready to use the test. No, they did not prepare me in any way" (female, 20 years, HIVST non-user) or were afraid of the outcome; "I decided not to use it because I am afraid. If I find that I have the infection I would be stressed" (male, 15 years, HIVST non-user). Others added that no pre-test counselling happened at all; "I was not able to use it and it was not explained to me how it is used, so I was only told that it is there but I was not explained how

it is used when I get home" (female, 15 years, HIVST non-user).

Both groups were asked about what kind of additional support they would have wished to perform the HIVST that was left for them. A few mentioned better written instructions and adding audio assistance; "That we are left with something to listen to that explains how it is used" (male, 14 years, HIVST user). Someone suggested to hold a public gathering after the distribution; "I recommend that the next time there should be a public gathering, so as to inform people on how to use it, and how it will help them." (female, 17 years, HIVST user).



Figure 1. Testing coverage by cluster arm.^{\$}They declined testing during home visit and no follow-up testing outcome available. ^{\$}They were absent during home visit and no follow-up testing outcome available. AYA, adolescents and young adults.

However, most wished more adequate personal assistance by various personnel; "I could have said the village health worker should help me, to help me test for HIV" (female, 15 years, HIVST non-user); "...when it is a nurse who explains to me how this tool is used, and what it is used for" (female, 14 years, HIVST non-user); "If I had at least got it from the people who have left it or the people from the ministry I believe I could get the right support" (male, 21, HIVST user); "It is that I get assisted by my mother" (female, 16 years, HIVST non-user).

3.2.3 Views on VHW involvement

Both groups were interviewed about their view to involve the VHW in the follow-up of secondary distributed HIVST. The participants overwhelmingly expressed positive views. Some participants highlighted that the VHW can offer additional support and counselling; "This is a good idea because the village health worker can also be able to explain to people the use and results to them" (male, 21 years, HIVST user) and clarification; "I think it's good because we're going to make

Table 2. Quantitative outcome and subgroup analysis	
---	--

	Control	Intervention	Adjusted odds ratio ^a (95% CI)	p-value
ADORE quantitative outcome				
HIV testing coverage among AYA ^b	484/1236 (39%)	1086/1445 (75%)	8.80 (5.81 to 13.32)	< 0.001
Subgroup analysis on ADORE quantitativ	e outcome			
Gender				
Male	148/584 (25%)	467/668 (70%)	16.40 (8.35 to 32.24)	< 0.001
Female	336/652 (52%)	618/776 (80%)	5.78 (3.55 to 9.41)	< 0.001

CI, confidence interval. AYA, adolescents and young adults.

^aMulti-level logistic regression models adjusted for clustering (village and household as random effects) and stratification factors (district, village size, and access to health facility as fixed effects); ^bWithin 120 days of the home visit.

Table 3. Characteristics of interviewees

	HIVST users	HIVST non-users	Total
N	10	11	21
Age, median (IQR)	15.5 (13 to 17)	15 (14 to 19)	15 (14 to 19)
Female sex, n (%)	5 (50)	7 (64)	12 (57)
Years of schooling, median (IQR)	10 (8 to 12)	9 (8 to 12)	10 (8 to 12)
Single marital status, n (%)	10 (100)	11 (100)	21 (100)
HIV/AIDS-related knowledge, mean (SD)ª	5.78 (1.39) ^c	6.09 (1.14)	5.95 (1.23)
HIV/AIDS-related stigma, mean (SD) ^b	0.56 (0.88) ^c	0.64 (0.81)	0.6 (0.82)
Ever tested for HIV before, n (%)	8 (80)	9 (82)	17 (81)
Prefer blood-based testing (vs. oral-based)	2 (20)	4 (40)	6 (29)

^a10 items, 1 point each, the higher the better knowledge, using a validated questionnaire (Bowen et al. BMC Public Health (2016) 16:70); ^b8 items, 1 point each, the higher the more stigma, using a validated questionnaire (Bowen et al. BMC Public Health (2016) 16:70); ^c1 missing data.

mistakes then she can come back to help and show us we have to do this and that" (female, 18 years, HIVST user). Others emphasized the aspect of confidentiality; "Yes [the VHW] could pick them up, it's best because if it is one of those in our teens or young people they are likely to look at others but if it is an elderly person it is much better" (female, 20 years, HIVST non-user) and convenience; "Yes, [the VHW can] take them back to the people who distributed them" (male, 13 years, HIVST non-user).

However, one participant expressed major concerns. She argued that the VHW could disclose the status of the tested person, thus leading to discrimination in the village;

"To give to them? No. because in the village as I previously mentioned when a person has tested themselves and discovers that they are positive, since they will have to take it to the village health worker, they might think that when he meets you on the road here they may humiliate or tell other people, and then you will end up living in fear without selfesteem." (female, 20 years, HIVST non-user)

4 DISCUSSION

In sub-Saharan Africa HIV transmission remains disproportionally high among AYA. [4] Many national programmes for HIV testing appear not to address enough the needs and demands of AYA, resulting in low testing coverage and delayed access to care. [20] Using quantitative and qualitative methods, the ADORE study contributes to the literature on how to better reach AYA during home-based testing in rural Lesotho: Secondary distribution of oral HIV self-tests and subsequent follow-up by a VHW for AYA, who were initially absent or refused to test during a testing campaign, increased testing coverage within a period of four months by 36%. The existence of a long-standing VHW network in Lesotho – similar to many other sub-Saharan African countries – makes this model feasible and scalable with little additional costs. Findings from the qualitative research suggest that AYA perceived oral HIVST as a convenient and confidential way for getting tested, and that in general, VHWs appear to be a trusted lay cadre for the follow-up of HIVST.

As a caveat, even though distribution of oral HIVST increased testing coverage among AYA to 75%, it still fell short of the targeted 90% coverage, and 38% of the AYA who received a HIVST through secondary distribution did not use it. As stated during the in-depth interviews, a few AYA felt uncomfortable in doing the test alone, others stated, generally not being ready to test as they were afraid of the result. During the 4-month follow-up no HIV-positive test result was recorded. We may have to assume that a number of individuals who had a reactive HIVST result did not bring the test kit back to the VHW or the facility – at least not within the set outcome window. These caveats emphasize the importance of differentiated service deliveries for AYA – in line with current policies from international HIV agencies and the WHO [21,22].

Direct (i.e. primary) distribution of HIVST in sub-Saharan Africa has shown to successfully reach high testing rates among AYA across various testing modalities [23-26]. However, to our knowledge, ADORE is among the first studies exploring secondary distribution of HIVST during home-based HIV testing in AYA. A nested trial within HPTN 071 (PopART) investigated primary as well as secondary HIVST distribution during a door-to-door testing campaign [27]. This led to a moderate increase in coverage rates from 65% to 68% overall, and from 70% to 74% among young adults aged 16 to 29 years old. The authors, however, were not able to assess if the positive effect on coverage was driven by the primary or secondary distribution.

The benefit of secondary oral HIVST distribution in ADORE study was particularly high among male AYA, although overall testing coverage achieved remained below the coverage rate of female AYA. Among male AYA, testing coverage increased from 25% to 70% (Table 2). Given the generally lower access to HIV testing among men, particularly young men, this finding encourages national programmes to include secondary distribution of oral HIVST into any community-based HIV testing campaign. The PopArt nested study reported similar findings but with different effect sizes: By distributing HIVST in the intervention arm, the coverage significantly increased by 6% among male AYA, but only by 1% among female AYA [27]. The gender difference may be driven by the fact that more male AYA than female AYA are usually absent during home-based HIV testing [7]. In our study male AYA made up 57% (991/ 1754) of all absent household members. On the other hand, a recent cross-sectional study from the Democratic Republic of the Congo assessed preferences of HIV testing among 600 adolescents and concluded that home-based HIVST was preferred over facility-based testing, especially among male adolescents [28]. The fact of having more control over the testing process thanks to self-testing is particularly appealing to young men and may explain high uptake of testing [29].

During the global roll-out of HIVST concerns have been raised that HIVST may lead to unintended social harm. However, a systematic review [30], as well as a large-scale assessment within the STAR initiative [31] found little evidence to support this concern. During the follow-up of HIVST our VHW did not report any serious adverse events related to HIVST, nor did our interviewees.

Rather surprisingly, in our study interviewed AYA were almost unanimously in favour of integrating the VHW in the post-test process, which may indicate that the engagement of VHW in the HIV/AIDS response is acceptable for AYA in this setting. This is an encouraging finding in light of the UNAIDS 2017 initiative to recruit two million African community health workers ensuring an effective and sustainable response to the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa [32]. On the other hand, universal home-based testing may become less frequent in future as its yield of new HIV diagnoses has become extremely low and donors may reduce funding for such approaches.

Our study has several limitations. First, calculation of HIV testing coverage considered only those who either had a proof of recent testing (within the last four weeks) or tested within the study. Some individuals, particularly among those absent, may have tested for HIV at a different occasion or at facilities outside the study districts. Second, some may have used the test but did not return it to the VHW. Both factors would lead to an underestimation of the actual testing coverage. Third, purposive sampling for the qualitative interviews may have resulted in an interviewee population generally more open to healthcare services than individuals who could not be reached for or refused interviews. On the other hand, half of the interviewed participants did not make use of our intervention and thus may have contributed to a comprehensive picture. Overall, the qualitative data has insufficient depth with only 21 interviews but may still give a hint why the intervention worked. Fourth, a more extensive interview design would have been needed to thoroughly explore social harm of our intervention. Fifth, due to the design of the study we were not able to explore other follow-up methods after HIVST usage than by the VHW. Future research should investigate the optimal training of the present household member as well as the VHW, include phone numbers of nearby health personnel and VHW that can assist, and explore new technologies, such as audio and video instructions, for conducting the follow-up after secondary HIVST distribution.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

The ADORE study, conducted in Lesotho, Southern Africa, shows that secondary distribution of oral HIVST for AYA absent or refusing to test during home-based HIV testing results in an absolute 36% increase in testing coverage. Based on these findings we encourage secondary HIVST distribution for AYA who cannot be reached during testing campaigns. Secondary distribution should, however, go along with clear instructions on the use of oral HIVST and a possibility for AYA to easily access support if they wish so. In our study, village health workers who are mainly older female members of the community appear to be a trusted cadre for the follow-up

of distributed HIVST among AYA, as long as confidentiality is ensured.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland; ²University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ³Department of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ⁴SolidarMed, Partnerships for Health, Maseru, Lesotho

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

AA, JM, MK, NDL, TIL and TRG conceptualized and designed the study. AA and NDL drafted the first version of the manuscript. MK is the study coordinator and conducted the interviews. LK and MKa coordinated quantitative data collection. AA, MK and TIL analysed qualitative data. TRG analysed quantitative data. JM provided technical support. All authors read, critically revised and approved the final manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

AYA, Adolescents and Young Adults; ADORE, ADolescent ORal sElf-testing; CI, Confidence Interval; HIV, Human Immunodeficiency Virus; HIVST, HIV Self-Test (ing); HOSENG, HOme-based SElf-testiNG; IQR, Interquartile Range; OR, Odds Ratio; VHW, Village Health Worker; WHO, World Health Organization.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We recognize the hard work and valuable contributions of the study staff in both districts, the tireless support of the SolidarMed team in Lesotho as well as the District Health Management Teams in the study districts. We thank the involved health facilities and village health workers for their dedication to this project and we gratefully acknowledge the adolescents and young adults who participated in this trial.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the CIPHER grant from the International AIDS Society, obtained by AA, as well as two grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation (IZ07Z0_160876/1 & PCEFP3_181355), both obtained by NDL. The Swiss Institute of Tropical and Public Health is the sponsor of the study. AA receives a salary through a grant from the MD-PhD programme of the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant 323530_177576). The study is embedded in the SolidarMed country programme and thus benefits from their logistics, administration and human resources. The funding sources had no role in the design of the study, and were not involved in data collection, data analysis, interpretation of the results or writing of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. UNAIDS. Prevention gap report. 2016. [cited 2016 Apr 10]. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/UNAIDS_Gap_report_en. pdf

2. Staveteig S, Croft TN, Kampa KT, Head SK. Reaching the 'first 90': Gaps in coverage of HIV testing among people living with HIV in 16 African countries. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0186316.

3. UNICEF. HIV statistics - global and regional trends. UNICEF DATA. 2019. [cited 2020 Mar 8]. Available from: https://data.unicef.org/topic/hivaids/globalregional-trends/

4. UNAIDS data. 2019. [cited 2019 Nov 25]. Available from: https://www.unaid s.org/en/resources/documents/2019/2019-UNAIDS-data

5. UNICEF.For every child, end AIDS: seventh stocktaking report. UNICEF. 2016. [cited 2019 Nov 30]. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/publications/ index_93427.html

6. Suthar AB, Ford N, Bachanas PJ, Wong VJ, Rajan JS, Saltzman AK, et al. Towards universal voluntary HIV testing and counselling: a systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based approaches. PLoS Med. 2013;10: e1001496. 7. Labhardt ND, Ringera I, Lejone TI, Amstutz A, Klimkait T, Muhairwe J, et al. Effect and cost of two successive home visits to increase HIV testing coverage: a prospective study in Lesotho, Southern Africa. BMC Public Health. 2019;19:1441.

8. Sharma M, Ying R, Tarr G, Barnabas R. Systematic review and meta-analysis of community and facility-based HIV testing to address linkage to care gaps in sub-Saharan Africa. Nature. 2015;528:S77–85.

9. Indravudh P, Fielding K, Neuman M, Chilongosi R, Mkandawire P, Nyondo E, et al.Increasing knowledge of HIV status and demand for ART using communitybased HIV self-testing in rural communities: a cluster randomised trial in Malawi. 22nd International AIDS Conference (AIDS 2018), Amsterdam, Netherlands. THPDC0103.

10. Johnson CC, Kennedy C, Fonner V, Siegfried N, Figueroa C, Dalal S, et al. Examining the effects of HIV self-testing compared to standard HIV testing services: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21594.

11. Hatzold K, Gudukeya S, Mutseta MN, Chilongosi R, Nalubamba M, Nkhoma C, et al. HIV self-testing: breaking the barriers to uptake of testing among men and adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa, experiences from STAR demonstration projects in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25244.

12. Zerbe AV.Acceptability and uptake of home-based HIV self-testing in Lesotho. CROI Conference; 2015 Feb 23-26; Seattle, Washington. Abstract Number 1103. [cited 2017 May 26]. Available from: http://www.croiconference. org/sessions/acceptability-and-uptake-home-based-hiv-self-testing-lesotho.

13. Amstutz A, Lejone TI, Khesa L, Muhairwe J, Nsakala BL, Tlali K, et al. The HOSENG trial – Effect of the provision of oral self-testing for absent and refusing individuals during a door-to-door HIV-testing campaign on testing coverage: protocol of a cluster-randomized clinical trial in rural Lesotho. Trials. 2019;20:496.

14. Amstutz A, Lejone TI, Khesa L, Muhairwe J, Nsakala BL, Bresser M, et al. HOSENG trial - Home-based oral self-testing for absent and refusing individuals during a door-to-door HIV testing campaign: a cluster randomised clinical trial in rural Lesotho. The Lancet HIV. 2020. (in press)

15. LESOTHO. 2016 HTS GUIDELINES. FINAL May 2016.

16. Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. Many interviews are enough?: an experiment with data saturation and variability. Field Meth. 2006;18(1):59–82.

17. Lesotho 2016 National ART Guidelines. 2016. [cited 2016 Sep 15]. Available from: http://www.hivpolicywatchorgduremapsdataguidelinesLesothoART GuidelinesAllChaptersandAnnex2016pdf

 Holm-Hansen C, Nyombi B, Nyindo M. Saliva-based HIV testing among secondary school students in Tanzania using the OraQuick[®] rapid HIV1/2 antibody assay. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1098:461–6.

19. Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2013;13:117.

20. Ending the AIDS epidemic for adolescents, with adolescents. [cited 2020 Mar 8]. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2016/ ending-AIDS-epidemic-adolescents

21. Differentiated ART delivery for children, adolescents and pregnant and breastfeeding women. International AIDS Society. 2017. [cited 2020 Mar 8]. Available from: http://www.differentiatedservicedelivery.org/Guidance#title_diffe rentiated-_a_r_t-delivery-for-children_002c-adolescents-and-pregnant-and-brea stfeeding-women-

22. WHO. Providing differentiated delivery to children and adolescents. WHO. [cited 2020 Mar 8]. Available from: http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/paediatric/diff-delivery-children-hiv/en/

23. Choko AT, MacPherson P, Webb EL, Willey BA, Feasy H, Sambakunsi R, et al. Uptake, accuracy, safety, and linkage into care over two years of promoting annual self-testing for HIV in Blantyre, Malawi: a community-based prospective study. PLoS Med. 2015;12:e1001873.

24. Hector J, Davies M-A, Dekker-Boersema J, Aly MM, Abdalad CCA, Langa EBR, et al. Acceptability and performance of a directly assisted oral HIV self-testing intervention in adolescents in rural Mozambique. PLoS One. 2018;13: e0195391.

25. Tonen-Wolyec S, Batina-Agasa S, Muwonga J, Mboumba Bouassa R-S, Kayembe Tshilumba C, Bélec L. Acceptability, feasibility, and individual preferences of blood-based HIV self-testing in a population-based sample of adolescents in Kisangani, Democratic Republic of the Congo. PLoS One. 2019;14: e0218795.

26. Smith P, Wallace M, Bekker L-G. Adolescents' experience of a rapid HIV self-testing device in youth-friendly clinic settings in Cape Town South Africa: a cross-sectional community based usability study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19:21111.

27. Mulubwa C, Hensen B, Phiri MM, Shanaube K, Schaap AJ, Floyd S, et al. Community based distribution of oral HIV self-testing kits in Zambia: a cluster-randomised trial nested in four HPTN 071 (PopART) intervention communities. Lancet HIV. 2019;6:e81–92.

28. Tonen-Wolyec S, Mboumba Bouassa R-S, Batina-Agasa S, Tepungipame AT, Tshilumba CK, Bélec L. Sociodemographic characteristics of adolescents preferring home-based HIV self-testing over facility-based voluntary counseling and testing: a cross-sectional study in Kisangani, Democratic Republic of the Congo. Int J STD AIDS. 2020;31(5):481–7.

29. Indravudh PP, Sibanda EL, d'Elbée M, Kumwenda MK, Ringwald B, Maringwa G, et al. 'I will choose when to test, where I want to test': investigating young people's preferences for HIV self-testing in Malawi and Zimbabwe. AIDS Lond Engl. 2017;31 Suppl 3:S203–12.

30. Brown AN, Djimeu EW, Cameron DB. A review of the evidence of harm from self-tests. AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 4:S445–9.

31. Kumwenda MK, Johnson CC, Choko AT, Lora W, Sibande W, Sakala D, et al. Exploring social harms during distribution of HIV self-testing kits using mixed-methods approaches in Malawi. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25251.

32. UNAIDS. 2 million African community health workers - Harnessing the demographic dividend, ending AIDS and ensuring sustainable health for all in Africa. UNAIDS; 2017. (cited 2020 Mar 8). Available from: https://www.unaids. org/en/resources/documents/2017/African2mCHW

RESEARCH ARTICLE



"Because we all have to grow up": supporting adolescents in Uganda to develop core competencies to transition towards managing their HIV more independently

Chloe Lanyon¹, Janet Seeley^{2,3,4} , Stella Namukwaya³, Victor Musiime^{5,6}, Sara Paparini⁷, Helen Nakyambadde⁸, Christine Matama⁸, Anna Turkova⁹ and Sarah Bernays^{1,2,§}

[§]Corresponding author: Sarah Bernays, School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Edward Ford Building, Fisher Rd, Camperdown, 2006, NSW Australia. Tel: +61 2 9036 7137. (sarah.bernays@sydney.edu.au; sarah.bernays@lshtm.ac.uk)

Abstract

Introduction: Sustaining optimal adherence is the major challenge facing adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV), particularly in low-resource settings, where "second-line" is often the last accessible treatment option. We explored the knowledge and skills adolescents need in order to maintain improved adherence behaviours, and the specific ways clinicians and caregivers may support young people to do so more independently.

Methods: We conducted individual, in-depth interviews with 20 ALHIV aged 10 to 18 years in Uganda in 2017 to 2018. All participants had recently commenced second-line treatment as part of a clinical trial. We used thematic qualitative analysis to examine adherence experiences and challenges while on first-line therapy, as well as specific supports necessary to optimise treatment-taking longer-term.

Results: Adherence difficulties are exacerbated by relatively rapid shifts from caregiver-led approaches during childhood, to an expectation of autonomous treatment-taking with onset of adolescence. For many participants this shift compounded their ongoing struggles managing physical side effects and poor treatment literacy. Switching to second-line typically prompted reversion back to supervised adherence, with positive impacts on self-reported adherence in the immediate term. However, this measure is unlikely to be sustainable for caregivers due to significant caregiver burden (as on first line), and provided little opportunity for clinicians to guide and develop young people's capacity to successfully adopt responsibility for their own treatment-taking.

Conclusions: As ALHIV in sub-Saharan Africa are attributed increasing responsibility for treatment adherence and HIV management, they must be equipped with the core knowledge and skills required for successful, self-directed care. Young people need to be relationally supported to develop necessary *"adherence competencies"* within the supportive framework of a gradual *"transition"* period. Clinic conversations during this period should be adolescent-focussed and collaborative, and treatment-taking strategies situated within the context of their lived environments and support networks, to facilitate sustained adherence. The disclosure of adherence difficulties must be encouraged so that issues can be identified and addressed prior to treatment failure.

Keywords: adolescents; transition; paediatric; adherence; psychosocial support; viral suppression; HIV

Additional Supporting Information may be found online in the Supporting Information tab for this article.

Received 4 February 2020; Accepted 29 May 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

With vast improvements in survival resulting from effective prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) and antiretroviral treatment (ART) for HIV in high-burden, resource-stretched countries, adolescence has emerged as a critical priority area for HIV care [1-3]. Limited improvements in survival have been observed among this age-group relative to their paediatric and adult counterparts [3,4], and morbidity

rates among adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa are not declining at the same pace as other age groups [3]. As for other chronic conditions, provision of HIV care during adolescence is characterised by unique management challenges as major cognitive, psychosocial, physical and sexual developmental changes take place [5-8]. This is illustrated by relatively poorer HIV-care outcomes with high rates of attrition from clinical care services [9-11] and compromised ART adherence [10,12,13]. Accompanied by exploration of risk-associated sexual behaviours [14,15], this has far-reaching consequences for individuals and public health outcomes alike [16,17].

Importantly, adolescence involves the shift of responsibility for HIV care, from caregiver to adolescent [18]. To support the development of mechanisms which enable independent self-management of treatment compliance and health literacy among adolescents, there is a need to characterise the process of successful transition among adolescents, including development of evidence-based approaches to guide clinicians [10,19]. In high-burden, resource-stretched settings, the transition to adult care may not be demarcated by a discrete movement between paediatric and adult facilities as occurs in developed settings [20-23]. Thus, contextually appropriate approaches to formalising this process are needed to facilitate intentional adolescent capacity-development and treatment continuity [9,24].

In this paper, we conceptualise "transition" as being the shift young people make away from caregiver-driven (or "mediated") to increasingly autonomous, self-directed treatment-takbroader, and HIV care; accompanying the ing contemporaneous developmental transition toward independence. Our applied approach is grounded in the social-ecological theory for transition preparedness [25,26]; incorporating both individual elements of transition preparedness and consideration of the influential role of the surrounding physical and social environments and support systems [25,27]. We investigated the challenges encountered by ALHIV during the adolescent transition period, particularly those related to treatment-taking, and identified core competencies required to manage their health independently. And secondly, the specific ways in which clinicians and caregivers may equip ALHIV with the knowledge and skills required for successful transition to "adult" HIV care.

2 | METHODS

We present the results of a qualitative study conducted among 20 ALHIV (aged 10 to 18 years) attending a leading HIV clinic in Kampala, Uganda. The clinic is well-resourced, and offers separate paediatric and adult care. Transfer to adult care typically occurs once a young person is in their early twenties. This study was conducted over a 12-month time period: 2017 to 2018.

The study is a qualitative sub-study of the ongoing "ODYS-SEY" trial (Once-daily DTG based ART in Young people versus Standard thErapY) (NCT NCT02259127) [28]. The clinical trial is an open-label, randomised, non-inferiority, basket trial evaluating the efficacy and safety of DTG plus 2 nucleos(t)ides (NRTIs) versus standard of care in HIV-positive adolescents age <18 years starting first-line ART (ODYSSEY A) or switching to second-line (ODYSSEY B).

We recruited ALHIV who had experienced treatment failure (ODYSSEY B), as identified by high viral load or morbidity. These participants were presumed to be encountering adherence challenges and had recently commenced second-line treatment through the clinical trial. All clinical trial participants who were eligible to take part in the qualitative study were invited to do so, with the final five participants recruited purposively to ensure a representative balance of age and gender across the sample. Data were collected using in-depth, semi-structured interviews, which were conducted by trained local researchers in a private room within the paediatric clinic (caregivers were not present). The interview guide was developed based on knowledge from both the existing literature and the authors' previous research, but primarily focused on generating detailed accounts of individual experiences of treatment-taking within its broader context. It was then revised and adapted in light of emerging analytical areas of interest; including experiences of growing up with HIV; ART-adherence; expectations of adulthood and "adult" models of care; management of relationships and onward disclosure. We present findings from the first wave of interviews, in which participants reflected on their treatment experiences on first-line therapy, prior to switching.

All participants were aware of their HIV status prior to recruitment. Appropriate national and institutional ethics approvals were obtained, specifically, from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and the Joint Clinical Research Centre, Uganda. Participant consent or assent were obtained, and caregiver consent obtained for assenting participants aged younger than 18 years.

Audio-recorded interview data were transcribed verbatim and then translated into English for analysis. Participant identifying details were removed and pseudonyms applied. Transcript coding was done individually (manually) by the first and last author. These initial codes were discussed and reconciled into a Codebook. The Codebook was reviewed by the second and third author, who were familiar with the data. A thematic qualitative analysis was conducted, with emerging themes discussed between the authors to ensure the integrity of inductive data interpretation (including understanding of nuances specific to the local context). Deviant case analyses were conducted to attain representative depth of analysis.

3 | RESULTS

Table 1 presents participant characteristics. The experiences of participants reflected a range of diverse situations which shaped their capacity to adhere to their HIV treatment. However, all participants had recently been moved onto second-line ART, and all reported experiencing some challenges maintaining optimal adherence.

3.1 Individual-level (adolescent) considerations

3.1.1 | Evolving models of care

Our findings suggest adolescents are attributed more responsibility for their treatment-taking with increasing age, with dwindling involvement from their caregivers. Although participants anticipated becoming "fully responsible" for treatmenttaking "when [they] grow older" (George, male, age 10), we argue this expectation often faltered in reality as they were not adequately equipped with necessary accompanying knowledge and strategies to successfully navigate and sustain the complex demands of transition to self-care.

For several of our participants, the time period during which they had assumed responsibility for their own treatment-taking predated them being disclosed to regarding their diagnosis

Table 1. Participant characteristics (n = 20)

Sex	12 male, 8 female
Median age (age range)	14.5 years (10 to 18 years)
Mode of HIV infection	All participants had vertically acquired HIV
Antiretroviral therapy	All participants were receiving
	second-line ART therapy
Living situation/caregiver/s	13 were living with parent/s and 7 were living with wider family
Education and employment	17 were attending school, 2 were technical apprentices, 1 was employed
Clinical care centre	All were receiving care from the same paediatric HIV clinic

ART, antiretroviral therapy.

and understanding the necessity of consistent treatment-taking [29,30]. Dennis, male, age 14, shared how this knowledge deficit proved problematic for him:

"There were some problems, because there came a situation when I didn't know why I was taking this medicine, they took long to tell me... I was not taking them because I didn't know what they were for so I asked myself why I had to since I was young... I used to ask my mother many times but she would just say that you must take them... So when I stopped, on coming here the viral load went high to about 2000, and we went to the counsellor and they asked if I knew, and it was my mum to tell me... Before I knew that I had HIV it was difficult because I just didn't understand why I had to yet others were not taking."

3.1.2 | Knowledge deficits as a barrier to selfmanagement

Aligned with study inclusion criteria, all participants were aware of their HIV-positive status. At the time of data collection, however, HIV and related treatment literacy remained variable and frequently limited. Participants described garnering HIV-related information from non-specialist sources such as radio, television and overheard conversations between laypeople, and tended to absorb overly simplistic, blunt and often distressing messages. Zack male, age 15, recalls his reaction upon learning of his diagnosis in this way:

"I got so scared... I knew that I was going to die. Why did you think that you were going to die? They used to say that HIV kills. Where did you hear this? Over the radio and even amongst people."

Relevant information is typically provided in clinic visits. However, this appeared not to have been understood and integrated into the young people's knowledge. Thus, ambiguous explanations given during childhood often persisted unamended [31] rather than increasing in sophistication with maturity. Sophia, female, age 17, shared simply, "I was born with HIV." Some appeared unaware of their sizeable knowledge gaps and did not know to enquire. When prompted, however, many participants had specific questions related to their illness which had not yet been voiced. Representative of this issue, Denna, male, age 11, disclosed:

"Do you perhaps have any questions about your illness? Yes, I have always wanted to know where HIV came from. Have you ever asked your mother about this? Sometimes she is too busy so I get scared to ask. What about at the clinic? I fear the health care workers also. What do you think will happen if you asked them? I don't know but I fear and sometimes I forget."

Generally, understanding of specific administration requirements for treatment taking, such as appropriate timing, were hazy. When asked the time he was meant to take his medication, Mark, male, age 12, responded, "any time that I want." Jasmine, female, aged 17, shared a different concern:

"Sometimes I would find myself late and I would give up because I know that day is wasted... They told us that we can only take the medication at most five minutes passed the scheduled time."

Others were aware that they needed to take treatment every day, but struggled due to side-effects such as "headache and nausea" (Zack, male, age 15), presuming these to be unavoidable.

3.1.3 | Individual adherence strategies

At the time of being interviewed, all knew why they were taking treatment, and the majority had grasped that adherence was important. Sam, male, age 12, shared, "I want to take my medication for my survival." Similarly frightened by the prospect of switching, Denna, male, age 11, resolved he would "make an extra effort to take medication at all the times [he was] supposed to take them." However, renewed commitment in the absence of additional support may be less likely to succeed. A handful of participants had devised individual strategies to support adherence. Teddy, female, age 14, and Ethan, male, age 18, set alarms to prompt them to take their treatment; Lazarus, male, age 18, took his at the time of a particular television programme, and Mariam, female, age 14, upon Muslim call to prayer. Jasmine, female, age 17, initiated changing the time of administration to facilitate adherence:

"I would wake up late but I had to go to school and yet I had not yet showered, so before I know it is getting to 7am yet I have not yet taken my medication, so I decided to change it."

The development and use of these individual adherence strategies indicates a willingness and evolving capacity to selfcare, however, these self-driven, apparently autonomous approaches were exceptional; and the need for additional support is evidenced by their need to transition to second-line therapy despite their individual efforts.

3.2 | Interpersonal-level considerations (caregivers, schools, workplaces)

3.2.1 | Caregiver-mediated treatment-taking

During childhood and early adolescence, capacity for self-care exists within the framework of caregiver-dependence and support. Dan, male, age 17, shared; "they (grandparents) are the ones who give me the money for transport to come to the clinic, they also ensure that I have juice or milk to take with my medication." In later adolescence, some participants continued to benefit from caregiver support in contingency management. Sheena, female, age 17, explained; "if I don't feel well, I let her (mother) know and she finds a solution." Extended family and siblings assisted with providing support for several participants. In other accounts, however, caregivers were unsure how to respond to concerns and crisis situations arising in the home environment. Their capacity to respond appeared to be determined by the extent to which they had been equipped by healthcare workers with accessible resources and strategies.

3.2.2 | Transfer, rather than transition, of responsibility

Caregivers frequently struggled to juggle work and caring commitments. Denna, male, age 11, shared his impression that his mother was "too busy" to respond to questions about his illness. Ethan, male, age 18, similarly explained his grandmother "is usually busy, so she may not know that I take my medicine." Given these limitations, transfer of responsibility for treatment-taking may have necessarily occurred in an unplanned, abrupt manner, rather than being implemented gradually; leaving young people with unreliable treatment supporters, or for some, "no people to remind or to help them" (Sophia, female, age 17).

Being moved to second-line treatment prompted more intensive adherence support, as Bob, male, age 15, recalls: "because I was missing, they (caregivers) started to give me my medication." While reverting to caregiver-mediated treatment taking may be initially helpful, this approach fails to address underlying causes of non-adherence, and previous difficulties encountered by caregivers are likely to resurface; making this unlikely to be a sustainable model of support.

3.2.3 | Caregiver-mediated competency development

A handful of participants shared strategies implemented by their caregivers which developed their ability to self-manage treatment-taking, evolving to a model of "supporting" rather than "delivering" treatment. For example, Zack, male, aged 15, reported; "I take my medication at the same time with mother, so if one of us has forgotten we remind each other." Dan, male, aged 17, shared; "I keep my medicine in their (grandparents) bedroom on a table, so in the evenings I go with my milk to their bedroom then I show them [that I] take the medicine." In both scenarios, the adolescent is encouraged to initiate taking treatment on time, but within a protective net of indirect caregiver supervision. Other caregivers provided psychological support for their children with notable benefit. Jasmine, female, age 17, shared: "I told him that I was fed up of taking the medication every day, but he (father) told me that I have to take my medication, and I insisted and told him that I was fed up, then he encouraged me."

3.2.4 | Role of schools and workplaces

The benefit of collaboration with schools (and for older adolescents, workplaces) also proved to be an essential aspect of navigating impediments to treatment. For example, by approving absences necessary to attend HIV clinic appointments, providing education ("they taught us about HIV in class;" Sheena, female, age 17), combatting stigma when teachers "treat us (HIV-positive children) just like the other children" (Teddy, female, age 14), and discreetly storing and distributing ART medication.

We found that maintaining the confidentiality of HIV status was a universal priority, in light of significant concerns about bullying and stigma, and yet many participants lacked strategies to manage their treatment-taking discreetly in their school, workplace and (for some) HIV-discordant home environments. This issue created critical difficulties within boarding school contexts (in the absence of necessary support) as Saidat, female, age 16, recalls:

"When I was in boarding school, I would be afraid to remove my medication to take it in the presence of the other students... because they will make fun of me or feel disgusted by me, like they do with the other children."

Lazarus, male, age 18, also avoided taking medication to work because "the pills were too big, as soon as someone else saw them they would instantly know... that I am sick." Not always verbalised, these issues persisted unacknowledged; and in Saidat's particular case, resulted in a period of compromised adherence totalling "three years."

3.3 | Organization-level considerations (providers, clinicians)

3.3.1 Adolescent-centred clinical interactions

The role of clinicians is central to the facilitation of transitions towards inter-dependent self-management of treatment adherence, however, we observed occasions where the structure of clinical interactions posed a significant barrier to their potential effectiveness. We found that caregivers rather than adolescents were often positioned at the centre of consultations, and that this had not necessarily evolved as they aged (particularly for those who had attended the clinic since childhood). Mariam, female, age 14, described a recent appointment where she was not addressed directly by the clinician:

"Sometimes (the counsellor) speaks to me, but many times she speaks to Mummy. Today what did you speak about with the counsellor? She was writing in the file and Mummy was answering her."

Inadvertent exclusion of adolescents from clinical interactions appeared to limit the development of their health literacy and ability to self-care, and emerged as being particularly problematic when caregiver support was withdrawn. Despite these challenges, enthusiasm to engage with clinicians and in health education persisted. Teddy, female, age 14, shared her (yet unmet) desire to learn more about HIV; "I like coming here because I am keen to know about my health. Do they tell you about your health when you come here? No they do not tell me, but I would like to know."

3.3.2 | Clinician-mediated competency development

It is revealing that participants were very responsive to instances when clinicians had initiated discussion and provided counselling. Jasmine, female, age 17, demonstrated how fostering disclosure of adherence difficulties can lead to their timely resolution, such as through joint problem solving;

"I told a health care worker that I take my medication in the morning at 7am and when I come back from school at 6pm... but I told her that time is sometimes challenging for me. The counsellor told me that I could choose a time that was more convenient for me, and from that time I started to choose the time when to take my medication myself."

In an environment where disclosure of HIV-positive status remains complex and challenging in the community setting, clinicians may be the only contacts other than the primary caregiver or immediate family to be aware of an adolescent's HIV-positive status. Sheena, female, age 17, shared:

"I want to tell people what it is like for me taking the medicine, I would like them to encourage me. Mainly things to do with my treatment... I would like to speak to a friend."

Clinicians have a potentially vital role to play as key supporters of psychological as well as physical wellbeing; central to holistic care and adolescent resilience. Teddy, female, age 14, shared the benefit she received by partaking in the clinical trial: "the study helps encourage us to take our medication well, and not feel sad and isolate ourselves."

4 DISCUSSION

In accordance with the wider chronic disease literature describing best practice management during adolescence, our findings indicate that a deliberate "transitional" period in HIV care is required to facilitate successful transfer of HIV-management responsibility, from caregiver to adolescent [7,22-23,32]. We suggest adopting a social-ecological approach to the evolving model of care provision during this life-stage [25], incorporating both individual elements of transition preparedness, and harnessing the influential role of surrounding physical and social environments and available support systems [25,27].

Individuals must be equipped with core competencies required to engage with, and manage, the transition to autonomous treatment-taking and HIV care; for example, HIV literacy, self-efficacy and skill-acquisition, beliefs, goals and expectations, and psychosocial wellbeing [25,27]. The nature

and implications of their diagnosis, rationale and window of opportunity to take treatment daily, and strategies to manage missed doses and medication side-effects are essential to adherence counselling. For this purpose, established "transition checklists" may provide a valuable tool to broadly establish the extent of individual transition preparedness and guide ongoing care (where adapted, contextually suitable checklists are available [33,34]). We suggest that HIV-counselling content increase in sophistication pre-emptively with evolving maturity [35-37]. Ultimately, the optimal timing and rate of adolescent transition should be tailored to the neurocognitive developmental status of the individual, based on longitudinal assessment and contemporaneous understanding of individual capacity [25,38], rather than chronological age [39].

As young people mature, the relational influence of caregivers (who typically determine the success of HIV care during childhood) remains integral. However, the onset of adolescence should herald the onset of a deliberate, developmentally appropriate transition period which increasingly supports adolescents to partner with their treating clinicians directly [23,40]. Schools and workplaces may facilitate the transition process by providing supportive environments; in particular, by offering logistical assistance such as discreet treatment storage and medical leave.

This approach emphasizes that effective care during the transitional adolescent period entails a joint approach, which actively involves clinician, caregiver and adolescent collaboratively in the therapeutic process [7,25,38]. Aligned with the core foundation of social-ecological theory as pioneered by Bronfenbrenner [41], the adolescent should be positioned at the centre of the transition framework, and more specifically, at the centre of clinical interactions. Such encounters should foster an environment of uninhibited discussion, collaboration and support [11,29,40,42]. We found that treatment regimens were far more likely to be successful when they were developed in consultation with individual young people themselves [6,21,23,43]. This may be achieved by eliciting and seriously considering the priorities of ALHIV, such as preserving secrecy of their HIV-positive status, engaging in education and employment opportunities, establishing peer and intimate relationships, and maintaining realistic hope for the future [42,44-47]. Treatment plans should be adapted to contextual factors [6,8,23], such as by tailoring scheduled times for treatmenttaking to prevent conflict with school and work commitments. In this way, regimen tolerability may be optimised, adherence incentivized and barriers to adherence pre-emptively addressed [39,48,49]. Similarly, when adherence is compromised, rather than conceptualising a young person as having "failed" in this regard (which may limit disclosure of future adherence challenges [29,48]), they should be re-framed as being the expert on their own individual circumstances [48,50]. Thereby, encouraging the adolescent to engage with caregivers and clinicians alike to identify their specific support needs [13,37,39,48]. Provision of training for healthcare professionals in the delivery of adolescent-centred care is likely to convey benefit to HIV-care outcomes by optimising the efficacy of therapeutic encounters [9,21,23,40]. Clinical interventions should be paired with strategic engagement of caregivers and relevant stakeholders (including teachers and employers) to foster supportive environments; integral to adolescent success during the transition period.

4.1 | Strengths and limitations

Previous qualitative research conducted among children and adolescents in similar settings has demonstrated their tendency to ration the candour with which they speak about adherence challenges, due to a desire to protect themselves and their relationships with others; given the moralized nature of discussions surrounding adherence [29,31,42]. A significant strength of this study is the recruitment of participants who had recently transitioned to second-line therapy. This provided us with a unique opportunity to discuss adherence challenges as being in the past, after they had been acknowledged; thereby facilitating greater transparency in participants' accounts.

A potential limitation of this study is that the clinic in which it was conducted is a relatively well-resourced speciality HIV centre, as such, our findings risk over-estimating the resources available in smaller, more remote settings. Conscious of this, we have focussed on transition as primarily taking place in community settings (homes and schools) with clinician guidance provided only during scheduled clinic appointments; an approach which should be replicable.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

As ALHIV are attributed greater responsibility for their treatment-taking and management, they must be equipped with the essential knowledge and capabilities required. Our findings suggest improved HIV outcomes in high-burden, resourcestretched settings may be achieved through the implementation of an intentional "transition period" in HIV care, incrementally supporting adolescents toward sustainable, autonomous management. We suggest adopting a social-ecological approach to transition care, whereby ALHIV are relationally supported in clinic, home, school and workplace environments to develop necessary "adherence competencies;" specifically, through ongoing dialogue about HIV treatment literacy; routine management; identification of contingency strategies should social or physical environmental factors impede treatment taking; and disclosure of adherence difficulties as standard practice (allowing barriers to be addressed early). The proposed approach acknowledges the evolving relationship between adolescent, caregiver and clinician, and fosters efficacious collaboration in relation to HIV care throughout the dynamic transition process.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia; ²Department of Global Health and Development, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ³MRC/UVRI and LSHTM Uganda Research Unit, Entebbe, Uganda; ⁴Africa Health Research Institute (AHRI), Durban, South Africa; ⁵Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Makerere University, Kampala, Uganda; ⁷Nuffield Department, Joint Clinical Research Department, Sciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom; ⁸Research Department, Joint Clinical Research Centre, Kampala, Uganda; ⁷Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom; ⁸Research Department, Joint Clinical Research Centre, Kampala, Uganda; ⁹Clinical Trials Unit, University College London, London, United Kingdom

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors have no competing interest to declare.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

SB and JS designed the study which forms the basis of the data presented in this manuscript, with the support of SP and VM. SN collected the data with the supervision and support of SB and JS. VM contributed to the overview of data collection with JS and SB. Data analysis and drafting of the manuscript was done by CL and SB with support provided by JS, SN and SP. HN and CM contributed to data management and early contributions to data analysis. AT and VM contributed to the development of the manuscript. All authors read, reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The ODYSSEY trial was sponsored by the Paediatric European Network for Treatment of AIDS (PENTA) Foundation. The study received funding from ViiV Healthcare. The MRC Clinical Trials Unit at UCL receives core support from the UK Medical Research Council (grant number MC_UU_12023/26). INSERM-ANRS supports the trial in France. The PENTA Foundation provides support to sites in Europe. The funders had no direct role in the writing of the manuscript or decision to submit it for publication. We thank all the children, caregivers and staff members at all the centres participating in the study. We would also like to thank Erica Bro for her contributions to background analysis.

REFERENCES

1. Khalifa A, Stover J, Mahy M, Idele P, Porth T, Lwamba C. Demographic change and HIV epidemic projections to 2050 for adolescents and young people aged 15–24. Global Health Action. 2019;12(1):15–24.

2. Wong VJ, Murray KR, Phelps BR, Vermund SH, McCarraher DR. Adolescents, young people, and the 90–90–90 goals: a call to improve HIV testing and linkage to treatment. AIDS. 2017;31 Suppl 3:S191–4.

3. UNICEF. Children and AIDS: Statistical Update. 2017 [cited 2020 January 15]. Available from: https://data.unicef.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ HIVAIDS-Statistical-Update-2017.pdf

4. Slogrove AL, Mahy M, Armstrong A, Davies MA. Living and dying to be counted: What we know about the epidemiology of the global adolescent HIV epidemic. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(S3):21520.

5. UNAIDS. Global HIV & AIDS statistcs – 2018 fact sheet. 2018 [cited 2020 January 15]. Available from: http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet

6. Drotar D. Physician behavior in the care of pediatric chronic illness: association with health outcomes and treatment adherence. Journal of Development and Behavioral Pediatrics. 2009;30(3):246–54.

7. Machado DM, Succi RC, Turato ER. Transitioning adolescents living with HIV/ AIDS to adult-oriented health care: an emerging challenge. J Pediatr. 2010;86 (6):465–72.

8. UNICEF. Adolescent research briefs. 2017 [cited 2020 January 15]. Available from: https://www.unicef-irc.org/adolescent-research-methods/

9. Dahourou DL, Gautier-Lafaye C, Teasdale CA, Renner L, Yotebieng M, Desmonde S, et al. Transition from paediatric to adult care of adolescents living with HIV in sub-Saharan Africa: challenges, youth-friendly models, and outcomes. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21528.

10. Bailey H, Cruz MLS, Songtaweesin WN, Puthanakit T. Adolescents with HIV and transition to adult care in the Caribbean, Central America and South America, Eastern Europe and Asia and Pacific regions. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21475.

11. Ryscavage P, Macharia T, Patel D, Palmeiro R, Tepper V. Linkage to and retention in care following healthcare transition from pediatric to adult HIV care. AIDS Care. 2016;28(5):561–5.

12. Hudelson C, Cluver L. Factors associated with adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adolescents living with HIV/AIDS in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review. AIDS Care. 2015;27(7):805–16.

13. Pinzón-Iregui MC, Ibanez G, Beck-Sagué C, Halpern M, Mendoza RM. "... like because they will make fun you are a grownup, you do not need help": experiences of transition from pediatric to adult care among youth with perinatal HIV infection, their caregivers, and health care providers in the Dominican Republic. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care. 2017;16(6):579–87.

14. Toska E, Pantelic M, Meinck F, Keck K, Haghighat R, Cluver L. Sex in the shadow of HIV: a systematic review of prevalence, risk factors, and interventions to reduce sexual risk-taking among HIV-positive adolescents and youth in sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0178106.

15. Louis-Jacques J, Samples C. Caring for teens with chronic illness: risky business? Curr Opin Pediatr. 2011;23(4):367–72.

16. Idele P, Gillespie A, Porth T, Suzuki C, Mahy M, Kasedde S, et al. Epidemiology of HIV and AIDS among adolescents. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;66:S144–53.

17. Ford N, Ball A, Baggaley R, Vitoria M, Low-Beer D, Penazzato M, et al. The WHO public health approach to HIV treatment and care: looking back and looking ahead. Lancet. 2018;18(3):e76–86.

18. Blum RW, Garell D, Hodgman CH, Jorissen TW, Okinow NA, Orr DP, et al. Transition from child-centered to adult health-care systems for adolescents with chronic conditions. A position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. J Adolesc Health. 1993;14(7):570–6.

19. Judd A, Sohn AH, Collins IJ. Interventions to improve treatment, retention and survival outcomes for adolescents with perinatal HIV-1 transitioning to adult care: Moving on up. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2016;11(5):477–86.

20. Lam PK, Fidler S, Foster C. A review of transition experiences in perinatally and behaviourally acquired HIV-1 infection; same, same but different? J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21506.

21. Tepper V, Zaner S, Ryscavage P. HIV healthcare transition outcomes among youth in North America and Europe: a review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21490.

22. Kordonouri O. Transition of care for young adults with chronic diseases. Lancet Child Adolescent Health. 2017;1(4):251–3.

23. DeSouza F, Paintsil E, Brown T, Pierre R, Keene D, Kim N, et al. Transfer is not a transition – voices of Jamaican adolescents with HIV and their health care providers. AIDS Care. 2019;31(3):293–7.

24. Badejo OA, Menson WNA, Sam-Agudu NA, Pharr J, Erekaha S, Bruno T, et al. Pediatric to adult healthcare transitioning for adolescents living with HIV in Nigeria: a national survey. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0198802.

25. Schwartz LA, Tuchman LK, Hobbie WL, Ginsberg JP. A social-ecological model of readiness for transition to adult-oriented care for adolescents and young adults with chronic health conditions. Child Care Health Dev. 2011;37 (6):883–95.

26. Seeley J. HIV and East Africa: thirty years in the shadow of an epidemic. London: Routledge; 2014.

27. Wang G, Mcgrath BB, Watts C. Health care transitions among youth with disabilities or special health care needs: an ecological approach. J Pediatr Nurs. 2010;25(6):505–50.

28. (PENTA20) O. A randomised trial of dolutegravir-based antiretroviral therapy vs. standard of care in children with HIV infection starting first-line or switching to second-line antiretroviral therapy [cited 2020 January 15]. Available from: http://www.ctu.mrc.ac.uk/our_research/research_areas/hiv/studies/od yssey penta20/

29. Bernays S, Paparini S, Seeley J, Rhodes T. "Not Taking it Will Just be Like a Sin": young people living with hiv and the stigmatization of less-than-perfect adherence to antiretroviral therapy. Med Anthropol. 2017;36(5):485–99.

30. Namukwaya S, Paparini S, Seeley J, Bernays S. "How Do We Start? And How Will They React?" Disclosing to young people with perinatally acquired HIV in Uganda. Public Health. 2017;5:343.

31. Bernays S, Paparini S, Gibb D, Seeley J. When information does not suffice: young people living with HIV and communication about ART adherence in the clinic. Vulnerable Child Youth Stud. 2016;11(1):60–8.

32. Dowshen N, D'Angelo L. Health care transition for youth living with HIV/ AIDS. Pediatrics. 2011;128(4):762–71.

33. Mushimiyimana F, Asiimwe K, Tuyisenge L, Rogo T. Transition readiness assessment for young adults living with HIV followed at university teaching hospital of Kigali. Rwanda Med J. 2018;75(4):1–7.

34. NASCOP. Guidelines on use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV Infection in Kenya 2016. Nairobi: Ministry of Health; 2016.

 Lowenthal ED, Bakeera-Kitaka S, Marukutira T, Chapman J, Goldrath K, Ferrand RA. Perinatally acquired HIV infection in adolescents from sub-Saharan Africa: a review of emerging challenges. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(7):627–39.
 Lolekha R, Boon-Yasidhi V, Na-Nakorn Y, Manaboriboon B, Vandepitte WP, Martin M, et al. The Happy Teen programme: a holistic outpatient clinic-based approach to prepare HIV-infected youth for the transition from paediatric to

adult medical care services in Thailand. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21500. 37. Mark D, Armstrong A, Andrade C, Penazzato M, Hatane L, Taing L, et al. HIV treatment and care services for adolescents: a situational analysis of 218 facilities in 23 sub-Saharan African countries. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21591. 38. Sadof M, Kaslovsky R. Adolescent Asthma: a developmental approach. Curr

Opin Pediatr. 2011;23(4):373–8. 39. Machado DM. Galando E. Susci, P.C. Vierica, C.M. Turato, E.R. Adolescente

39. Machado DM, Galanob E, Succi RC, Vierira CM, Turato ER. Adolescents growing with HIV/AIDS: experiences of the transition from paediatrics to adult care. Braz J Infect Dis. 2016;20(3):229–34.

Bora K, White K. How can health professionals enhance interpersonal communication with adolescents and young adults to improve health care outcomes?: systematic literature review. Int J Adolesc Youth. 2018;23(2):198–218.
 Bronfenbrenner U. The ecology of human development: experiments by

nature and design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press; 1979. 42. Kawuma R, Bernays S, Siu G, Rhodes T, Seeley J. 'Children will always be children': exploring perceptions and experiences of HIV-positive children who may not take their treatment and why they may not tell. Afr J AIDS Res. 2014;13(2):189–95.

43. Forman SF, Woods ER. Youth, risks, and chronic illness. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2011;23(4):365–6.

44. Li RJ, Jaspan HB, O'Brien V, Rabie H, Cotton MF, Nattrass N. Positive futures: a qualitative study on the needs of adolescents on antiretroviral therapy in South Africa. AIDS Care. 2010;22(6):751–8.

45. Tulloch O, Theobald S, Ananworanich J, Chasombat S, Kosalaraksa P, Jirawattanapisal T, et al. From transmission to transition: lessons learnt from the Thai paediatric antiretroviral programme. PLoS One. 2014;9:e99061.

46. Folayan MO, Odetoyinbo M, Harrison A, Brown B. Addressing the socio-development needs of adolescents living with HIV/AIDS in Nigeria: a call for action. Afr J Reprod Health. 2014;18(3 0 0):93–101.

47. Okawa S, Mwanza Kabaghe S, Mwiya M, Kikuchi K, Jimba M, Kankasa C, et al. Psychological well-being and adherence to antiretroviral therapy among adolescents living with HIV in Zambia. AIDS Care. 2018;30(5):634–42.

48. Persson A, Newman C. When HIV-positive children grow up: a critical analysis of the transition literature in developed countries. Qual Health Res. 2012;22(5):656–67.

49. Simons LE, Logan DE, Chastain L, Cerullo M. Engagement in multidisciplinary interventions for pediatric chronic pain: parental expectations, Barriers, and Child Outcomes. Clin J Pain. 2010;26(4):291–9.

50. UNAIDS. Active involvement of young people is key to ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030. 2015 [cited 2020 January 15]. Available from: https://www.unaid s.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2015/august/20150812_PACT

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Appendix S1. ODYSSEY TRIAL TEAM*

SHORT REPORT



Reproductive aspirations, contraception use and dual protection among adolescent girls and young women: the effect of motherhood and HIV status

Elona Toska^{1,2,3,§}* (**b**), Lucie Cluver^{3,4}* (**b**), Christina A Laurenzi⁵ (**b**), Camille Wittesaele^{3,6}, Lorraine Sherr⁷, Siyanai Zhou^{1,8} and Nontokozo Langwenya^{1,9}

[§]Corresponding author: Elona Toska, 4.89 Leslie Social Science Building, 12 University Avenue South, University of Cape Town, Rondebosch 7700, Cape Town, South Africa. Tel: +2 721 650 5158. (elona.toska@uct.ac.za) *These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Abstract

Introduction: There is a growing interest in adolescent motherhood and HIV among policymakers and programme implementers. To better shape services and health outcomes, we need evidence on reproductive aspirations and contraception use in this high-risk group, including the effect of motherhood and HIV status. We report data from a large survey of adolescent girls and young women conducted in a mixed rural-urban district in South Africa.

Methods: Quantitative interviews were conducted with 1712 adolescent girls and young women (ages 10 to 24): 336 adolescent mothers living with HIV (AMLHIV), 454 nulliparous adolescent girls living with HIV (ALHIV), 744 HIV-negative adolescent mothers (control adolescent mothers) and 178 HIV-negative nulliparous adolescent girls (nulliparous controls) in 2018 to 2019. Standardized questionnaires included socio-demographic measures, reproductive health and contraception experiences. Reproductive aspirations were measured as the number of children participants wanted to have. Dual protection was computed as use of both hormonal and barrier contraception or abstinence. Multivariate logistic regression and marginal effects models in STATA 15 were used to test associations between HIV status, adolescent motherhood and outcomes of reproductive aspirations, contraception use and dual protection, controlling for covariates.

Results and discussion: Nearly 95% of first pregnancies were unintended. Over two-thirds of all participants wanted two or more children. Hormonal contraception, condom use and dual protection were low across all groups. In multivariate regression modelling, ALHIV were less likely to report hormonal contraception use (aOR 0.55 95% CI 0.43 to 0.70 $p \le 0.001$). In marginal effects modelling, adolescent mothers – independent of HIV status – were least likely to report condom use at last sex. Despite higher probabilities of using hormonal contraception, rates of dual protection were low: 17.1% among control adolescent mothers and 12.4% among AMLHIV. Adolescent mothers had the highest probabilities of not using any contraceptive method: 29.0% among control mothers and 23.5% among AMLHIV.

Conclusions: Among adolescent girls and young women in HIV-endemic communities, reproductive aspirations and contraceptive practices affect HIV risk and infection. Tailored adolescent-responsive health services could help young women plan their pregnancies for when they are healthy and well-supported, and help interrupt the cycle of HIV transmission by supporting them to practice dual protection.

Keywords: adolescents; motherhood; HIV; contraception; dual protection; South Africa

Received 13 January 2020; Accepted 3 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

More than 50% of all births in sub-Saharan Africa are to 15to-19-year-old women [1]. By 2030, there will be nearly 1.5 million adolescent and young mothers living with HIV worldwide [2]. The majority of these pregnancies are unintended, and may result from violent and inequitable relationships [3-6]. Despite these difficult first pregnancies, qualitative research from sub-Saharan Africa suggests that adolescent girls and young women have strong reproductive aspirations, regardless of their HIV status. To date, no quantitative research has examined the effect of HIV status and mother-hood on reproductive aspirations and practices.

The children of adolescent mothers have higher risks of preterm birth, low birthweight and mortality [7-10]. Adolescent mothers are less likely to access contraception services and use postpartum contraception [11]. Nearly half of all unintended pregnancies among adolescent mothers end with

terminations of pregnancy, most of which are unsafe [12,13]. Moreover, in several sub-Saharan African countries, many adolescent girls and young women report more than one pregnancy before age 20 [14], including adolescent girls living with HIV (ALHIV) [10,17,18]. Rapid repeat pregnancies within adolescence may pose further biological, developmental and economic risks for both the mother and her children.

The risks facing adolescent mothers are amplified for those living with HIV, who face additional vulnerabilities [17-19]. Adolescents living with HIV who become pregnant experience less consistent engagement in antenatal and HIV care, intermittent viral suppression [20-22], delayed initiation of antiretroviral therapy (ART) [23] and poorer access to infant HIV testing [24-26]. Consequently, adolescent mothers living with HIV (AMLHIV) in sub-Saharan Africa are likelier than older mothers with HIV to transmit HIV to their children [26], despite global reductions in vertical HIV transmission [27].

More evidence about the syndemic of adolescent pregnancy and HIV is needed to inform future programming [18]. We present initial findings from a large study of adolescent mothers living with and without HIV, with comparison groups of nulliparous adolescent girls (N = 1712). This study addresses two important questions: First, how do reproductive aspirations, contraception use and dual protection practices of adolescent girls and young women vary by motherhood? Second, do experiences differ by adolescent mothers' HIV status?

2 | METHODS

The study was conducted in a mixed urban-rural health district of the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. We interviewed n = 1712 adolescent girls and young women between March 2018 to July 2019, of whom n = 1027 had delivered their first child before age 20. We utilized six parallel sampling strategies to reach adolescent mothers (independent of their HIV status), alongside nulliparous adolescent girls with matched demographic profiles. An advisory group of adolescent mothers co-developed these recruitment methods with the research team for hard-to-reach adolescent mothers. For each recruitment channel, we recorded refusals and consenting adolescents. First, we included all district health facilities (n = 73). In health facilities, we searched all patient files of adolescent girls (10 to 19 years) who had ever initiated HIV treatment (whether still in HIV care or not) and interviewed them at home - 97% enrolled. Second, we used case files at all maternity obstetric units (n = 9) to identify all adolescent mothers (including AMLHIV) who were contacted through nurses, community healthcare workers in person or over the phone - 95% enrolled. Third, we randomly selected district secondary schools (n = 43) and interviewed adolescent girls who had recently given birth or dropped out of school due to pregnancy or motherhood - 98% enrolled. Fourth, we interviewed neighbouring adolescent girls of those approached through clinic files, which reduced any unintended stigmatization and provided a demographically matched control group. Fifth, we used referrals by social workers and NGO service providers to identify adolescent mothers who may be especially vulnerable – all eligible enrolled in the study (n = 95). Lastly, we included community referrals by adolescent mothers themselves - important in contexts where many adolescents do not access any services – all those eligible enrolled (n = 51).

Voluntary informed consent was obtained from adolescents and their caregivers when adolescents were under 18, following international and national guidelines for consent among vulnerable populations. Data collection tools were piloted with n = 25 ALHIV and nine adolescent mothers. Ethical approvals were obtained from the Universities of Oxford (R48876/ RE001,SSD/CUREC2/12–21) and Cape Town (HREC226/ 2017,CSSR2013/4), Eastern Cape Departments of Health and Basic Education and participating health and educational facilities. Participants did not receive financial remuneration, but were awarded a participation certificate and small gift pack selected by our Teen Advisory Group, including toiletries for adolescents and infants.

We used measures and scales validated in South Africa, where possible. Socio-demographic items (age, residence type (rural/urban), housing (formal/informal), household poverty and food insecurity) have been reported in detail elsewhere [19,28]. Age at first parity was measured through self-report and validated with oldest child age from children's medical records. Unintended first pregnancy was measured by assessing whether the pregnancy resulting in the first child was unwanted or unplanned. Reproductive aspiration was measured by asking how many children participants desire and was dichotomized for analyses (1 = want 2 or more children; 0 = wants none or 1 child). Hormonal contraception was computed from three variables: current self-reported use of oral contraceptives, injectables or implant: participants reporting using any form was coded as 1. Condom use at last sex was defined as using a condom for the entire duration of the most recent sexual act. Dual protection was computed by combining adolescents reporting both hormonal contraception and condom use at last sex. Abstinent adolescents were marked as dually protected. Participants were coded as having no protection if they reported no hormonal contraception nor condom use, and were not abstinent. Current ART use was defined as self-reported ART use during the interview. Relationship factors included: relationship status (yes/no), partner type (boyfriend/girlfriend/husband/wife vs. casual), partner HIV status knowledge (unknown, HIV negative, HIV positive), all selfreported by participants.

All analyses were conducted using STATA 15. First, sociodemographic characteristics, reproductive aspirations, contraception and dual protection frequencies were computed for the full sample and for four sub-groups by HIV status and motherhood: (1) AMLHIV, (2) adolescent girls and young women living with HIV who have not initiated childbearing (nulliparous ALHIV), (3) HIV-negative adolescent mothers (control adolescent mothers), and (4) HIV-negative adolescent girls and young women who have not initiated childbearing (nulliparous controls). Second, pairwise correlations among socio-demographics and relationship variables were computed to check collinearity and to determine which factors were included in additional analyses. Third, associations between HIV status and motherhood on outcomes were explored using multivariate logistic regression models, controlling for sociodemographic variables that were significantly different across four sub-groups. *p*-values were adjusted for multiple outcome testing using the Benjamini–Hochberg approach [29]. Fourth, predicted probabilities of reporting each outcome for the four

sub-groups were computed, holding all included socio-demographic factors at their mean values.

3 | RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 | Participant characteristics

Table 1 presents frequencies of socio-demographic characteristics and reproductive aspirations and experiences for the full sample (N = 1712) and four sub-groups defined above: (i) AMLHIV (n = 336, 20%), (ii) nulliparous ALHIV (n = 454, 27%), (iii) control adolescent mothers (n = 734, 44%) and (iv) nulliparous controls (n = 188, 10%). Participants' mean age was 17.6 years (IQR 16 to 19 years, SD = 2.6), and average age at first child among n = 1045 mothers was 16.5 (SD 1.8). AMLHIV, on average, had their first child slightly later at 17.3 years (SD 2.2, $p \le 0.001$). One-quarter of participants lived in rural areas. AMLHIV were more likely to live in informal housing ($p \le 0.001$). One-quarter of participants reported past-week food insecurity. The study's participants live in challenging socio-economic environments, reflecting the living situations of most adolescents in the region.

Nearly all adolescent mothers – independent of HIV status – had at least one sexual partner in the last year, with over half reporting being in a relationship. A third of all participants knew their partner's HIV status, with three-quarter of control adolescent moms reporting they knew this (almost all partners were reported as HIV negative).

On average, participants wanted to have two children (mean 1.9, IQR, SD = 1.0). Over two-thirds of all participants wanted to have at least two children, though almost 95% of all first childbearing pregnancies were unintended. Just under half of the participants reported using hormonal contraception, 31.5% of sexually active participants reported condom use at last intercourse, and 16.7% reported using both condoms and hormonal contraception for dual protection. Twenty percent reported using no methods of contraception or HIV prevention at last sex.

Table 1. Socio-demographic and relationship	characteristics of adolescent girls and	d young women by HIV and metherhood
Table 1. Socio-demographic and relationship	characteristics of addrescent gins and	a young women by fire and mounemood

Characteristics	AMLHIV (n = 336)	Nulliparous ALHIV (n = 454)	Control adolescent mothers (n = 744)	Nulliparous controls (n = 178)	All participants (n = 1712)	p- value
Age (mean, SD)	19.8 (1.9)	16.3 (2.9)	17.8 (1.5)	16.3 (3.0)	17.6 (2.6)	≤0.001
Age at first child (mean, SD) ^a	17.3 (2.2)		16.3 (1.6)		16.5 (1.8)	≤0.001
Rural residence (n, %)	86 (25.4)	109 (24.3)	223 (30.0)	47 (26.4)	465 (27.2)	0.141
Informal housing (n, %)	80 (23.6)	63 (14.0)	155 (20.8)	15 (8.4)	313 (18.3)	≤0.001
Household poverty (n, %)	276 (81.4)	315 (69.8)	591 (79.4)	110 (61.8)	1292 (75.5)	≤0.001
Food insecurity (n, %)	99 (29.2)	98 (21.7)	195 (26.2)	43 (24.2)	435 (25.4)	0.102
Currently on ART (n, %)	291 (85.8)	409 (90.7)	NA	NA	700 (88.6)	0.034
Sexually active in the past year (N, %)	318 (93.8)	111 (24.6)	696 (93.6)	73 (41.0)	1198 (70.0)	≤0.001
In a relationship (n, %)	246 (74.1)	113 (25.2)	477 (64.5)	74 (41.8)	910 (53.6)	≤0.001
Partner HIV status (n, %)						≤0.001
Unknown	124 (49.0)	72 (62.6)	126 (26.2)	32 (42.7)	354 (38.3)	
HIV-negative	62 (24.8)	35 (29.7)	352 (73.2)	43 (57.3)	492 (53.3)	
HIV-positive	67 (26.7)	8 (6.8)	3 (0.6)	O ()	78 (8.4)	
Last sexual partner casual (n, %)	87 (25.7)	337 (74.7)	268 (36.0)	106 (59.6)	798 (46.6)	≤0.001
Reproductive aspirations, contra	aception and du	ual protection				
Aspirations (mean, SD)	2.0 (0.8)	1.8 (0.9)	1.8 (0.8)	2.2 (1.7)	1.9 (1.0)	≤0.001
Aspirations – want 2 or more children (n, %)	252 (74.3)	303 (67.2)	480 (64.5)	145 (81.5)	1180 (68.9)	≤0.001
First child pregnancy unintended (n, %)ª		274 (93.2)		716 (95.2)	990 (94.7)	0.193
Hormonal contraception (n, %)	214 (63.1)	81 (18.0)	474 (63.7)	55 (30.9)	824 (48.1)	≤0.001
Condom use at last sex (n, %) ^b	99 (31.1)	61 (55.0)	178 (25.6)	39 (53.4)	377 (31.5)	≤0.001
Dual protection (n, %)	72 (21.2)	46 (10.2)	136 (18.3)	32 (18.0)	286 (16.7)	≤0.001
No protection (n, %)	93 (27.4)	34 (7.5)	218 (29.3)	22 (12.4)	367 (21.4)	≤0.001

^aData available for n = 1045 adolescent mothers only

^bAmong sexually active participants only n = 1198.

AMLHIV, adolescent mothers living with HIV; SD, standard deviation; ART, antiretroviral therapy.

3.2 | Effect of HIV and motherhood on reproductive practices

Results of multivariate regressions for each of the five outcomes adjusted for socio-demographic variables are included in Table 2, with predicted probabilities of reporting the outcomes in Figure 1. All the rates reported below are adjusted predicted probabilities of each outcome being reported, holding age, informal housing and poverty at their mean values. Independent of HIV status, adolescent mothers were less likely to report wanting >2 children (aOR 0.57, CI 0.43 to 0.75), possibly due to the challenges already experienced [30]. Predicted probabilities – adjusted to take into account age, informal housing and poverty – showed that aspirations for two or more children were lowest among AMLHIV (62.9%) and highest among nulliparous controls (77.4%).

Hormonal contraception showed differences by both adolescent motherhood and HIV status. Adolescent motherhood was associated with substantially higher rates of hormonal contraception use (aOR 3.37, 95% CI 2.58 to 4.40) compared to nulliparous girls. Amongst adolescent mothers, AMLHIV had a lower predicted probability of reporting hormonal contraceptive use (48.4% vs. 63.1% amongst control adolescent mothers). The opposite pattern was observed for condom use at last sex among sexually active participants (aOR 0.34, 95% CI 0.29 to 0.47), with higher rates amongst adolescents who had not yet had children: 52.5% among controls and 53.9% among ALHIV. Adolescent motherhood rates of condom use were slightly higher amongst ALMHIV (28.2%) than adolescent mother controls (26.3%). Dual protection, recommended for all adolescent girls and mothers in national guidelines, remained extremely low (16.7%). ALHIV who had not yet had children had lowest rates of dual protection (10.2%).

Adolescent mothers were more likely to report no protection at last sex (aOR 3.21, 95% CI 2.25 to 4.58). The likelihood of reporting no protection was highest among control adolescent mothers (29.0%).

3.3 Implications for service provision and research

These findings highlight important paradigm shifts that are needed to provide effective health and social services to adolescents and young women. First, they highlight the importance of responding to adolescent girls' parenthood aspirations and needs, not only their risk profiles. Adolescent girls and young women – regardless of HIV status – aspire to have families, with over two-thirds of them wanting two or more children. If acknowledged in respectful and age-appropriate ways, these aspirations provide an opportunity to engage adolescents in integrated sexual and reproductive health (SRH) services. including safe conception, into HIV care and treatment services. Rates of dual protection – protection from sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and access to family planning - were low among all participants, only slightly higher than the rates of dual protection documented among young women in two South African studies over a decade ago [31,32]. Nulliparous ALHIV had the lowest rates of contraception and dual protection use. Instead of advising ALHIV to refrain from sex, relationships or related risk-taking [33], providers should listen to the aspirations and life circumstances of young women to effectively support them to attain positive SRH outcomes - for themselves, their partners and their children [13].

Second, the timing of these pregnancies is critical. With nearly 95% reporting unintended first pregnancies, adolescent girls and young mothers – particularly ALHIV – must be supported to time their pregnancies for when they are wanted,

Table 2. Multivariate regression models testing the effect of HIV and motherhood on reproductive aspirations, contraception and
dual protection (n = 1712)

	Outcome 1: reproductive aspirations (n = 1712)		Outcome 2: hormonal contraception (n = 1712)		Outcome 3: condom use at last sex (n = 1198)	
Variables included in each model	aOR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Age	1.13 (1.08 to 1.18)	≤0.001*	1.30 (1.24 to 1.37)	≤0.001*	1.11 (1.03 to 1.19)	0.006
Housing (informal)	1.56 (1.17 to 2.07)	0.002	1.23 (0.93 to 1.63)	0.147	1.57 (1.15 to 2.15)	0.004
Poverty (missing at least one basic necessity)	1.13 (0.89 to 1.44)	0.319	0.85 (0.66 to 1.11)	0.231	0.50 (0.37 to 0.68)	≤0.001*
HIV-positive status	0.87 (0.69 to 1.11)	0.261	0.55 (0.43 to 0.70)	≤0.001*	1.10 (0.82 to 1.49)	0.515
Motherhood	0.56 (0.42 to 0.75)	≤0.001*	3.37 (2.58 to 4.40)	≤0.001*	0.34 (0.29 to 0.47)	≤0.001*

	Outcome 4: dual prote sex (n = 171		Outcome 5: no protection at last sex (n = 1712)		
Variables included in each model	aOR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value	
Age	1.28 (1.20 to 1.36)	≤0.001*	1.07 (1.00 to 1.13)	0.037	
Housing (informal)	1.53 (1.11 to 2.10)	0.009	0.68 (0.50 to 0.94)	0.021	
Poverty (missing at least one basic necessity)	0.55 (0.41 to 0.74)	≤0.001*	1.73 (1.25 to 2.38)	0.001	
HIV-positive status	0.69 (0.51 to 0.93)	0.015	0.75 (0.57 to 1.00)	0.047	
Motherhood	1.02 (0.74 to 1.43)	0.886	3.21 (2.25 to 4.58)	≤0.001 [§]	

*Significant at 0.001 level, when adjusted using the Benjamini–Hochberg correction for multiple outcome testing.

[§]Significant at 0.05 level, when adjusted using the Benjamin-Hochberg correction for multiple outcome testing.



ASPIRATIONS

Figure 1. Predicted probabilities of reporting outcomes among adolescent girls and young women by HIV status (n = 1712).

ideally when women are healthy and well-supported emotionally, socially and financially [34]. Improving adolescent maternal outcomes and fostering child development also relies on preventing rapid repeat pregnancies. Moreover, given high rates of intimate partner violence and power-inequitable relationships reported by adolescent girls and young women, additional analyses integrating these complex considerations are needed [35]. Further research is needed on the experiences of AMLHIV across HIV, SRH and contraception and maternal and child health services, to better integrate and adapt them to the unique needs of this age group.

Third, access to and use of contraception, including consistent condom use, was low among participants. Motherhood provides an opportunity to support young women to initiate contraception, however, we found increased hormonal contraception seemed to occur in parallel with reduced condom use. Adolescent girls and young mothers – regardless of HIV status – must access a contraceptive methods mix that is consistent, accessible and appropriate for their life stage and the precarious environments they live in [13]. Fourth, the contraceptive and HIV prevention gap reported in this study is extremely time-sensitive: the risk of new HIV infections among adolescent girls increases once they have had their first child in adolescence [36]. Existing research confirms the urgent need for combination prevention to reduce HIV and STI incidence among adolescent girls and young women, including dual protection [37,38]. Low rates of initiation and retention on ART, especially in the postpartum period, combined with high rates of repeated pregnancies in this age group [11], make AMLHIV highly vulnerable to passing HIV on to their children.

Finally, this analyses does not include data on ART access and use alongside conventional dual protection methods. Attaining and maintaining viral suppression – alongside an age and life-stage appropriate contraceptive mix – is central to reducing onward HIV transmission rates. While timely viral load information is not readily available in low resource settings, future analyses on this topic is critical.

This study has several limitations. First, all outcomes are self-reported, and may underestimate actual experiences of adolescent girls and young women. Data on ART access and viral suppression were not yet available for these analyses. Differential reporting by age and HIV status may have affected results, given potential increased stigma attached to younger motherhood and living with HIV. Second, the data are from South Africa and may not be generalizable. Nonetheless, we conducted the study in a resource-constrained setting, comparable to others in Southern Africa, which may allow for cross-cutting lessons. Third, crosssectional data limits our ability to draw causal inferences. More complex analyses to investigate potential interactions between HIV status, motherhood and relationship/partner factors, including longitudinal follow-up, are needed to understand factors shaping the SRH practices of adolescent girls and young women. Fourth, as the sample was young (average age 16.2 years), the study most likely underestimates rates of adolescent pregnancy. Finally, this short report includes limited information on the sexual partners of adolescent girls and young women, which is not yet available in this data. Future research on partners will be important in understanding the dynamics of early pregnancy, reproductive aspirations and practices for these girls and young women.

Despite the above limitations, this study has several strengths. First, it is the first and largest quantitative analyses of reproductive aspirations and practices of adolescent girls and young mothers living in HIV-endemic communities. Second, given the high levels of stigmatization reported by ALHIV [39,40] and adolescent mothers [30], conventional recruitment techniques for this sample would have resulted in a biased sample. The research team designed a systematic sampling approach prioritizing non-stigmatization and use of community and peer networks to increase reach and uptake among this group.

4 | CONCLUSIONS

As new infections among adolescents persist, and as more ALHIV reach childbearing age [5], we need to better understand how to engage adolescent mothers in comprehensive, tailored health services to effectively reduce HIV-related morbidity and mortality [17]. Safe conception considerations planned pregnancies that coincide with viral suppression, but also socio-emotional readiness - must be integrated in HIV and SRH service provision for adolescent girls and young women living with HIV. It is also critical to shift away from a risk-centred narrative, promoting more nuanced evidence on young women's sexual and reproductive health needs and practices, especially among ALHIV [15,30,41]. Additional research is needed to understand which factors support adolescent girls and young women to use dual protection and have well-timed, supported pregnancies, particularly in the context of HIV. Our preliminary results echo calls for the integration of HIV and SRH services made at recent academic, policy and donor forums - the time for saving future generations is now!

COMPETING INTERESTS

Study sponsors were not involved in study design, data collection, analyses nor interpretation, the writing of this manuscript, nor the decision to submission of

this manuscript. ET wrote the first draft and no honorarium, grant or other form of payment were given to produce the manuscript.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Centre for Social Science Research, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa; ²Department of Sociology, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa; ³Department of Social Policy and Intervention, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom; ⁴Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa; ⁵Department of Global Health, Institute for Life Course Health Research, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa; ⁶Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ⁷Institute for Global Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom; ⁸Department of Statistics, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa; ⁹Oxford Research South Africa, East London, South Africa

AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTIONS

ET, LC, LS and CW designed and implemented the overall study. ET and LC conceptualized the analyses. ET led the analyses, with support from LC, NL and SZ. ET, LC and CL wrote the manuscript's first draft. ET and CL led on the revisions following peer reviews. All authors provided edits and feedback on manuscript content and have approved the final draft.

ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; ALHIV, adolescent girls living with HIV; AMLHIV, adolescent mothers living with HIV; ART, antiretroviral therapy; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; SRH, sexual and reproductive health; STIs, sexually transmitted infections.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors express their gratitude to the young parents who are part of this study, and the families and service providers who support them at home, schools and clinics. In addition, we thank Dr. Rebecca Hodes, Roxanna Haghighat, Sr. Nontuthuzelo Bungane, Dr. Wylene Saal, Dr. William Rudgard and Melanie Pleaner for contributing their thoughts and feedback on this research.

FUNDING

The study was jointly funded by the UK Medical Research Council (MRC) and the UK Department for International Development (DFID) under the MRC/ DFID Concordat agreement, and by the Department of Health Social Care (DHSC) through its National Institutes of Health Research (NIHR) (MR/ R022372/1); the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement no. 771468); UKRI GCRF Accelerating Achievement for Africa's Adolescents (Accelerate) Hub (Grant Ref: ES/S008101/1); Research England; the Nuffield Foundation (CPF/41513), but the views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Foundation; Evidence for HIV Prevention in Southern Africa (EHPSA), a UK Aid Programme managed by Mott MacDonald; Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., part of the Janssen Pharmaceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson; the Regional Inter-Agency Task Team for Children Affected by AIDS - Eastern and Southern Africa (RIATT-ESA); UNICEF Eastern and Southern Africa Office (UNICEF-ESARO); the International AIDS Society through the CIPHER Grant (155-Hod; 2018/625-TOS). The views expressed in written materials or publications do not necessarily reflect the official policies of the International AIDS society. Research reported in this publication was supported by the Fogarty International Center, National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health under Award Number K43TW011434. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Further funding provided by: Oxford University Clarendon-Green Templeton College Scholarship (ET); Claude Leon Foundation (F08 559/C); Oak Foundation (R46194/AA001); the Leverhulme Trust (PLP-2014-095). Additional funding was provided for the research team by the John Fell Fund (103/757; 161/033); the University of Oxford's ESRC Impact Acceleration Account (IAA-MT13-003; 1602-KEA-189; K1311-KEA-004); the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013)/ERC grant agreement no. 313421, the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme/ERC grant agreement no. 737476).

REFERENCES

1. Williamson N. Motherhood in childhood: facing the challenge of adolescent pregnancy. State of the World Population 2013. 2013.

2. UNICEF. Children, HIV and AIDS: the world in 2030. 2018.

3. Adeniyi VO. The cascade of care of pregnant women on the highly active anti-retroviral therapy in Eastern Cape, South Africa_Implications for the elimination of mother-to-child tranmission of HIV. XXI International AIDS Conference - AIDS2016. Durban, South Africa; 2016.

4. Birungi H, Obare F, van der Kwaak A, Namwebya JH. Maternal health care utilization among hiv-positive female adolescents in Kenya. Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2011;37:143–49.

5. UNAIDS JUNP on H. Miles to go: closing gaps, breaking barriers, righting injustices [Internet]. Geneva, Switzerland: Global AIDS Update; 2018.

6. Hatcher AM, Woollett N, Pallitto CC, Mokoatle K, Stöckl H, MacPhail C, et al. Bidirectional links between HIV and intimate partner violence in pregnancy: implications for prevention of mother-to-child transmission. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17(1):1738–61.

7. Kozuki N, Lee AC, Silveira MF, Victora CG, Adair L, Humphrey J, et al. The associations of birth intervals with small-for-gestational-age, preterm, and neonatal and infant mortality: a meta-analysis. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:S3.

8. Conde-Agudelo A, Rosas-Bermúdez A, Kafury-Goeta AC. Birth spacing and risk of adverse perinatal outcomes: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2006;295(15):1809–23.

9. Fotso JC, Cleland J, Mberu B, Mutua M, Elungata P. Birth spacing and child mortality: an analysis of prospective data from the nairobi urban health and demographic surveillance system. J Biosoc Sci. 2013;45(6):779–98.

10. Finlay JE, Özaltin E, Canning D. The association of maternal age with infant mortality, child anthropometric failure, diarrhoea and anaemia for first births: evidence from 55 low- and middle-income countries. BMJ Open. 2011;1: e000226.

11. Obare F, Van Der Kwaak A, Birungi H. Factors associated with unintended pregnancy, poor birth outcomes and post-partum contraceptive use among HIV-positive female adolescents in Kenya. BMC Womens Health. 2012;12:1–8.

12. Darroch JE, Woog V, Bankole A. ADDING IT UP: costs and benefits of meeting the contraceptive needs of adolescents in developing regions [Internet]. New York: Guttmacher Institute; 2016. Available from: https://www.guttmacher. org/report/adding-it-meeting-contraceptive-needs-of-adolescents

13. Chandra-Mouli V, Ferguson BJ, Plesons M, Paul M, Chalasani S, Amin A, et al. The political, research, programmatic, and social responses to adolescent sexual and reproductive health and rights in the 25 years since the International Conference on Population and Development. J Adolesc Health. 2019;65:S16–40.

14. Norton M, Chandra-Mouli V, Lane C. Interventions for preventing unintended, rapid repeat pregnancy among adolescents: a review of the evidence and lessons from high-quality evaluations. Global Health Sci Pract. 2017;5 (4):547–70.

15. Toska E, Pantelic M, Meinck F, Keck K, Haghighat R, Cluver L. Sex in the shadow of HIV: a systematic review of prevalence rates, risk factors and interventions to reduce sexual risk-taking among HIV-positive adolescents and youth in Sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0178106.

16. Birungi H, Obare F, Van Der Kwaak A, Namwebya JH. Maternal Health care utilization among HIV-positive female adolescents in Kenya. Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2011;37:143–9.

17. Callahan T, Modi S, Swanson J, Ng'eno B, Broyles LN. Pregnant adolescents living with HIV: what we know, what we need to know, where we need to go. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:1–4.

18. Groves AK, Maman S, Stankard PH, Gebrekristos LT, Amon JJ, Moodley D. Addressing the unique needs of adolescent mothers in the fight against HIV. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21:e25155.

19. Toska E, Cluver LD, Hodes RJ, Kidia KK. Sex and secrecy: How HIV-status disclosure affects safe sex among HIV-positive adolescents. AIDS Care. 2015;27:47–58.

20. Cluver LD, Orkin FM, Meinck F, Boyes ME, Sherr L. Structural drivers and social protection : mechanisms of HIV risk and HIV prevention for South African adolescents. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19:20646.

21. Siemieniuk RAC, Krentz HB, Miller P, Woodman K, Ko K, Gill MJ. The clinical implications of high rates of intimate partner violence against HIV-positive women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;64:32–8. 22. Hatcher AM, Smout EM, Turan JM, Christofides N, Stöckl H. Intimate partner violence and engagement in HIV care and treatment among women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2015;29:2183–94.

23. Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Kiragga AN, Yiannoutsos CT, Musick BS, Wools-Kaloustian KK, Ayaya S, et al. Adolescent pregnancy at antiretroviral therapy (ART) initiation: a critical barrier to retention on ART. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21: e25178.

24. Orne-Gliemann J, Font H, Maphosa T, Kangwende A, Rusakaniko S, Magezi V, et al. Patterns of attendance at mother support groups in Zimbabwe. the EPAZ trial (2014–2016). J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;75:S216–23.

 Ronen K, McGrath CJ, Langat AC, Kinuthia J, Omolo D, Singa B, et al. Gaps in adolescent engagement in antenatal care and prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission services in Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2017;74(1):30–7.

26. Horwood C, Butler LM, Haskins L, Phakathi S, Rollins N. HIV-infected adolescent mothers and their infants: low coverage of HIV services and high risk of HIV transmission in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. PLoS One. 2013;8:e74568.

27. Goga A, Dinh T-H, Jackson D. Evaluation of the effectiveness of the national prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) programme on infant HIV measured at six weeks postpartum in South Africa. South African Medical Research Council, National Department of Health South Africa and PEPFAR/US Centers for Disease Control & Prevention; 2012.

28. Cluver LD, Orkin FM, Campeau L, Toska E, Webb D, Carlqvist A. Improving lives by accelerating progress towards the UN Sustainable Development Goals for adolescents living with HIV: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Heal. 2019;3:245–54.

29. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate : a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stat Soc Ser B. 1995;57(1): 289–300.

30. Toska E, Laurenzi C, Roberts K, Sherr L, Cluver L. Adolescent mothers affected by HIV and their children: a scoping review of evidence and experiences from sub-Saharan Africa. Global Public Health. 2020. DOI: 10.1080/17441692.2020.1775867.

31. Morroni C, Smit J, McFadyen L, Mqhayi M, Beksinska ME. Dual protection against sexually transmitted infections and pregnancy in South Africa. Afr J Reprod Health. 2003;7:13–9.

32. MacPhail C, Pettifor A, Pascoe S, Rees H. Predictors of dual method use for pregnancy and HIV prevention among adolescent South African women. Contraception. 2007;75:383–9.

33. Mackworth-Young CRS, Bond V, Wringe A, Konayuma K, Clay S, Chiiya C, et al. "My mother told me that I should not": a qualitative study exploring the restrictions placed on adolescent girls living with HIV in Zambia. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:e25035.

34. Chandra-Mouli V, McCarraher DR, Phillips SJ, Williamson NE, Hainsworth G. Contraception for adolescents in low and middle income countries: needs, barriers, and access. Reprod Health. 2014;11:1.

35. Mannell J, Willan S, Shahmanesh M, Seeley J, Sherr L, Gibbs A. Why interventions to prevent intimate partner violence and HIV have failed young women in southern Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:1–6.

36. Christofides NJ, Jewkes RK, Dunkle KL, Nduna M, Shai NJ, Sterk C. Early adolescent pregnancy increases risk of incident HIV infection in the Eastern Cape, South Africa: a longitudinal study. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:1–7.

37. Crankshaw TL, Smit JA, Beksinska ME. Placing contraception at the centre of the HIV prevention agenda. African J AIDS Res. 2016;15:157–62.

38. Ahmed K, Baeten JM, Beksinska M, Bekker L-G, Bukusi EA, Donnell D, et al. HIV incidence among women using intramuscular depot medroxyprogesterone acetate, a copper intrauterine device, or a levonorgestrel implant for contraception: a randomised, multicentre, open-label trial. Lancet. 2019;394:303–13.

39. Casale M, Boyes M, Pantelic M, Toska E, Cluver L. Suicidal thoughts and behaviour among South African adolescents living with HIV: can social support buffer the impact of stigma? J Affect Disord. 2018;245:82–90.

40. Pantelic M, Boyes M, Cluver L, Thabeng M. 'They Say HIV is a Punishment from God or from Ancestors': cross-cultural adaptation and psychometric assessment of an HIV stigma scale for South African adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV-SS). Child Indic Res. 2018;11:207–23.

41. Judd A, Foster C, Thompson LC, Sturgeon K, Le Prevost M, Jungmann E, et al. Sexual health of young people with perinatal HIV and HIV negative young people in England. PLoS One. 2018;13(10):e0205597.

COMMENTARY



Directed and target focused multi-sectoral adolescent HIV prevention: insights from implementation of the 'DREAMS Partnership' in rural South Africa

Natsayi Chimbindi¹ (b), Isolde Birdthistle² (b), Sian Floyd², Guy Harling^{1,3,4,5} (b), Nondumiso Mthiyane¹, Thembelihle Zuma¹, James R Hargreaves² (b), Janet Seeley^{1,2} (b) and Maryam Shahmanesh^{1,3,§} (b)

[§]Corresponding author: Maryam Shahmanesh, University College London (UCL) Institute for Global Health, Mortimer Market Centre, off Capper Street, London, WC1E 6JB, United Kingdom. Tel: +44 7776185572. (m.shahmanesh@ucl.ac.uk)

Abstract

Introduction: The "DREAMS Partnership" promotes a multi-sectoral approach to reduce adolescent girls and young women's (AGYW) vulnerability to HIV in sub-Saharan Africa. Despite widespread calls to combine structural, behavioural and biomedical HIV prevention interventions, this has not been delivered at scale. In this commentary, we reflect on the two-year rollout of DREAMS in a high HIV incidence, rural and poor community in northern KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa to critically appraise the capacity for a centrally co-ordinated and AGYW-focused approach to combination HIV prevention to support sustainable development for adolescents.

Discussion: DREAMS employed a directed target-focused approach in which local implementing partners were resourced to deliver defined packages to AGYW in selected geographical areas over two years. We argue that this approach, with high-level oversight by government and funders, enabled the rapid roll-out of ambitious multi-sectoral HIV prevention for AGYW. It was most successful at delivering multiple interventions for AGYW when it built on existing infrastructure and competencies, and/ or allocated resources to address existing youth development concerns of the community. The approach would have been strengthened if it had included a mechanism to solicit and then respond to the concerns of young women, for example gender-related norms and how young women experience their sexuality, and if this listening was supported by versatility to adapt to the social context. In a context of high HIV vulnerability across all adolescents and youth, an over-emphasis on targeting specific groups, whether geographically or by risk profile, may have hampered acceptability and reach of the intervention. Absence of meaningful engagement of AGYW in the development, delivery and leadership of the intervention was a lost opportunity to achieve sustainable development goals among young people and shift gender-norms.

Conclusions: Centrally directed and target-focused scale-up of defined packages of HIV prevention across sectors was largely successful in reaching AGYW in this rural South African setting rapidly. However, to achieve sustainable and successful long-term youth development and transformation of gender-norms there is a need for greater adaptability, economic empowerment and meaningful engagement of AGYW in the development and delivery of interventions. Achieving this will require sustained commitment from government and funders.

Keywords: adolescent girls and young women; HIV; holistic; interventions; layering; implementation

Received 10 January 2020; Accepted 19 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

In South Africa HIV incidence remains high, especially among adolescents and youth (10 to 25 years old) [1]. Although there is evidence of a decline in HIV incidence of 44% among the general population from 2012, incidence was still higher in adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) [15-24] than their male counterparts [2]. This indicates there is still need for greater efforts to reduce the impact of the HIV epidemic in young people, in particular AGYW [1].

There have long been calls to scale-up evidence-based combination structural, behavioural and biomedical HIV prevention interventions [3-7]. This has been reinvigorated by evidence that "layering," that is providing multiple interventions or services can accelerate progress to sustainable development goals in adolescents living with HIV [8]. In response, the US Presidents' Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) with others, supported the 'DREAMS Partnership', a multi-sectoral package of interventions targeting multiple sources of HIV risk and vulnerability for AGYW [9,10]. The aim of DREAMS was to reduce HIV incidence through strengthening existing interventions and the introduction of new packages for genderbased violence, family and caregiving, social asset building, economic empowerment/cash transfers and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) (Figure 1) [9,11,12].

DREAMS in South Africa was implemented with high-level oversight by government and funders, through local implementing partners who were resourced to deliver defined and target-focused packages of interventions to AGYW in selected geographic areas over two years. Implementing multi-sectoral programmes is complex [3]; it requires maintaining fidelity to the Theory of Change, coordination across multiple sectors and monitoring coverage of those in need [11,13]. Recognizing these challenges, between 2016 and 2018 we evaluated DREAMS rollout in a poor rural district in northern KwaZulu-Natal (KZN), South Africa, with a high burden of HIV through extensive engagement with implementing partners, community stakeholders and representative surveys of potential beneficiaries of DREAMS [13].

In this commentary we, a multidisciplinary team of researchers, reflect on our experience to appraise the capacity for a co-ordinated and AGYW focused approach to combination HIV prevention to support sustainable development for adolescents. We argue that this approach rapidly scaled-up a multi-sectoral HIV prevention intervention for AGYW. It was most successful when it strengthened existing infrastructure and/or when tackled youth development that coincided with community concerns. We interrogate and draw lessons from the lost opportunity to support longer term sustainable development goals and transform gender norms for adolescents [14-16].

2 | DISCUSSION

2.1 Prescribed and target-driven scale-up of multi-sectoral HIV prevention for AGYW

Prior to DREAMS, there was limited co-ordination of HIV interventions for adolescents and young people in the study area in northern KZN. Health promotion and preventive services were mostly provided through the Department of Health in fixed clinics; life orientation was provided in schools by the Department of Education, and social protection by the Department of Social Development [17]. Prior to 2015, HIV incidence had been persistently high in this area [18] with low uptake of sexual and reproductive health services; in 2015 <50% of sexually active AGYW used condoms at last sex; and <50% were currently using contraception [18].

	Package level	Package category	Target group(s)	Description of activities & examples from KZN, South Africa
		HIV Testing Services	AGYW & male partners	HIV testing; linkage to care & ART if positive, or linkage to other DREAMS prevention if negative
	Empower AGYW and reduce their risk	Social asset building	AGYW	Build social skills and networks; connect AGYW with peers & adults, for information, emotional & material support <i>eg Safe Spaces,</i> Vhutshilo 1&2, Mentorship, Financial Capabilities
vel		Expand contraceptive mix	AGYW	Promote use of modern contraception, dual methods alongside condoms, to reduce unplanned pregnancy and school drop-out eg Adolescent-friendly services like happy hour, priority queues
Individual level		Condom promotion & provision	AGYW & male partners	Increasing consistent use & availability, e.g. through condom distribution, adolescent-friendly SRH services
Indivi		Post-violence care	AGYW experienced/at risk for violence	Youth-friendly screening & care for intimate partner violence/ violence against children, PEP
		PrEP *selected countries	AGYW at highest risk of acquiring HIV	Targeted provision of PrEP, linkageto support services; provided only for female sex workers
	Social protection	Social protection	AGYW & parents/guardians	Cash transfers, educational subsidies, combination socio-economic approaches e.g. savings groups; financial literacy training eg. ASPIRES, Vhutshilo, Financial Capabilities, Vocational skills training, Business/entrepreneurial training, Microfinance program
Contextual level	families	Parenting/caregiver programmes	AGYW & parents/care- givers of AGYW	Parenting programmes on adolescent sexual/risk behaviours & protection from violence eg <i>Teenagers and Adults Learning to Communicate (TALC)</i>
ontexti	Mobilise	School-based HIV prevention	AGYW & boys in schools	HIV & sex education, violence prevention education in schools
ð	community for change	Community mobilisation & norms change	AGYW, boys & men, broader communities	Community-based HIV and violence prevention programmes, social/gender norms change & gender-related messaging eg <i>Stepping Stones</i>
	Reduce risk in male sex partners	Characterisation of male sex partners to target interventions	Sexual partners of AGYW	Target highly effective HIV prevention, care and treatment interventions. Develop services men are more likely to use. Research & characterise 'typical' partners of AGYW.



In order to catalyse multi-sectoral collaborations and strengthen existing resources and policies, such as government cash transfer mechanisms to support AGYW [6] and adolescent and youth friendly services [19], the DREAMS Partnership engaged with the Departments of Health, Social Development and Education [11,20]. However, the rollout of DREAMS was very rapid [20], and these sectors had not previously been co-ordinated by a disease-specific agency such as the AIDS Council. The AIDS council was involved at provincial level as the co-ordinating body and at district level as part of the project team responsible for co-ordinating DREAMS and ensuring the alignment of DREAMS activities with existing programmes [20]. Moreover, some of the interventions were new to the setting, such as community-based interventions for gender-based violence, family and caregiving and HIV PrEP. Five implementing partners were commissioned, each to deliver different interventions of the package based on their expertise. While some implementing partners subcontracted community-based organizations (CBOs) who were embedded in the community, others introduced new organizations to the area [20].

The consequence was that at the height of implementation in 2017, 11 organizations were receiving DREAMS funding to deliver 28 different interventions, grouped into categories (e.g. social protection), which in turn were organized by levels (e.g. "strengthen families") (Figure 1) [12] that were expected to be layered in order to accelerate benefits in AGYW. Layering also included contextual interventions that were not delivered directly to the individual, but benefitted the AGYW [11-12,21]. In the absence of an existing co-ordinating mechanism, several donor-led steering committee meetings were organized to bring all the players on-board, mapping out geographical working boundaries and ensuring the "layering" approach was understood [21]. Implementing partners were given targets (number of AGYW to reach with specific interventions), which were monitored through the DREAMS Integrated Monitoring and Evaluation System (DIMES) [22]. Quarterly provincial meetings (and monthly at district-level) were held by the co-ordinating partner and AIDS council with implementing partners to measure progress and performance.

In the next section, we appraise the strengths and weaknesses of this prescribed and target-driven approach to combination HIV prevention for AGYW in supporting sustainable development goals among youth in a rural community.

2.2 Lessons learned

2.2.1 | Effective scale-up strengthens existing infrastructure and builds on intervention norms

Interventions that built on pre-existing interventions with organizations that were already embedded in the setting could be scaled-up rapidly, for example school-based interventions, HIV testing, condom distribution and promotion through existing CBOs, since the infrastructure already existed and little training and adaptation were needed.

CBOs who were already embedded in the communities were able to adapt delivery (but not content) of the DREAMS package to the local context. For example they offered HIV testing during outreach activities at community gatherings (grants pay-out days, sport days, etc), distributed condoms in

shops in the rural settings and formed partnerships with private doctors, police and other implementing partners to support identification and management of post-violence care and improved onward referrals. As a result we found an increased visibility of these CBOs and their activities, such as condoms in bars, shops and remote rural areas.

Some novel interventions such as voluntary medical male circumcision (delivered outside of DREAMS, but escalated during DREAMS) that responded to and resonated with the existing HIV prevention and gendered norms, such as traditional male circumcision, were acceptable and uptake increased [23]. However, while more young people reported being aware of newer biomedical technologies such as PrEP by the second year of scale-up, they and healthcare workers expressed ambiguous feelings around this novel biomedical approach to HIV prevention [23,24]. Young people were concerned about side effects related to the use of PrEP and the potential HIV-related stigma and discrimination they could experience if as young women they accessed PrEP from healthcare facilities [23,25].

2.2.2 | Youth development was embraced by the community; transforming gender-norms less so

Unemployment, poverty and violence are recognized as youth development issues of importance in the area, and therefore community members welcomed the broader multi-sectoral approach that underpinned DREAMS. This was particularly the case when delivered through CBOs with a history in the area, which were trusted and embraced the benefits of "layering" interventions. Consequently, there was a rapid increase in the proportion of AGYW who received all three "layers" of DREAMS interventions, that is interventions at community, family and individual levels (Figure 1). More than half of AGYW were invited to participate in DREAMS, with over 80% of those accessing \geq 3 interventions [12].

Community leaders saw DREAMS multi-sectoral approach as a lost opportunity to include young men who faced similar youth development challenges [26]. While young men have sexual reproductive health (SRH) needs and are partners of AGYW [26] in our community this ambivalence mirrored the well-described barriers to shifting gender-norms in South Africa [27-29]. DREAMS implemented a package that addressed gender-based violence explicitly and gender dynamics implicitly (contraception education and access, stepping stones and cash transfers). However, the prescribed nature of the packages and limited opportunities for meaningful engagement of young women and men in implementation, constrained the transformative potential to radically challenge social constructs of gender that continue to drive the disproportionate burden of HIV on adolescents and young women [30-32].

2.2.3 | Youth centred adaptation to social context is an important ingredient

DREAMS implementing partners were required to deliver interventions listed in the DREAMS package as per their contractual agreement and area of expertise and were monitored with respect to centrally designed standards of delivery. Organizations delivering these interventions felt that they could be more successful if they were able to adapt to their social context and respond to unmet youth development needs. However, they felt a tension between this and being seen to deliver interventions with fidelity to the central design standards. The overall effect was a limited scope for iterative adaptation or innovation.

Even after DREAMS rollout, contraception uptake remained low among adolescent girls [13-19] despite many being sexually active [12,33]. We found that strengthening provision of adolescent and youth-friendly SRH services within the primary healthcare clinics in this rural setting during the period of evaluation did not translate to uptake; well-described social, health facility and individual level factors all contributed to poor uptake. At an individual level, persisting myths and misconceptions around conception [23,33] and anticipated stigma associated with being seen entering a clinic, fear of judgement and transport costs were described by AGYW as barriers to use. Data from our team suggested that young people and the organizations working with them felt that more active involvement of young people may have increased demand for services and promoted innovations in healthcare delivery that overcome barriers to uptake: for example the use of peer outreach workers to promote sexual health and delivery of SRH services in youth centres and mobile clinic [31,34,35].

Similarly, there was limited flexibility within DREAMS to respond to other health issues such as mental health and alcohol use, even though they are well-described [36] structural factors that predispose young people to HIV acquisition and poor health. Common mental health disorders increased steadily with age among AGYW in this setting (up to 33% in 22year olds), and were associated with food insecurity, migration and experiencing violence [36]. Similarly, alcohol was easily available to and perceived as a normative part of adolescence and transition into adulthood. Poor mental health and alcohol were described as barriers to engagement and retention in the prevention, treatment and care services offered by DREAMS. For example young people described engaging in unplanned and unprotected sex under the influence of alcohol or drugs and reported forgetting to take their PrEP or ART pills when drunk [23-24,37].

2.2.4 | Target focused delivery may reduce reach to those most in need

In a setting where there were few prior HIV interventions targeting young people, local implementing partners had to develop new ways to identify vulnerable AGYW to reach. They relied on their organizational databases of orphans and vulnerable children and families and worked with schools for recruiting and targeting AGYW in need of services. This targeting of DREAMS interventions by place or type of person, with goal of "saturating" targeted AGYW may have, particularly under the pressure to rapidly implement, paradoxically hindered reach to those most in-need or vulnerable.

During multiple donor-led meetings and with resources focused on geographical mapping and identifying higher risk AGYW, the challenges local implementers faced became apparent. Vulnerable AGYW were widely dispersed, often mobile and engaging AGYW in the geographical areas where HIV-infection was high, was frequently a challenge. For example we found more than one in ten of sexually active AGYW reported transactional sex or sex-work activities, but only a handful of them were aware of PrEP and none had taken PrEP, a service that was specifically targeted at this group of young women [24]. AGYW engaging in commercial sex often did not self-identify or report themselves as sex-workers and were thus missed by PrEP outreach programmes [24]. A differentiated approach, investing in universal health and social services for adolescents and young people that could be tailored to individual needs, combined with evidence-based approaches to reaching those who are harder to reach, such as through social networks or venue-based approaches, may result in more effective coverage of vulnerable and at risk AGYW in this type of rural setting [17].

2.2.5 | Youth leadership and sustainable development goals

DREAMS was a lost opportunity to embed sustainable development goals and build the capacity for youth leadership in a deprived rural community. Youth unemployment was high (>80% among 18+ year-olds) [18] and there was a lack of recreation and educational opportunities for young people who had completed school, increasing vulnerability to transactional sex and crime [37]. Migration was high among this group (about 20% among AGYW in 2017 reported ever migrating in the past year) mainly for seeking employment and school purposes, and these AGYW were missed out of interventions [12], yet they are at high risk [38].

While DREAMS did support the delivery of many of the development accelerators such as government cash transfers [39], support to stay in schools, parenting support and safe spaces, there was limited investment in long-term interventions to strengthen employability and income generation, such as skill building or microfinance initiatives [6,30]. Furthermore, there was little done to build youth capacity to deliver these or actively engage in the local DREAMS co-ordination mechanism [31]. The transition out of the DREAMS Partnership in the study area, after two years, happened shortly after the implementing partners had gained traction and started to implement this complex intervention. The absence of local leadership and in particular youth leadership left a void in coordinating the multiple sectors with no-one to actively advocate for sustaining activities post-DREAMS funding, and ensure the capacity and skills gained during DREAMS could be useful for the CBOs activities post-DREAMS [16,40,41].

3 | CONCLUSIONS

Centrally directed, prescribed and target-focused scale-up of multi-sectoral HIV prevention interventions for AGYW in a poor rural South African setting was largely successful in rapidly reaching AGYW and layering development accelerators such as government cash transfers, parenting support, violence interventions, safe spaces and friendly health services for AGYW. The approach was most successful when it built on the capacity of existing infrastructure and brought resources to tackle youth development of concern to the community. However, to protect young people better and achieve sustainable and successful long term youth development, we need greater adaptability and meaningful engagement of AGYW in the development and delivery of the intervention [14-16]. Expanding holistic HIV prevention interventions such as the DREAMS partnership to support youth development, including economic empowerment, and mobilizing youth to transform gender norms, and build social capital may provide the foundation for a sustained impact on the HIV epidemic and improvements in the wellbeing of young people in sub-Saharan Africa. Achieving this will require sustained commitment from government and funders.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Africa Health Research Institute, Mtubatuba, South Africa; ²London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom; ³Institute for Global Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom; ⁴Harvard University, Boston, MA, USA; ⁵University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

Natsayi Chimbindi, Maryam Shahmanesh and Isolde Birdthistle involved in conceptualization. Natsayi Chimbindi and Maryam Shahmanesh also involved in writing the original draft of the manuscript. Maryam Shahmanesh, Natsayi Chimbindi, Isolde Birdthistle, Guy Harling, James Hargreaves, Nondumiso Mthiyane, Sian Floyd, Thembelihle Zuma, Janet Seeley and Sian Floyd contributed to reviewing and editing of the manuscript. All authors reviewed drafts and read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank our colleagues Annabelle Gourlay et al for giving us permission to adapt and use Figure 1. We also thank the South Africa DREAMS national task team for supporting the implementation of DREAMS interventions in the district. The impact evaluation of DREAMS is funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (OPP1136774, http://www.gatesfoundation.org). Foundation staff advised the study team, but did not substantively affect the decision to publish, or writing of the manuscript. The research leading to the results discussed in this Commentary has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013 under REA grant agreement no. 612216 and the National Institutes of Health under award number 5R01MH114560–03. The Africa Health Research Institute is supported by a grant from the Wellcome Trust (082384/Z/07/Z)

DISCLAIMER

None declared.

REFERENCES

1. UNAIDS. HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women: Putting HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women on the Fast-Track and engaging men and boys UNAIDS. 2016.

2. Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC). The Fifth South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence, Behaviour and Communication Survey, 2017: HIV Impact Assessment Summary Report. Cape Town; 2018.

3. Chang LW, Serwadda D, Quinn TC, Wawer MJ, Gray RH, Reynolds SJ. Combination implementation for HIV prevention: moving from clinical trial evidence to population-level effects. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13(1):65–76.

4. Pettifor A, Stoner M, Pike C, Bekker L-G. Adolescent lives matter: preventing HIV in adolescents. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2018;13(3):265–73.

5. Gupta GR, Parkhurst JO, Ogden JA, Aggleton P, Mahal A. Structural approaches to HIV prevention. Lancet. 2008;372(9640):764–75.

6. Pronyk PM, Kim JC, Abramsky T, Phetla G, Hargreaves JR, Morison LA, et al. A combined microfinance and training intervention can reduce HIV risk behaviour in young female participants. AIDS. 2008;22(13):1659–65.

7. Wagman JA, Gray RH, Campbell JC, Thoma M, Ndyanabo A, Ssekasanvu J, et al. Effectiveness of an integrated intimate partner violence and HIV

prevention intervention in Rakai, Uganda: analysis of an intervention in an existing cluster randomised cohort. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(1):e23–33.

8. Cluver LD, Orkin FM, Campeau L, Toska E, Webb D, Carlqvist A, et al. Improving lives by accelerating progress towards the UN Sustainable Development Goals for adolescents living with HIV: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(4):245–54.

9. DREAMS. working together for an AIDS free future for girls and women. Washington D.C.: Office of the U.S. Global AIDS. Coordinator. 2018.

10. Dreaming of an AIDS-Free Future. Washington, DC USA: Office of the U.S. Global AIDS Coordinator; 2018.

11. Saul J, Bachman G, Allen S, Toiv NF, Cooney C, Beamon TA. The DREAMS core package of interventions: a comprehensive approach to preventing HIV among adolescent girls and young women. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0208167.

12. Gourlay A, Birdthistle I, Mthiyane NT, Orindi BO, Muuo S, Kwaro D, et al. Awareness and uptake of layered HIV prevention programming for young women: analysis of population-based surveys in three DREAMS settings in Kenya and South Africa. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):1417.

13. Birdthistle I, Schaffnit SB, Kwaro D, Shahmanesh M, Ziraba A, Kabiru CW, et al. Evaluating the impact of the DREAMS partnership to reduce HIV incidence among adolescent girls and young women in four settings: a study protocol. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1):912.

14. Gibbs A, Campbell C, Akintola O, Colvin C. Social contexts and building social capital for collective action: three case studies of volunteers in the context of HIV and AIDS in South Africa. J Community Appl Soc Psychol. 2015;25 (2):110–22.

15. Gibbs A, Campbell C, Maimane S, Nair Y. Mismatches between youth aspirations and participatory HIV/AIDSprogrammes in South Africa. Afr J AIDS Res. 2010;9(2):153–63.

16. Loewenson R, Laurell AC, Hogstedt C, D'Ambruoso L, Shroff Z. Participatory action research in health systems: a methods reader. Harare: TARSC, AHPSR, WHO, IDRC Canada, Equinet; 2014. 125 p.

 Nkosi B, Seeley J, Ngwenya N, Mchunu SL, Gumede D, Ferguson J, et al. Exploring adolescents and young people's candidacy for utilising health services in a rural district, South Africa. BMC Health Services Research. 2019;19(1):195.
 Chimbindi N, Mthiyane N, Birdthistle I, Floyd S, McGrath N, Pillay D, et al. Persistently high incidence of HIV and poor service uptake in adolescent girls and young women in rural KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa prior to DREAMS. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0203193.

19. James S, Pisa PT, Imrie J, Beery MP, Martin C, Skosana C, et al. Assessment of adolescent and youth friendly services in primary healthcare facilities in two provinces in South Africa. BMC Health Services Research. 2018;18(1):809.

20. Chimbindi N, Birdthistle I, Shahmanesh M, Osindo J, Mushati P, Ondeng'e K, et al. Translating DREAMS into practice: early lessons from implementation in six settings. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0208243.

21. DREAMS layering guidance. Washington, DC: United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief; 2017.

22. MEASURE Evaluation. DREAMS monitoring and evaluation. [accessed 2020 Jun 15]; Available from: https://www.measureevaluation.org/sifsa/dreams-m-e

23. Zuma T, Seeley J, Sibiya LO, Chimbindi N, Birdthistle I, Sherr L, et al. The changing landscape of diverse HIV treatment and prevention interventions: experiences and perceptions of adolescents and young adults in rural KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Frontiers. Public Health. 2019;7:336.

24. Chimbindi N, Mthiyane N, Zuma T, Baisley K, Pillay D, McGrath N, et al. HIV PrEP for female-sex-workers in the context of combination HIV prevention: Impact on community-wide awareness, uptake and perceptions in a rural area KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa 14th International AIDS Impact Conference 29-31 July 2019. London, UK.

25. Nakasone S, Chimbindi N, Mthiyane N, Nkosi B, Zuma T, Baisley K, et al.A mixed methods study assessing readiness for oral PrEP in a rural area of Kwa-Zulu-Natal, South Africa. HIV Research for Prevention (HIVR4P) Madrid, Spain21-25 October 2018.

26. Chapman J, do Nascimento N, Mandal M. Role of male sex partners in HIV risk of adolescent girls and young women in Mozambique. Global Health Sci Pract. 2019;7(3):435–46.

27. Bhana D, Anderson B. Gender, relationship dynamics and South African girls' vulnerability to sexual risk. Afr J AIDS Res. 2013;12(1):25–31.

28. Bhana D, Crewe M, Aggleton P. Sex, sexuality and education in South Africa. Sex Educ. 2019;19(4):361–70.

29. Harrison A, Hoffman S, Mantell JE, Smit JA, Leu C-S, Exner TM, et al. Gender-focused HIV and pregnancy prevention for school-going adolescents: the Mpondombili pilot intervention in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. J HIV AIDS Soc Serv. 2016;15(1):29–47.

30. Govender K, Masebo WGB, Nyamaruze P, Cowden RG, Schunter BT, Bains A. HIV Prevention In Adolescents And Young People In The Eastern and

Southern African region: a review of key challenges impeding actions for an effective response. Open AIDS J. 2018;12:53–67.

31. Mannell J, Willan S, Shahmanesh M, Seeley J, Sherr L, Gibbs A. Why interventions to prevent intimate partner violence and HIV have failed young women in southern Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25380-e.

32. Jewkes RK, Dunkle K, Nduna M, Shai N. Intimate partner violence, relationship power inequity, and incidence of HIV infection in young women in South Africa: a cohort study. Lancet. 2010;376(9734):41–8.

33. Mthiyane T, Chimbindi N, Zuma T, Dreyer J, Gourlay A, Birdthistle I, et al. Contraception uptake among adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) in rural KwaZulu-Natal in the context of DREAMS HIV prevention interventions: KZN DoH Research Day. 8-9 September 2018, Inkosi Albert Luthuli Hospital, Durban, South Africa.

34. Edelman A, Gill P, Comerford K, Larson M, Hare R. Development & youth leadership.2004.

35. Celum CL, Delany-Moretlwe S, McConnell M, van Rooyen H, Bekker L-G, Kurth A, et al. Rethinking HIV prevention to prepare for oral PrEP implementation for young African women. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18:20227.

36. Mthiyane T, Harling G, Chimbindi N, Baisley K, Seeley J, Dreyer J, et al. Common mental health disorders and HIV status among Adolescent Girls and

Young Women in rural KwaZulu-Natal. 14th International AIDS Impact Conference 29-31 July 2019, London, UK.

37. Zuma T, Mdluli S, Seeley J, Chimbindi N, Floyd S, Birdthistle I, et al. Promoting resilience in the context of multilevel HIV prevention: experiences of adolescents and young adults in rural KwaZulu Natal, South Africa. 14th International AIDS Impact Conference 29-31 July 2019, London, UK.

38. Seeley J, Aswiime A, Tumwesige E, Ngwenya N, Gumede D, Rutakumwa R, et al. Being young and on the move in sub-Saharan Africa: how 'waithood' exacerbates HIV risks and disrupts the success of current HIV prevention interventions. 14th International AIDS Impact Conference 29-31 July 2019. London, UK.

39. Pettifor A, Wamoyi J, Balvanz P, Gichane MW, Maman S. Cash plus: exploring the mechanisms through which a cash transfer plus financial education programme in Tanzania reduced HIV risk for adolescent girls and young women. J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25316.

40. Campbell C. Community mobilisation in the 21st century: updating our theory of social change? J Health Psychol. 2014;19(1):46–59.

41. Bell SA, Aggleton P. Time to invest in a 'counterpublic health' approach: promoting sexual health amongst sexually active young people in rural Uganda. Children's Geographies. 2012;10(4):385–97.

COMMENTARY



The HIV drug optimization agenda: promoting standards for earlier investigation and approvals of antiretroviral drugs for use in adolescents living with HIV

Pablo Rojo^{1,§} (b), Deborah Carpenter², François Venter³ (b), Anna Turkova⁴ and Martina Penazzato⁵

[§]Corresponding author: Pablo Rojo, Av. Andalucia S/N, Madrid 28041, Spain. Tel: +34615513222. (pablorojoconejo@aim.com)

Abstract

Introduction: Most clinical trials for new antiretroviral (ARV) agents are conducted among narrowly defined adult populations. Only after safety and efficacy have been clearly demonstrated among adults living with HIV are trials including adolescents, children and infants conducted. This approach contributes to significant delays in the availability of optimal new ARV regimens for infants, children and adolescents. This commentary discusses issues related to the inclusion of adolescents aged 12 to 18 years in initial HIV clinical phase 3 trials of novel antiretrovirals (ARVs) or conducting parallel phase 3 clinical trials among adolescents.

Discussion: The absorption, metabolic and excretion or elimination pathways for drugs do not significantly differ between adolescents and adults. In fact, dosing recommendations for ARVs are the same for adults and adolescents who meet the age and weight criteria. Although conducting clinical trials among adolescents present special challenges (e.g. consenting minors and concerns about trial completion and contraception), these challenges can be addressed to obtain high-quality trial results. Importantly, new agents and optimized combinations have more favourable dosing schedules and side-effect profiles and are more effective ARV agents with higher HIV drug resistance thresholds, which would be extremely beneficial to improve outcomes among HIV-positive adolescents.

Conclusions: Adolescents may not present with significantly different pharmacokinetic characteristics from those in adults. Including HIV-positive adolescents in phase 3 ARV clinical trials, either with adults or in specific adolescent studies conducted in parallel, would allow adolescents to access promising, more effective treatment for HIV years earlier than with the current stepwise approach.

Keywords: HIV; adolescents; drug optimization; ARV

Received 1 February 2020; Accepted 22 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 World Health Organization; licensed by IAS.

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution IGO License which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided that the original work is properly cited. In any reproduction of this article there should not be any suggestion that WHO or the article endorse any specific organization or products.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Most clinical trials for new antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) are conducted among narrowly defined adult populations. Only after safety and efficacy have been clearly shown in adults do trials move to include HIV-positive children and adolescents, significantly delaying the availability of ARVs and/or optimized combinations for use among these groups (see Table 1). This stepwise approach also is applied to pregnant or breast-feeding women and to women of reproductive age who are not receiving contraception. Historical rationale for this approach mostly includes; focus on the differences between adults and children/adolescents as they relate to drugs, developmental variability, complexities of parental involvement and adaptations required in research procedures [35].

The Paediatric Antiretroviral Working Group led by the World Health Organization (WHO), has proposed optimizing research approaches for children and adolescents to speed-up the availability of ARVs and formulations for these groups [1]. Recently, the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) recommended that ARV drug trials include adolescents (aged 12 to <18 years) in phase 3 clinical trials along with adults, or that a separate phase 3 clinical trials among adolescents be conducted in parallel [2]. Adult trials for tuberculosis [3] and cancer treatment [4] as well as ADVANCE, a recent clinical trial that enrolled HIV-positive participants aged \geq 12 years, have shown the feasibility of including adolescents in adult clinical trials [5].

Adolescence is a period of rapid growth and change. Physical, mental and emotional maturation changes occur as a person transitions into adulthood and begins to take their own care and decision making [6]. Adolescents are a heterogenous population that includes individuals in various stages of emotional, physical, intellectual and sexual development. Gender differences, and environmental factors such as geographical location, socioeconomic and sociodemographic differences, Table 1. Examples of antiretroviral approvals by the United States Food and Drug Administration and dosing recommendations in adults and adolescents^a

Drug	Year approved, adults	Dose, adults	Year approved, adolescents	Dose, adolescents
Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (Viread)	2001	300 mg OD	2010	300 mg OD for ≥12 years and ≥35 kg
Darunavir (Prezista)	2006	600 mg BID	2008	600 mg BID, for ≥40 kg
Bictegravir, only available in a fixed-dose combination tablet (Biktarvy) Bictegravir 50 mg/emtricitabine 200 mg/tenofovir alafenamide 25 mg	2018	50 mg OD	2019	50 mg OD, for ≥25 kg

^aUnited States Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents with HIV. Available at http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/contentfiles/ lvguidelines/AdultandAdolescentGL.pdf. OD, once a day; BID, twice a day.

home environment, cultural and social support, play a mayor role in influencing adolescents' behaviour. Adolescence has been widely associated with risk-taking behaviour [7]; however, it is also a period for reflection, for generating great ideals and building one's personality. In this commentary, we defined adolescents as individuals age 12 to 18 years, thus aligning with the US FDA clinical trials recommendation.

UNAIDS 2018 estimates that 1.6 million adolescents aged 10 to 19 years are living with HIV globally. Adolescents also remain vulnerable to acquiring new HIV infection and to have sub-optimal clinical outcomes [8]. There is a paucity of HIV treatment coverage data for adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV) and where there is data, access and uptake of antiretroviral treatment (ART) is often reported to be lower than among HIV-positive adults [9]. Better-tolerated ARVs and ART regimens are needed for ALHIV, to reduce acute and late-onset side effects, to improve adherence and to ensure long-term viral suppression. Expanding treatment options for adolescents is a priority, requiring clinical trial generated evidence on new ARVs formulations, dosing options and combination regimens to optimize treatment for this vulnerable population. Not including adolescents in new drug development trials, simplification trials or HIV treatment failure studies will continue to widen the existing ART knowledge gap and further disadvantage this population. This commentary discusses benefits and challenges of including adolescents in clinical phase 3 trials of ARVs or the performance of parallel adolescents' phase 3 clinical trials irrespective of the mode of HIV acquisition, that is perinatally and sexually acquired.

2 | DISCUSSION

This section provides the rationale and justification for including adolescents in initial adult clinical phase 3 trials of novel ARVs and combinations or conducting parallel phase 3 clinical trials among adolescents.

2.1 No major pharmacokinetic differences

Absorption, hepatic metabolism and renal elimination of drugs in infants and young children are significantly different than in adults, but there are no major pharmacokinetic differences between adolescents and adults [10,11]. However, bone mineralization, which is associated with bone metabolism and growth may be a physiological difference between adolescents and adults. Bone, which is a metabolic tissue, undergoes rapid changes during adolescence and approximately 80% of adolescents achieve peak bone mass by age 18 years [12]. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) is the ARV most clearly related to decreased bone mineral density in HIV-positive adults. Data on children and youth are conflicting. Results of a 10-year follow-up study in Italy indicate that a TDF-containing regimen does not decrease the bone mineral density of HIV-positive youths [13]. However, a longitudinal study in Brazil showed that TDF contributes to decreased bone mineral density among adolescents [14]. Both the US Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) guidelines and the WHO guidelines recommend the use of TDF at the adult dose in adolescents weighing >35 kg. WHO guidelines also recommend Zidovudine and Abacavir as alternatives to TDF under special circumstances [15-17].

2.2 | Similar dosing recommendations for adolescents and adults

Dosing recommendations for ARVs have consistently been the same for adults and adolescents. The DHHS guidelines recommend "adult tablets" for both adults and post-pubertal adolescents [11,15]. The DHHS guidelines also recommend using most adult tablets for adolescents with a few exceptions based on weight: for example all adult ARV tablets are allowed for adolescents weighing \geq 40 kg, some adult ARV tablets are allowed for adolescents weighing >35 kg, and in some cases, >25 kg [15]. The annex to the updated WHO recommendations on ARV regimens suggests the same dosing for adults and adolescents [16].

Furthermore, the ODYSSEY trial evaluated the use of the adult dolutegravir (DTG) tablet (50 mg) not only in adolescents, but also in children weighing 20 to <40 kg. The results showed that the adult tablets achieved appropriate pharmacokinetic profiles with no safety signal, allowing practical dosing and rapid access to DTG [19].

The DHHS guidelines recommend taking the patient's sexual maturation rating (SMR) into consideration to select the dosing for ARVs, but neither the WHO 2016 ARV guidelines [17] or the Penta 2019 guidelines [18] even mention SMR. SMR is only mentioned three times in the DHHS Paediatric Guidelines Dosing Annex: dosing for efavirenz (400 mg) has not been evaluated in patients with an SMR 3 or less; for cobicistat/elvitegravir/emtricitabine/tenofovir (brand name, Stribild) which is recommended for adolescents who weigh >35 kg and have SMR 4 to 5; and TDF is recommended for adolescents who weight >35 kg and have SMR 1 to 2. However, the guidelines do not provide different dosing recommendations based on SMR. Practically, healthcare providers consider age and/or weight (vs. SMR) to select the dosing and to initiate ARVs per WHO or DHHS recommendations which have already factored in SMR [15,17,34].

2.3 Supply chain benefits

Using the same ARV formulations and dosing for adolescents and adults can synergize programme-level supply chain management. For example new drugs approved for both adolescents and adults can use an existing supply chain system, thereby minimizing inefficiencies caused by setting up a new supply chain system for adolescents only. Using the same dosing, formulations and combinations enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of the supply chain by minimizing the different types of ARVs that a supply chain specialist, a healthcare provider and clients have to manage. Having different types of ARVs for adults and adolescents can overwhelm the healthcare system and providers leading to an overloaded/inefficient supply chain system.

Moreover, using same dosing and formulations for both adolescents and adults streamlines ARVs treatment across populations, facilitating the implementation of treatment guidelines.

2.4 Possible challenges to participation of adolescents in clinical trials

Challenges to allowing adolescents to participate in adult clinical trials include recruiting adolescents, lack of treatment adherence and sub-optimal retention [3,21]. Obtaining informed consent from adolescents also can be difficult because adolescents typically are required to obtain the approval of an adult caregiver. Adolescents also need specific clinical trial materials that explain the trial using age-appropriate language. Some clinical trials require female participants to use contraception which may be challenging to assess and to address possibly due to fear of disclosure [36].

2.5 Recruiting adolescents into clinical trials

Other types of clinical trials have had challenges recruiting adolescents. For example the participation rate of 15 to 19 year olds in a national clinical trial of cancer drugs in the United States (1997 to 2003) was approximately half of the corresponding rate in children aged <15 years [20]. The study suggested that one of the reasons for low enrolment numbers could be that adolescents exist in a "no-man's land" between the worlds of paediatric and adult medical oncology [21].

Enhanced collaboration between paediatric and adult specialists involved in caring for adolescents may improve participation in clinical trials.

Adolescent participation in HIV clinical trials is variable. The recent ADVANCE trial enrolled participants aged \geq 12 years in South Africa; after 2 years 1053 patients had undergone randomization, but only 14 patients were <19 years, despite extensive efforts to recruit adolescents [5]. However, in the ODYSSEY trial (PENTA 20), a randomized trial of DTG-based ART versus the standard of care for children aged <18 years starting first-line ART or switching to second-line ART, the targeted number of adolescents was achieved quickly due to higher than expected numbers of adolescent willing to participate. To increase the numbers of younger children in this trial, the researchers had to cap the recruitment of ART-naïve children who weighed \geq 35 kg. Of 708 enrolled participants, 52% were aged >12 years at trial initiation [22].

Collaboration among paediatric, adolescent and adult HIV clinics is crucial. Protocols that not only allow adolescents to be recruited but also identify specific adolescent HIV clinics, could facilitate recruiting adolescents. FDA guidance advises doing these studies in parallel or in the same protocol for adults [2].

2.6 Adherence to treatment and follow-up retention in clinical trials

There are concerns that adolescents have difficulty adhering to medication regimens, which might hinder adherence to study drugs and attendance at follow-up visits after enrolment [23]. The advanced FDA Paediatric HIV guidance for Industry suggests that adolescents have lower adherence rates than adults [2]. Nevertheless, similar treatment adherence estimates have been reported both overall and by region in a meta-analysis of adult adherence [24] and in a meta-analysis of adolescent adherence support to young adolescents participating in trials with adults since young adolescents may have limited ability to self-care.

Some trials have shown excellent retention of children and adolescents, for example in the BREATHER (PENTA 16) trial, an open-label, non-inferiority trial of Efavirenz-based regimen. The study included 199 participants from 11 countries with a median age of 14 years (interquartile range, 12 to 18 years). Follow-up in the trial was outstanding, with over 98% of the clinic visits attended up to week 48 [26]. This result demonstrates that excellent follow-up of ALHIV can be achieved. Researchers are often concerned that including adolescents will skew the results if included in the adult trial. To address these concerns, researchers may analyse the adolescent and the adult population data separately to evaluate the consequences of possible differences. Stratification methods may also be used.

2.7 | Informed consent

Various ethical and legal complexities may arise when including children and adolescents in clinical trials, especially when obtaining informed consent. Clinical trials must obtain consent from a participant with legal capacity, or from a person with the authority to consent on the participant's behalf. This means that in most countries, adolescents aged <18 years (except emancipated minors) would need to obtain permission from their caregivers [27] to participate in a study.

Not uncommonly, especially in low-income countries, adolescents' caregivers are grandparents or other relatives who are not officially recognized. For example in the ARROW clinical trial in Zimbabwe, a substantial number of potential research participants were orphans (120/400; [30%]), and only 1/120 (0.08%) had a court-appointed guardian. The Zimbabwean ARROW research team informed the Ethical Committee of this challenges and how this legal requirement could potentially disadvantage this group of children. The Ethical Committee waived the legal guardianship requirement but requested that caregivers sign an informed consent document for the children's participation [28].

Apart from caregiver consent, adolescents younger than the legal age of consent are required to provide an informed assent to participate in a trial. In addition, if adolescents turn 18 years old during the trial, they have to re-consent by signing the informed consent document. For adult trial teams this might be an additional hurdle. However, as anecdotally shown in paediatric trials, well-trained trial teams can successfully carry out the consent and assent processes.

Depending on country policy, some structural level adjustments would be beneficial to make inclusion of adolescents into clinical trials possible. For example in South Africa, a 12year-old can consent to medical treatment without caregiver consent but cannot consent to participate in research. A stage 3 trial would benefit from including younger children for medical treatment, but other countries may not have this policy, which makes it difficult to manage the participants of the same age in other countries. Discussing this difficulty with key stakeholders could help determine specific country considerations and solutions.

Lastly, there are family and social-cultural considerations for protecting adolescents from harm, especially in trials involving highly sensitive topics for families and their communities (sexual behaviour, gender identity, disclosure, etc.) [35]. Educating Institutional Review Boards and investigators about special regulatory protection can facilitate including adolescents in adult phase 3 clinical trials. Institutional Review Board committees play a critical role in advancing research for all populations and discussing these issues can overcome barriers to including adolescents in phase 3 adult clinical trials for adults.

2.8 | Designing specific clinical trial materials for adolescents

In a discussion about conducting HIV preventive vaccine trials with adolescents Mc-Clure *et al* [29] recommend designing protocols in close consultation with local community leaders and adolescent consultants. Using recruitment materials and clinic sites that are friendly, attractive and accessible to adolescents also can help improve participation.

Penta Foundation has supported the creation of Youth Trial Boards in Uganda, Zimbabwe, South Africa and UK to develop a youth-centred approach for meaningful involvement of young patients in clinical trials and studies. ODYSSEY (PENTA 20) was the first trial that used a Youth Trial Board [30]. This model has been used in a few new trials (e.g. D3, BREATHER-plus, LATA) in children, adolescents and young people led by Penta and/or the Clinical Trials Unit at the University College of London [33].

2.9 Contraception in adolescence

Contraception, especially for women, is usually an inclusion criterion particularly in clinical trials for new drugs or vaccines. Adolescents' reluctance to disclose whether they are sexually active, is one of the many barriers which hinders their access to contraception [36]. Also, there is a lack of training among paediatricians and adult physicians on age-appropriate sexual and reproductive health counselling [36].

In most settings, contraceptive use is governed by specific country policies. Therefore, enrolment of adolescent girls also depends on the country policy that dictates the age when adolescent girls can use contraceptives. Especially in resource-limited settings key issues pertaining to the use of contraceptives in adolescent girls such as cultural norms, religious beliefs, community perspectives and stigma (for HIV and contraceptive use), might pose major enrolment concerns and could be addressed during the trial planning phase [31]. Raising community awareness and education is also crucial [32].

3 | CONCLUSIONS

HIV-positive adolescents remain at a disadvantage in terms of access to new drugs. Adolescents do not differ significantly from adults in weight, physiology, pharmacokinetics or adherence to treatment. Therefore, including ALHIV in initial phase 3 clinical trials with adults or in separate parallel studies could allow adolescents to benefit earlier from optimized ART. Coordinating research efforts with key stakeholders and sharing experiences on how to overcome perceived and real difficulties could help promote clinical trials among adolescents.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Pediatric Infectious Diseases Unit, Department of Pediatrics, Hospital 12 de Octubre, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain; ²Maternal and Child Health Branch, Division of Global HIV and Tuberculosis, Center for Global Health, US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, USA; ³Wits Reproductive Health and HIV Institute, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa; ⁴MRC Clinical Trials Unit at UCL, Institute of Clinical Trials & Methodology, London, United Kingdom; ⁵HIV Department, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors report no competing interests.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

The idea started at a WHO Paediatric Drug Optimization meeting (PADO 4) led by MP. PR and MP outlined the article. PR and DC wrote the first draft, which was reviewed by AT, MP and FV. The final draft was reviewed and approved by all authors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Emilia D. Rivadeneira for her valuable contributions to this manuscript. We thank the PADO 4 participants for their ideas and thoughts that initiated this article.

FUNDING

This publication has been partly supported by the US President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).

DISCLAIMER

The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the funding agencies or the WHO.

REFERENCES

1. Penazzato M, Gnanashanmugam D, Rojo P, Lallemant M, Lewis LL, Rochi F, et al. Optimizing research to speed up availability of pediatric antiretroviral drugs and formulations. Clin Infec Dis. 2017;64:1597–603.

2. FDA. Pediatric HIV Infection: drug product development for treatment, Guidance for industry. 2019 [cited 2020 Jan 8]. Available at: https://www.fda. gov/media/113319/download

3. Weiss AR, Hayes-Lattin B, Kutny MA, Stock W, Stegenga K, Freyer DR. Inclusion of adolescents and young adults in cancer clinical trials. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2015;31:197–205.

4. Sterling TR, Villarino ME, Borisov AS, Shang N, Gordin F, Bliven-Sizemore EB, et al. Three months of rifapentine and isoniazid for latent tuberculosis infection. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:2155–66.

5. Venter WFD, Moorhouse M, Sohkela S, Fairlie L, Mashabane N, Masenya M, et al. Dolutegravir plus two different prodrugs of tenofovir to treat HIV. N Engl J Med. 2019;381:803–15.

6. Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, Blakemore SJ, Dick B, Ezeh AC, et al. Adolescence: a foundation for future health. Lancet. 2012;379:1630–40.

7. Kelley AE, Schochet T, Landry CF. Risk taking and novelty seeking in adolescence: introduction to part I. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2004;1021:27–32.

8. UNAIDS. UNAIDS report, data sheet. [accessed 2020 Jun 8]; Available from: http://aidsinfo.unaids.org/2019

9. UNAIDS. Start free stay free AIDS free 2019 report. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2019.

10. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Growth and physiological development during adolescence. Ann Rev Med. **1968**;19:283–300.

11. Lu H, Rosenbaum S. Developmental pharmacokinetics in pediatric populations. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2014;19:262–76.

12. Jacobson DL, Lindsey JC, Gordon CM, Moye J, Hardin DS, Mulligan K, et al. Total body and spinal bone mineral density across Tanner stage in perinatally HIV-positive and uninfected children and youth in PACTG 1045. AIDS. 2010;24:687–96.

13. Giacomet V, Mora S, Martelli L, Merlo M, Sciannamblo M, Vigano A. A 12month treatment with tenofovir does not impair bone mineral accrual in HIVpositive children. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2005;40:448–50.

14. Schtscherbyna A, Pinheiro MF, Mendonça LM, et al. Factors associated with low bone mineral density in a Brazilian cohort of vertically HIV-positive adolescents. Int J Infect Dis. 2012;16:e872–8.

15. Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the use of antiretroviral agents in adults and adolescents with HIV. Department of Health and Human Services [cited 2020 Jan 10]. Available from: http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/contentfiles/lvguidelines/AdultandAdolescentGL.pdf

16. Panel on Antiretroviral Therapy and Medical Management of Children Living with HIV. Guidelines for the use of antiretroviral agents in pediatric HIV infection [cited 2020 Jan 12]. Available from: http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/contentfiles/ lvguidelines/pediatricguidelines.pdf

17. WHO. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach. 2nd ed [cited 2020 Apr 20]. Available from: https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/arv-2016/en/

18. Penta Writing Group. Penta HIV first and second line antiretroviral treatment guidelines. 2019 [cited 2020 Apr 20]. Available from: https://penta-id.org/ hiv/treatment-guidelines/

Bollen P. WB-PK1 results in children 20-<25kg. CROI 2019, poster #830.
 Bleyer A, Budd T, Montello M. Adolescents and young adults with cancer: the scope of the problem and criticality of clinical trials. Cancer. 2006;107:1645–55.

21. Ferrari A, Montello M, Budd T, Bleyer A. The challenge of clinical trials for adolescents and young adults with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2008;50:1101–4.

22. Moore CL, Kekitinwa A, Kaudha E. and the ODYSSEY Trial Team. ODYSSEY: design, current status, and baseline characteristics. 10th International Workshop on HIV Pediatrics. Amsterdam, July 20–21st, 2018; poster Number 34.

23. Hume M, Lewis LL, Nelson RM. Meeting the goal of concurrent adolescent and adult licensure of HIV prevention and treatment strategies. J Med Ethics. 2017;43(12):857–60.

24. Mills EJ, Nachega JB, Buchan I, Orbinski J, Attaran A, Singh S, et al. Adherence to antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa and North America. JAMA. 2006;296:679–90.

25. Kim SH, Gerver SM, Fidler S, Ward H. Adherence to antiretroviral therapy in adolescents living with HIV: systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2014;28:1945–56.

26. BREATHER (PENTA 16) Trial Group. Weekends-off efavirenz-based antiretroviral therapy in HIV-positive children, adolescents, and young adults (BREATHER): a randomised, open-label, non-inferiority, phase 2/3 trial. Lancet HIV. 2016;3:e421–30.

27. Mystakidou K, Panagiotou I, Katsaragakis S, Tsilika E, Parpa E. Ethical and practical challenges in implementing informed consent in HIV/AIDS clinical trials in developing or resource-limited countries. J Soc Aspects HIV/AIDS. 2009;6:46–57.

28. Bwakura-Dangarembizi M, Musesengwa R, Nathoo KJ, Takaidza P, Mhute T, Vhembo T. Ethical and legal constrains to children's participation in research in Zimbabwe: experiences from the multicenter pediatric HIV ARROW trial. BMC Med Ethics. 2012;13:17.

29. Mc-Clure CA, Gray G, Rybczyk GK, Wright PF. Challenges to conducting HIV preventative vaccine trials with adolescents. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2004;36:726–33.

30. Conway M. Nothing about us without us. 3rd International Workshop on HIV and adolescence. Nairobi, Kenya, Poster 40. 2019.

31. Fairlie L, Waitt C, Lockman S, Moorhouse M, Abrams EJ, Clayden P, et al. Inclusion of pregnant women in antiretroviral drug research: what is needed to move forwards? J Int AIDS Soc. 2019;22:e25372.

32. Sullivan KA, Little MO, Rosenberg NE, Zimba C, Jaffe E, Gilbert S, et al. Women's views about contraception requirements for biomedical research participation. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0216332.

33. Bernays S, Paparini S, Seeley J, Kihika SN, Gibb D, Rhodes T. Qualitative study of the BREATHER trial (Short Cycle antiretroviral therapy): is it acceptable to young people living with HIV. BMJ Open. 2017;7:e012934.

34. Dybul M, Fauci AS, Bartlett JG, Kaplan JE, Pau AK. Guidelines for using antiretroviral agents among HIV-infected adults and adolescents: the panel on clinical practices for treatment of HIV. Ann Int Med. 2002;137(5_Part_2):381–433.

35. Field MJ, Behrman RE,Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Clinical Research Involving Children. The Necessity and Challenges of Clinical Research Involving Children. In Ethical Conduct of Clinical Research Involving Children 2004. National Academies Press (US).

36. Thongmixay S, Essink DR, Greeuw TD, Vongxay V, Sychareun V, Broerse JE. Perceived barriers in accessing sexual and reproductive health services for youth in Lao People's Democratic Republic. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0218296.

COMMENTARY



Preventing mental health conditions in adolescents living with HIV: an urgent need for evidence

Christina A Laurenzi^{1,§} (D), Sarah Skeen¹ (D), Sarah Gordon¹ (D), Olamide Akin-Olugbade¹, Nina Abrahams¹ (D), Melissa Bradshaw¹ (D), Amanda Brand¹ (D), Stefani du Toit¹ (D), G J Melendez-Torres², Mark Tomlinson^{1,3} (D), Chiara Servili⁴, Tarun Dua⁴ and David A Ross⁵ (D)

[§]Corresponding author: Christina A Laurenzi, Office 4009, Education Building, Francie van Zijl Drive, Tygerberg, South Africa 7505. Tel: +27 21 938 9043. (christina.a.laurenzi@gmail.com)

Abstract

Introduction: As adolescents transition from childhood to adulthood, they experience major physical, social and psychological changes, and are at heightened risk for developing mental health conditions and engaging in health-related risk behaviours. For adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV), these risks may be even more pronounced. Research shows that this population may face additional mental health challenges related to the biological impact of the disease and its treatment, the psychosocial burdens of living with HIV and HIV-related social and environmental stressors.

Discussion: Psychosocial interventions delivered to adolescents can promote positive mental health, prevent mental health problems and strengthen young people's capacity to navigate challenges and protect themselves from risk. It is likely that these interventions can also benefit at-risk populations, such as ALHIV, yet there is little research on this. There is an urgent need for more research evaluating the effects of interventions designed to improve the mental health of ALHIV. We highlight four priorities moving forward. These include: generating more evidence about preventive mental health interventions for ALHIV; including mental health outcomes in research on psychosocial interventions for ALHIV; conducting intervention research that is sensitive to differences among ALHIV populations; and involving adolescents in intervention design and testing. **Conclusions:** More robust research on promotive and preventive mental health interventions is needed for ALHIV. Programmes should be informed by adolescent priorities and preferences and responsive to the specific needs of these groups.

Keywords: adolescents; interventions; public health; social support; mental health; psychosocial interventions

Received 16 January 2020; Accepted 3 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 World Health Organization; licensed by IAS

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution IGO License which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided that the original work is properly cited. In any reproduction of this article there should not be any suggestion that WHO or the article endorse any specific organization or products.

1 | INTRODUCTION

As adolescents transition from childhood to adulthood, they undergo major physical, social and psychological changes [1]. Physical changes, which include puberty and rapid brain development, take place in the context of newly developing autonomy, responsibility and decision-making abilities. This transition is also influenced by a complex set of socio-economic factors, including family and cultural environments, which interact with each other and shape adolescents' health trajectories and vulnerabilities [2]. During this dynamic yet precarious life stage, adolescents are at heightened risk for developing mental health conditions (such as depression and anxiety) and engaging in health-related risk behaviours. As many as 10% to 20% of people will develop mental health conditions during adolescence, and it is estimated that up to 50% of all mental health conditions start before the age of 14 [3]. Self-harm, which includes suicidal behaviours, is among the top three causes of death for 15- to 19-year-old boys and girls globally [4].

Furthermore, mental health conditions during this period are associated with a range of risk behaviours, including tobacco and alcohol use, drug misuse, risky sexual behaviours and violence [5,6], the effects of which may persist throughout the life course.

Adolescents living with HIV (ALHIV) are at an even greater risk of developing mental health conditions and risk behaviours [7]. Worldwide, an estimated two million adolescents are living with HIV, with over 80% of them residing in sub-Saharan Africa [8]. Depression, anxiety, hopelessness and fear for the future are common in this population, which makes mental health a vital area of concern for ALHIV [9]. Research shows that these risks are manifold, related to the biological impact of the disease and its treatment, the psychosocial burden of living with HIV and HIV-related social and environmental stressors. From a biological perspective, for adolescents who acquired HIV perinatally, the effects of the virus on brain development persist into adolescence [10], and there is mixed evidence on whether highly active antiretroviral therapy can slow or reverse damage to the developing brain [11,12]. ALHIV also face numerous psychosocial challenges. Many young people with perinatally acquired HIV first learn they are living with HIV during adolescence, which can be highly stressful and create familial tensions if they blame their parents for their condition [13]. Relatedly, ALHIV may also experience grief from losing one or both parents, or other caregivers, contributing to their own expectations and fears of illness and death [9,14]. Social and environmental stressors include experiencing heightened stigma and isolation; adolescents may also be increasingly required to manage their own treatment adherence [15,16]. ALHIV engaging in romantic and sexual relationships for the first time need to grapple with how to disclose their status to partners and protect against potential fears of rejection [17]. Additionally, adolescents living in vulnerable households with others who are also living with HIV may have additional mental health needs that intersect with experiences of poverty and illness [18].

There is additional evidence that the mental health of ALHIV affects other domains of their health and wellbeing. In general, clinical outcomes for adolescents tend to be worse than those of adults, and adolescents have poorer levels of adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART) and thus higher viral loads [19,20]. Evidence from adult populations reveals a complex relationship between mental health and HIV, including poor physiological and psychological outcomes related to factors such as disease progression, medication side effects, social isolation and the financial burden of being ill [21]. The same mechanisms that can contribute to poor health in adults living with HIV are likely to affect ALHIV; however, improving mental health can also foster better HIV outcomes such as adherence and retention in care [22], especially for adolescents [23].

2 | DISCUSSION

Adolescence is thus a critical time to intervene with this vulnerable group – to prevent mental conditions, to promote positive mental health and to strengthen young people's capacity to navigate challenges and protect themselves from risk. Psychosocial interventions have been identified as beneficial when delivered to universal, or general, adolescent populations: these interventions adopt a psychological, behavioural, and/or social approach to improve psychosocial wellbeing and reduce the risk of poor mental health outcomes [24]. Our meta-analysis found that psychosocial interventions that included specific components (emotional regulation, interpersonal skills, mindfulness, assertiveness training, problem solving, stress management, and alcohol and drug education) were associated with more successful programme outcomes for adolescent mental health [24].

However, there is less research about the impact of these types of interventions among targeted groups, such as ALHIV, who are likely to have specific, additional psychosocial support needs. From an equity perspective, it is critical to consider if and how psychosocial interventions might benefit special populations, including ALHIV. The same skills taught and practiced in a psychosocial intervention for a universal population of adolescents – for example, navigating changing peer dynamics or setting goals – may take on new significance as they help ALHIV disclose their status to a trusted peer, or conceptualise a healthy, fulfilling adult life. With a growing number of adolescents globally – including the largest number of children born with HIV to survive into adolescence – this imperative is even greater.

Helping Adolescents Thrive (HAT), a joint initiative between the World Health Organization and UNICEF, represents one such attempt to provide more evidence for both universal and targeted interventions for adolescent mental health. A 2019 evidence review linked with HAT, conducted in preparation for the development of the WHO Guidelines on Mental Health Promotive and Preventive Interventions for Adolescents, found only three randomised controlled trials targeting mental health outcomes for ALHIV ages 10 to 19 [25-27], shown in Table 1. As the burden of HIV and mental health continues to persist among this population, there is an urgent need for research evaluating the effects of interventions designed to improve the mental health of ALHIV. Drawing primarily on this review, we have distilled four recommendations to guide future research in this area.

2.1 | Invest in high-quality research to test the effectiveness of interventions to prevent mental health conditions and promote positive mental health for ALHIV

There is a clear need to invest in more research about the mental health of ALHIV. Increased HIV-related research on adolescents regarding new strategies for biomedical treatment and adherence, given their unique risk profile and susceptibility to worse HIV outcomes, is promising [28]. However, there are glaring omissions in the evidence on mental health for ALHIV. Mental health, as a critical foundation for overall wellbeing and quality of life, must be prioritised in research and interventions with ALHIV. We argue that there should be an equally robust approach to generating evidence about how best to promote positive mental health, and prevent mental conditions and risk behaviours, in this population. Integrating services that consider and address mental health into existing HIV services that adolescents routinely access is one way to bridge this gap. Recent reviews have identified the need for integrating mental health services into HIV care in high-burden settings [29], especially for adolescents [7]. Integrated models, which might consist of multidisciplinary teams coordinating care in a "one-stop shop", or service providers managing two-way referrals between HIV and mental health care, have been found to be both feasible and acceptable in high-burden, low-resource settings [30,31].

There is also a need to build process data into studies evaluating effectiveness, to give stakeholders and funders a multidimensional understanding of the complexity of programming with ALHIV. Process measures might include attendance, dosage and coverage of sessions; delivery characteristics; delivery and participation costs; content relevance; contextual barriers and enablers; implementer competence; and implementer soft skills. For adolescents who are more difficult to reach, more innovative engagement methods may be necessary. These include adolescents who do not access clinical care or HIV treatment consistently, those in age-disparate relationships, those living in vulnerable family circumstances and those who are involved in sex work or transactional relationships [32,33]. Research using process data holds important lessons for understanding why certain interventions may be easier to implement in given populations, or why some interventions may show limited evidence of effectiveness.

Author and year	Article name	Country	Programme Intent	Total sample (N), % girls	Age (mean, sd)	Study population description	Mental health outcomes measured ^a	Summary of findings as reported by authors
Bhana <i>et al.</i> (2014)	The VUKA family programme: piloting a family-based psychosocial intervention to promote health and mental health among HIV infected early adolescents in South Africa	South Africa	RCT to prevent depression and anxiety; promote communication and mental wellbeing	65, 49.2%	11.57, n/s	Recruited children between 10 and 14 years old enrolled in HIV care at the hospital and aware of their HIV status at two clinical sites in KwaZulu-Natal	 Positive mental health (mental wellbeing and mental functioning) Mental disorders (depression and anxiety) 	At 3 months post- intervention, intervention participants showed a significant improvement in positive mental health (youth/caregiver communication comfort, $\beta = 0.796$, $p = 0.002$ and communication frequency, $\beta = 0.478$, $p = 0.09$). Mental disorders showed a non-significant reduction in symptoms (depression,
Webb <i>et al.</i> (2018)	Mindfulness instruction for HIV- infected youth: A randomized controlled trial	United States	RCT to prevent stress, aggression and lower CD4 count; promote mindfulness, mental functioning, life satisfaction and adherence	72, 45.8%	18.71, 2.31	Adolescent participants were eligible if they received their medical care at one of the clinics, did not have any significant cognitive, behavioural, or psychiatric disorders and had a current CD4 count above 200	 Mental disorders (depression and anxiety) Positive mental health (mental wellbeing and mental function- ing) Adherence to antiretroviral treatment Aggressive, dis- ruptive and oppo- sitional beha- viours 	$\beta = 0.736$, $p = 0.417$). At three months post- intervention, intervention participants showed significant improvements in positive mental health (mindfulness, $\beta = 0.65$, 95%CI [0.06, 1.24], p = 0.03, problem-solving coping $\beta = 0.49$, 95%CI [0.05, 0.92], $p = 0.03$, and life satisfaction, $\beta = 0.57$, 95%CI [0.01, 1.13], p = 0.05) and aggressive, disruptive and oppositional behaviours (aggression, β =-0.89, 95%CI [-1.41, to 0.37],

Table 1. Summary of studies included in review

p = 0.002).

Table 1. (Continued)

×.	
evie	
je L	
in tl	
ons	
catio	
ecifi	
s sp	
ome	
outc	
the	
to .	
_\B(
ordir	_
acco	tria
led	lled
vord	tro
le v	d con
es a	omised
asur	dom
hese measures are worded accordingly to the outcome specifications in the revi	RCT = randomised
ese	" ⊢
Ļ	RCT

[0.061, 0.459], p = 0.011).
2.2 | Include mental health outcomes in studies of the effectiveness of psychosocial interventions to promote HIV treatment adherence and reduce risk behaviours

There is a large body of evidence relating to behavioural and psychosocial interventions for ALHIV; however, these studies rarely report on mental health outcomes specifically, often focusing on treatment adherence and sexual and reproductive health outcomes [34-37]. Existing interventions tend to be specifically designed to promote adherence to ART and prevent risky sexual behaviours such as unprotected intercourse [38], which are seen as essential to supporting adolescent health and preventing onward transmission. At the same time, these interventions tend to employ content and delivery mechanisms that are also likely to benefit mental health, such as decision-making skills, self-esteem, coping skills, support networking, psychoeducation and peer support [35,39,40].

As such, it is critical that measures that capture selfreported or parent-reported mental health are included in these types of studies as primary or secondary outcomes. In the absence of these measures and accompanying data, it is impossible to know whether psychosocial interventions have positive, null, or potentially negative effects on participants' mental health. Similarly, the effectiveness of adherence and risk behaviour interventions may be mitigated by underlying mental health outcomes that are not being accurately considered or incorporated into analysis: for example, the impact of self-harm or suicidal ideation on non-adherence. Embedded within this recommendation is a note of caution about context. As psychosocial interventions for ALHIV are increasingly implemented in sub-Saharan African settings, selecting the appropriate mental health measures and ensuring their validity among the research population is essential to gathering high-quality data [41].

2.3 Conduct intervention research that is sensitive to individual differences and specific needs among heterogenous populations of ALHIV

While many ALHIV share a common set of vulnerabilities, acknowledging the diversity and complexity of this group is critical when considering how to design and implement programmes. Differences in mode of infection, age group (younger versus older) and gender, as well as additional adolescent comorbidities, may affect how adolescents engage with an intervention. Evidence shows that as children born with HIV transition into adolescence, the way that they relate to their HIV status and engage in treatment behaviours may change, as they gain autonomy, come to terms with their illness and take control of their own health care-seeking [42,43]. Adolescents who acquire HIV later in their teens may experience a different set of challenges that complicate their ability to initiate care, with underlying mental health problems contributing to poorer health and adherence outcomes [44]. Depending on mode of infection - and on the duration of their illness, access to social support networks and other intersecting life stressors and risk behaviours - ALHIV may have ways of relating to their illness that are diverse. Research that is attuned to differences by mode of HIV infection could provide a more nuanced approach to improving mental health and could identify means of engaging and retaining adolescents in these interventions.

2.4 Involve and empower adolescents in intervention development and testing

Actively involving and engaging adolescents throughout the conceptualisation and implementation stages of interventions is important for ensuring interventions are acceptable and relevant – and ultimately effective. Special considerations should be made to develop adolescent-friendly interventions that actively include adolescents at all stages, and not to retrofit interventions used with adult populations. Co-production strategies, such as adolescent advisory boards, allow adolescents to drive how content is delivered and what messages are emphasised [45,46]. As this field develops, adolescents should take a lead role in crafting interventions that speak to their distinct needs and are also informed by cutting-edge evidence.

3 | CONCLUSIONS

ALHIV are faced with many potential risks to their mental health, yet there are few evaluations of promotive and preventive mental health interventions for this group. This group is a critical population to engage further through more frequent, robust research that can inform the development of new interventions. We call for more high-quality research into interventions for ALHIV that is informed by adolescent priorities and preferences and responsive to the specific needs of this group.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Institute for Life Course Health Research, Department of Global Health, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa; ²Peninsula Technology Assessment Group, College of Medicine and Health, University of Exeter, Exeter, United Kingdom; ³School of Nursing and Midwifery, Queens University, Belfast, United Kingdom; ⁴Department of Mental Health, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland; ⁵Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

COMPETING INTERESTS

The authors declare no competing interests.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

CAL conceptualized and drafted the manuscript, and coordinated further writing and editing among the co-authors. SS led the team that conducted the systematic reviews in collaboration with the WHO. SG, OAO, NA, MB, AB, SD and GJMT, along with CAL, all worked on the systematic review team and made important contributions to identifying eligible articles, extracting data, assessing risk of bias, analysing data, and conducting literature reviews to contextualise findings. MT, CS, TD and DAR provided leadership and input to the review team throughout the duration of the project and supported in conceptualising the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript and provided feedback at various stages, and read and approved the final manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

ALHIV, adolescents living with HIV; ART, antiretroviral therapy; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; WHO, World Health Organization.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

None declared.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the World Health Organization.

REFERENCES

1. Organization WH. Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation. 2017.

2. Romer D. Adolescent risk taking, impulsivity, and brain development: Implications for prevention. Dev Psychobiol. 2010;52(3):263–76.

3. Kessler RC, Angermeyer M, Anthony JC, De Graaf R, Demyttenaere K, Gasquet I, et al. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the World Health Organization's World Mental Health Survey Initiative. World Psychiatry. 2007;6(3):168–76.

4. Organization WH. Global health estimates (GHE). 2019.

5. Timmermans M, Van Lier PAC, Koot HM. Which forms of child/adolescent externalizing behaviors account for late adolescent risky sexual behavior and substance use? J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2008;49(4):386–94.

6. Brière FN, Rohde P, Seeley JR, Klein D, Lewinsohn PM. Comorbidity between major depression and alcohol use disorder from adolescence to adult-hood. Compr Psychiatry. 2014;55(3):526–33.

7. Vreeman RC, McCoy BM, Lee S. Mental health challenges among adolescents living with HIV. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21497.

8. Slogrove AL, Sohn AH. The global epidemiology of adolescents living with HIV: time for more granular data to improve adolescent health outcomes. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2018;13(3):170–8.

9. Pantelic M, Boyes M, Cluver L, Meinck F. HIV, violence, blame and shame: pathways of risk to internalized HIV stigma among South African adolescents living with HIV. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(1):21771.

10. Sherr L, Croome N, Parra Castaneda K, Bradshaw K, Herrero RR. Developmental challenges in HIV infected children—an updated systematic review. Children Youth Serv Rev. 2014;45:74–89.

11. Whitehead N, Potterton J, Coovadia A. The neurodevelopment of HIV-infected infants on HAART compared to HIV-exposed but uninfected infants. AIDS Care. 2014;26(4):497–504.

12. Koenig LJ, Nesheim S, Abramowitz S. Adolescents with perinatally acquired HIV: emerging behavioral and health needs for long-term survivors. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2011;23(5):321–7.

13. Murphy DA. HIV-positive mothers' disclosure of their serostatus to their young children: a review. Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2008;13(1):105–22.

14. Amzel A, Toska E, Lovich R, Widyono M, Patel T, Foti C, et al. Promoting a combination approach to paediatric hiv psychosocial support. AIDS. 2013;27: S147–57.

15. Organization WH. Psychosocial wellbeing. 2019. Available from: http://apps. who.int/adolescent/hiv-testing-treatment/page/Psychosocial_well_being

16. Vranda M, Mothi S. Psychosocial issues of children infected with HIV/AIDS. Indian J Psychol Med. 2013;35(1):19–22.

17. Friedman Nestadt D, Lakhonpon S, Pardo G, Saisaengjan C, Gopalan P, Bunupuradah T, et al. A qualitative exploration of psychosocial challenges of perinatally HIV-infected adolescents and families in Bangkok, Thailand. Vulnerable Child Youth Stud. 2018;13(2):158–69.

18. Meinck F, Cluver LD, Boyes ME. Household illness, poverty and physical and emotional child abuse victimisation: findings from South Africa's first prospective cohort study. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:444.

19. Adejumo OA, Malee KM, Ryscavage P, Hunter SJ, Taiwo BO. Contemporary issues on the epidemiology and antiretroviral adherence of HIV-infected adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa: a narrative review. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18(1):20049.

20. Taddeo D, Egedy M, Frappier J-Y. Adherence to treatment in adolescents. Paediatr Child Health. 2008;13(1):19–24.

21. Freeman M, Nkomo N, Kafaar Z, Kelly K. Factors associated with prevalence of mental disorder in people living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa. AIDS Care. 2007;19(10):1201–9.

22. Sin NL, DiMatteo MR. Depression treatment enhances adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a meta-analysis. Ann Behav Med. 2013;47(3):259–69.

23. Dow DE, Turner EL, Shayo AM, Mmbaga B, Cunningham CK, O'Donnell K. Evaluating mental health difficulties and associated outcomes among HIV-positive adolescents in Tanzania. AIDS Care. 2016;28(7):825–33.

24. Skeen S, Laurenzi CA, Gordon SL, du Toit S, Tomlinson M, Dua T, et al. Adolescent mental health program components and behavior risk reduction: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2019;144:e20183488.

25. Bhana A, Mellins CA, Petersen I, Alicea S, Myeza N, Holst H, et al. The VUKA family program: piloting a family-based psychosocial intervention to promote health and mental health among HIV infected early adolescents in South Africa. AIDS care. 2014;26(1):1–11.

26. Webb L, Perry-Parrish C, Ellen J, Sibinga E. Mindfulness instruction for HIV-infected youth: a randomized controlled trial. AIDS care. 2018;30(6):688–95. 27. Willis N, Milanzi A, Mawodzeke M, Dziwa C, Armstrong A, Yekeye I, et al. Effectiveness of community adolescent treatment supporters (CATS) interventions in improving linkage and retention in care, adherence to ART and psychosocial well-being: a randomised trial among adolescents living with HIV in rural Zimbabwe. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):117.

28. Murray KR, Dulli LS, Ridgeway K, Dal Santo L, Darrow de Mora D, Olsen P, et al. Improving retention in HIV care among adolescents and adults in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the literature. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0184879.

29. Chuah FLH, Haldane VE, Cervero-Liceras F, Ong SE, Sigfrid LA, Murphy G, et al. Interventions and approaches to integrating HIV and mental health services: a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 2017;32 Suppl_4:iv27-iv47.

30. Duffy M, Sharer M, Cornman H, Pearson J, Pitorak H, Fullem A. Integrating mental health and HIV services in zimbabwean communities: a nurse and community-led approach to reach the most vulnerable. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2017;28(2):186–98.

31. Fawzi MCS, Eustache E, Oswald C, Louis E, Surkan PJ, Scanlan F, et al. Psychosocial support intervention for HIV-affected families in Haiti: implications for programs and policies for orphans and vulnerable children. Soc Sci Med. 2012;74(10):1494–503.

32. Woods ER, Samples CL, Melchiono MW, Harris SK. Boston HAPPENS program: HIV-positive, homeless, and at-risk youth can access care through youthoriented HIV services. Semin Pediatr Infect Dis. 2003;14(1):43–53.

33. Toska E, Pantelic M, Meinck F, Keck K, Haghighat R, Cluver L. Sex in the shadow of HIV: a systematic review of prevalence, risk factors, and interventions to reduce sexual risk-taking among HIV-positive adolescents and youth in sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0178106.

34. Kerrigan D, Grieb SM, Ellen J, Sibinga E. Exploring the dynamics of ART adherence in the context of a mindfulness instruction intervention among youth living with HIV in Baltimore, Maryland. AIDS Care. 2018;30(11):1400–5.

35. Lightfoot M, Rotheram-Borus MJ, Tevendale H. An HIV-Preventive Intervention for Youth Living With HIV. Behav Modif. 2007;31(3):345–63.

36. Reisner MSL, Mimiaga MJ, Skeer MM, Perkovich MB, Johnson MCV, Safren SA. A review of HIV antiretroviral adherence and intervention studies among HIV–infected youth. Topics HIV Med. 2009;17(1):14–25.

37. Mavedzenge SN, Luecke E, Ross DA. Effective approaches for programming to reduce adolescent vulnerability to HIV infection, HIV risk, and HIV-related morbidity and mortality: a systematic review of systematic reviews. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;66:S154–69.

38. Chandwani S, Abramowitz S, Koenig LJ, Barnes W, D'Angelo L. A multimodal behavioral intervention to impact adherence and risk behavior among perinatally and behaviorally HIV-infected youth: description, delivery, and receptivity of adolescent impact. AIDS Educ Prev. 2011;23(3):222–35.

39. Vu L, Burnett-Zieman B, Banura C, Okal J, Elang M, Ampwera R, et al. Increasing uptake of HIV, sexually transmitted infection, and family planning services, and reducing HIV-Related risk behaviors among youth living with HIV in Uganda. J Adolesc Health. 2017;60 2, Supplement 2:S22–8.

40. Fongkaew W, Udomkhamsuk W, Viseskul N, Guptaruk M. Developing a program for enhancing youth HIV treatment adherence and risk reduction. Nurs Health Sci. 2017;19(4):427–35.

41. Lowenthal ED, Marukutira TC, Chapman J, Mokete K, Riva K, Tshume O, et al. Psychosocial assessments for HIV+ African adolescents: establishing construct validity and exploring under-appreciated correlates of adherence. PLoS One. 2014;9:e109302.

42. Lowenthal ED, Bakeera-Kitaka S, Marukutira T, Chapman J, Goldrath K, Ferrand RA. Perinatally acquired HIV infection in adolescents from sub-Saharan Africa: a review of emerging challenges. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(7):627–39.

43. Gittings L. A qualitative study of HIV-positive adolescent boys' and young men's health practices in the Eastern Cape Province of. South Africa. University of Cape Town: 2019.

44. DiClemente RJ, Crittenden CP, Rose E, Sales JM, Wingood GM, Crosby RA, et al. Psychosocial predictors of hiv-associated sexual behaviors and the efficacy of prevention interventions in adolescents at-risk for HIV infection: what works and what doesn't work? Psychosom Med. 2008;70(5):598–605.

45. Hawkins J, Madden K, Fletcher A, Midgley L, Grant A, Cox G, et al. Development of a framework for the co-production and prototyping of public health interventions. BMC Public Health. 2017;17(1):689.

46. Oliveras C, Cluver L, Bernays S, Armstrong A. Nothing about us without RIGHTS—meaningful engagement of children and youth: from research prioritization to clinical trials, implementation science, and policy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;78(1):S27.

COMMENTARY



Is HIV index testing and partner notification safe for adolescent girls and young women in low- and middle-income countries?

Anne L Stangl^{1,2,§} (D), Meroji Sebany¹, Chisina Kapungu¹, Cassandra Jessee^{1,3}, Chelsea L Ricker^{1,4} and Eliza Chard³ [§]Corresponding Author: Anne L Stangl, 711 W 40th St., Ste. 153 #343, Baltimore, Maryland 21211, USA. Tel: +1 833 437 2765. (alstangl@gmail.com)

Abstract

Introduction: While HIV index testing and partner notification (PN) services have the potential to reach adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) aged 15 to 24 and their sexual partners in need of HIV testing services, the potential social harms have not yet been studied. This commentary highlights the risks of this approach, including intimate partner violence (IPV), stigma and discrimination, and outlines an urgent research agenda to fully understand the potential harms of PN for AGYW, calling for the development of mitigation strategies.

Discussion: A substantial evidence base exists demonstrating the feasibility, acceptability and effectiveness of index testing and partner notification for adults aged 18 years and older in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), particularly for men, and for adults who are married/cohabiting and referring a current sexual partner. AGYW who are most vulnerable to HIV infection in LMICs do not reflect these demographics. Instead, they are often in age-disparate partnerships, have limited negotiating power within relationships, experience high rates of violence and face economic challenges that necessitate transactional sex. PN services may be particularly difficult for adolescent girls under 18 who face restrictions on their decision making and are at increased risk of rape. Adolescent girls may also face coercion to notify partners due to unequal power dynamics in the provider–adolescent client relationship, as well as judgemental attitudes towards adolescent sexual activity among providers.

Conclusions: As index testing and PN with AGYW is already being rolled out in some LMICs, research is urgently needed to assess its feasibility and acceptability. Implementation science studies should assess the availability, accessibility, acceptability and quality of HIV PN services for AGYW. Qualitative studies and routine monitoring with age-disaggregated data are critical to capture potential social harms, PN preferences and support needs for AGYW aged 15 to 17, 18 to 20 and 21 to 24. To mitigate potential harms, PN methods should prioritize confidentiality and avoidance of adverse outcomes. Healthcare providers should be trained to conduct routine enquiry for IPV and provide first-line support. Support services for AGYW living with HIV and survivors of violence should be implemented alongside HIV PN.

Keywords: adolescent girls and young women; HIV; testing; stigma; violence; gender; LMIC

Received 13 March 2020; Accepted 5 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 The Authors. Journal of the International AIDS Society published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) are a priority population that may benefit from HIV index testing to ensure early linkage to care and treatment services [1]. Recently, partner notification (PN) linked with HIV index testing has also been recommended for AGYW in low- and middle- income countries (LMICs) to support global efforts to reach UNAIDS' 95-95-95 goals and achieve epidemic control by 2030 [2]. HIV PN for AGYW is also seen as an entry point for engaging adolescent boys and young men, populations that are harder to reach, in HIV services [3]. However, little is known about the safety of this approach or the potential social harms that AGYW may experience due to HIV PN in LMICs.

Based on the strong evidence of feasibility and acceptability of HIV PN among adults 18 years of age and older, the World

Health Organization (WHO) published guidelines for HIV selftesting and partner notification in 2016 [3]. While HIV PN for adolescents is recommended by WHO, only three studies with adolescents, two qualitative and one observational, were referenced in the guidelines, all of which focused on sexually transmitted infection (STI) PN in high-income countries [4-6]. The dearth of evidence continues; there are still no published data on the feasibility and acceptability of this approach in LMICs, especially with adolescent girls aged 15 to 17.

A technical report by YouthPower Learning [7] written by the current authors identified only one additional qualitative study, which examined concerns about and potential barriers to PN among adolescent girls and boys in the United States (U.S.) *if* diagnosed with a STI not including HIV [8]. More recently, a study examined factors associated with successful PN among adolescents aged 13 to 24 living with HIV in 14 U.S. cities. However, the study population was predominantly black men who have sex with men (MSM) whose average age was 21 [9].

Given the paucity of feasibility and acceptability data in LMICs, especially among adolescent girls less than 18, the safety and potential harms of this approach must be considered. This commentary highlights the potential risks, including intimate partner violence (IPV) and stigma, and outlines an urgent research agenda to fully understand the potential harms of PN for AGYW, calling for the development of mitigation strategies.

2 DISCUSSION

2.1 | Types and preferences of partner notification services

HIV PN can be passive, in which clients living with HIV are encouraged to contact their sexual partners directly and inform them that they should be tested, or assisted, where a provider supports the index client to notify their sexual partners [10]. Among adults, assisted referral appears to be the preferred method of notification, and the most effective [7]. A meta-analysis of three randomized controlled trials (RCTs) conducted by Dalal et al. [10] found that assisted partner notification services led to a 1.5-fold increase in uptake of HIV testing services (HTS) among partners compared to passive referral. Conversely, studies with adult women and men in Tanzania [11] and youth in the U.S. [9] have reported preferences for passive referral. No studies have examined potential gender or age differences in HIV PN preferences.

Studies on STI PN among youth in high-income countries have indicated that youth may prefer technology-facilitated PN, including SMS or text messages, both for convenience and to enhance privacy [4,6]. However, anonymous provider referral has also been suggested given adolescents' concerns about their safety and reputation when discussing STI exposures with partners [8]. While we know that different methods of HTS are broadly acceptable to adolescents, including homebased testing, provider-initiated testing and, more recently, self-testing [12], PN is new for this population, so assessing PN preferences, as well as acceptability of PN, is important. In settings where HIV index testing and PN has not yet been rolled out, formative research on PN preferences for AGYW should be conducted to determine the safest methods, which may vary by age and context. Youth engagement is key for implementation science research on adolescent HTS and linkage to care in LMICs [13]. In addition to being study participants, research should actively involve AGYW in the design, implementation and evaluation of the studies to ensure that the insights of adolescents themselves are incorporated into index testing and PN programmes and implementation strategies in order to increase comfort and reduce potential harms.

2.2 | Is HIV index testing and partner notification safe for AGYW?

In short, we do not yet know if index testing and partner notification will be safe for AGYW in LMICs. While a substantial evidence base exists demonstrating the feasibility, acceptability and effectiveness of index testing and partner notification for adults aged 18 years and older [10], no studies have included girls between the ages of 15 and 17. We also did not find evidence on HIV PN services with transgender women under the age of 18. The average age of participants in eight feasibility studies included in a recent meta-analysis [10] ranged from 26 [14] to 33 years [11]. Evidence suggests that successful notification and referral are more likely when index clients are male, married or cohabitating, or are referring a current sexual partner [11]. Partner type and quality of the relationship are also predictors of successful PN [9].

However, the AGYW who are most vulnerable to HIV infection in LMICs do not reflect these demographics. Instead, they are often in age-disparate or short-term partnerships, have limited negotiating power within relationships, experience high rates of violence and face economic challenges that necessitate transactional sex [15,16]. PN services may be particularly difficult for adolescent girls under 18, who face restrictions on their decision making and are at increased risk of rape [15,16] as well as family rejection and social stigma if their HIV status is known. Adolescent girls may also face coercion to notify partners due to unequal power dynamics in the provider–adolescent client relationship, as well as judgemental attitudes towards adolescent sexual activity among providers [17].

As index testing and PN with AGYW is already being rolled out in some LMICs, research is urgently needed to assess its feasibility and acceptability. Implementation science studies with youth engagement [18] should assess the availability, accessibility, acceptability and quality of HIV PN services for AGYW. They should also acknowledge the transience and frequent change in adolescent relationships. Qualitative studies, including participatory methods such as Photovoice [19], and routine monitoring with age-disaggregated data are critical to capture potential social harms, PN preferences and support needs for AGYW aged 15 to 17, 18 to 20 and 21 to 24. These age cohorts are in different developmental stages, which may translate into different types of partnerships, with different motivations and different social harms related to partner notification.

Structural barriers related to ethical and legal challenges, it should be noted, often stand in the way of rigorous research with adolescents, especially on sensitive topics such as sexual and reproductive health [20]. Given this, the lack of evidence on HIV PN services among AGYW is not surprising. The WHO recently published practical guidance for researchers and reviewers on the most pressing ethical questions [21]. This is an important step in overcoming these barriers and expanding research on sexual and reproductive health with adolescents.

2.3 | Potential social harms of partner notification

Implementing HIV index testing for AGYW in LMICs could cause undue social harm and impede a healthy transition to adulthood. A range of harms are considered, including anticipated stigma, lack of confidentiality, coercion, risk of IPV and economic ramifications.

2.3.1 | Anticipated stigma

Disclosure of HIV serostatus is a key concern of AGYW living with HIV [22,23]. The anticipation of stigma from peers, family

and community members can be severe, and AGYW are often encouraged by parents or guardians not to share their HIV status with anyone outside of their family to protect them from social harms [24,25]. Access to sexual and reproductive health (SRH) services is often limited, and many AGYW may face additional social and family stigma and consequences if it becomes known that they have begun sexual activity, regardless of whether that sexual activity was consensual [26-28]. Support services for AGYW living with HIV in LMICs are limited, especially as girls age out of pediatric services and enter adult care and treatment services [29]. Given the dual threat of stigmatization for both sexuality and HIV status, disclosure, even to trusted friends and family, is limited for AGYW living with HIV [30,31].

Concerns of judgemental attitudes by healthcare providers and a lack of trust in providers have been cited as potential barriers to HIV PN in previous research [32]. Fear of embarrassment, social stigma and shame have also been noted as potential barriers to HIV and STI PN among adults in Barbados and adolescents in the U.S. [8,32]. In South Africa, one study found that anticipated stigma was the most common stigma-related barrier to HIV PN [33].

2.3.2 | Confidentiality and coercion

The ability to maintain confidentiality in HTS and PN for AGYW is a particular concern. According to UNAIDS, parental consent is required for young people under certain ages before accessing one or more SRH services in 72 countries [34]. Given the varied consent policies in place for adolescents and young people aged 15 to 24 in LMICs, implementing HIV PN with AGYW in this age group may prove challenging [35]. Indeed, recent research suggests that lowering the age of consent for HIV testing may have more of an impact on achieving the UNAIDS 95-95-95 targets than any new testing modality [36]. A critical first step in scaling-up HIV PN for AGYW will be for countries to develop consent policies and practices to facilitate access to and uptake of HTS for adolescents.

Partner notification requires an individual to report details of a partner name and contact information, so it will only be possible if AGYW know the name and contact details of their sexual partner/s. However, unequal power dynamics between healthcare providers and clients, particularly AGYW, and judgemental attitudes towards adolescent sexual activity among providers, may lead to partner notification that is unwanted or unsafe [37]. Women living with HIV are at particular risk of stigma or coercion in the health setting [38,39], and this same potential exists for AGYW. To limit such harms, providers must receive training on how to offer stigma-free, gender-sensitive, youth-friendly services in a non-judgemental and supportive manner [40-43] that reduces coercion.

2.3.3 | Risk of intimate partner violence

AGYW are particularly vulnerable to HIV during their early sexual life, in part due to high prevalence of gender-based violence (GBV) and IPV. A recent study in Kenya found that four in 10 AGYW experienced coerced first sex, and one in nine reported forced first sex [44]. GBV-associated HIV transmission may be compounded over the sexual life course of AGYW [45] as repeated acts of violence perpetrated by more than one partner are commonly reported [46,47]. While cases of IPV linked directly to HIV PN have not been reported following HIV PN among adult women in the literature [48-51], the risk of IPV following HIV PN may be greater for AGYW and must be monitored.

To minimize the potential for IPV among AGYW following PN, healthcare providers must be trained on how to conduct routine enquiry for IPV. Providers should also be trained on the provision of first-line support for AGYW who disclose experiences or fear of violence. This training should include information on how to utilize new PN tools for screening AGYW for risk of GBV, IPV or other social harms that may result from HIV PN [52]. A list of resources and support services for AGYW living with HIV and their sexual partner/s, as well as survivors of violence, should also be available to providers to facilitate referral.

2.3.4 | Economic ramifications

Partnership dissolution, particularly for women fearing loss of economic support, was identified as a key barrier to HIV PN among women in LMICs [32,53,54,55]. Among adolescents, loss of a relationship was also identified as a concern and cited as a key deterrent to notifying a partner about exposure to an STI [8]. The economic ramifications of partnership dissolution for AGYW in LMICs, especially adolescent girls aged 15 to 17, may be especially severe, as they may rely on transactional sex with older men to pay for school fees and daily necessities, such as food and clothing. Given this, AGYW may be hesitant to accept PN. Successfully adapting HIV PN services for AGYW in LMICs may require linkages to structural interventions and social programmes that support girls' continuation in school (e.g. subsidies for uniforms, cash transfer programmes, etc.) and provide nutritional and housing support to remove the need for transactional sex [16,56].

2.4 Considerations for adapting PN for AGYW

Paramount among considerations regarding the roll-out of HIV PN for AGYW is ensuring "voluntarism, with informed consent and the explicit right to decline," as expressly stated in the HIV Self-Testing and Partner Notification guidance document published by WHO [3]. A range of policy, programmatic and research considerations are recommended prior to or alongside scale-up of HIV index testing and PN with this vulnerable population (Box 1).

To tailor HIV PN for AGYW, services should ideally be part of a comprehensive package of HIV prevention, care and treatment services that are youth-friendly [57]. HTS can be an entry point for youth to access other services, such as reproductive health education; peer counselling; life skills development; family planning; diagnosis and treatment of STIs; prevention of vertical transmission of HIV; and mental health and psychosocial support services. Integrating positive youth development (PYD) features into comprehensive HIV services can help support healthy adolescent development, reduce HIV risk behaviours, and address potential barriers and challenges to HIV PN. These features include access to age-appropriate and youth-friendly services, life skills-building, creating safe spaces and building healthy relationships [58].

Box 1. Key recommendations for ensuring the safety of HIV index testing and partner notification for adolescent girls and young women in low- and middle-income countries.

Recommendations^a for researchers

- 1. Conduct feasibility and acceptability studies of HIV PN^b with AGYW^c in LMICs^d where implementation is being planned before scaling up HIV PN with this vulnerable population. Where research is underway, encourage age-disaggregation of data to learn more about young cohorts from ages 15 to 17, 18 to 20 and 21 to 24 years old.
- Prior to implementing HIV PN for AGYW, countries should conduct rapid situational assessments to understand what PN methods will be safest and most acceptable to AGYW and what resources are available to support AGYW who suffer social harms such as IPV or stigma due to PN.
- 3. In countries where HIV PN is already being implemented for AGYW, implementation science research to assess the availability, acceptability and quality of HIV PN services for AGYW should be conducted and programmes adjusted as needed based on the findings.

Recommendations^a for programme implementers

- 1. Conduct routine programme monitoring of HIV PN services for AGYW once implemented to identify and correct any procedures or processes that may facilitate social harms.
- 2. Ensure that resources, like gender-based violence (GBV) support services and social support services for adults and adolescents living with HIV, are in place and prepared to support all adolescents referred from HIV PN services.
- 3. Alongside the implementation of HIV PN for AGYW, targeted efforts should be made to introduce adolescent boys and young men to HIV testing and increase their engagement in partner referral.
- 4. Healthcare providers should be trained on:
 - a. how to conduct routine enquiry for intimate partner violence (IPV), including how to ask about experience or fear of IPV and sexual violence and the provision of first-line support for AGYW who do disclose experience or fear of violence, including information on how to utilize new tools^e to screen AGYW for risk of GBV, IPV or other social harms that may result from HIV PN; and
 - b. provision of stigma-free, gender-sensitive, adolescent- and youth-friendly services in a non-judgemental and supportive manner.
- 5. Ensure that HIV PN services are embedded into comprehensive HIV services that are youth-friendly and integrate positive youth development^f features.
- 6. Implement community mobilization strategies to increase awareness of UNAIDS 95-95-95 goals and generate enthusiasm for participating in HIV testing services, including HIV PN.
- 7. Ensure that adolescent girls and boys have access to information through schools and local community centres and are given the opportunity to build skills on reproductive health to enhance both their knowledge and ability to communicate about reproductive health topics with both healthcare providers and partners.

Recommendation^a for policy makers

1. Paramount to the successful implementation of HIV PN for AGYW is the need for countries to develop consent policies and practices to facilitate access to and uptake of HIV testing services among adolescents and ensure confidentiality.

^aThese recommendations were adapted and reprinted with permission from: Stangl A, Sebany M, Kapungu C, *et al.* Technical and Programmatic Considerations for Index Testing and Partner Notification for Adolescent Girls and Young Women: Technical Report. Washington, DC: Youth Power Learning, Making Cents International; 2019. ^bPN: partner notification; ^cAGYW: adolescent girls and young women; ^dLMICs: low- and middle-income countries; ^eRicker, C, Stangl, A, Sebany, M, *et al.* (2019) Planning and Conducting Index Testing and Partner Notification for AGYW: Implementation and Clinical Guidance for Health Services; ^fPositive Youth Development (PYD) features include: access to age-appropriate and youth-friendly services, life skills-building, creating safe spaces and building healthy relationships.

For AGYW, age differentials of sexual partners and unequal power dynamics make disclosure of HIV status particularly challenging. Self-efficacy is an important predictor of client initiated STI PN for adults and adolescents [59-62]. Peer support groups and safe spaces can help youth share experiences, address stigma and discrimination and build skills to support partner disclosure. Peer counsellors can serve as trusted and credible sources of support [62]. Integrated youth-friendly services provide the opportunity for youth-centred prevention,

care and treatment for the multitude of issues affecting youth living with HIV [63].

Strategies for involving adolescent boys and young men in HTS, including index testing and PN, will be critical for minimizing harm for AGYW, who risk being blamed for "spreading HIV" if PN is focused solely on them. Such strategies could include targeted efforts to introduce adolescent boys and young men to HIV testing and increase their engagement in partner referral. Sensitizing the public through mass media campaigns and community mobilization strategies is also recommended to increase awareness of 95-95-95 targets and generate broad enthusiasm for participating in HTS, including HIV PN.

Other HIV PN options for AGYW, besides provider-initiated PN, should be considered for casual partners, including anonymous technology-facilitated PN (e.g. SMS) or provider referral. HIV PN may not be recommended for unmarried AGYW with few or single partners, as there are real risks of loss of confidentiality due to limited sexual networks. In all cases, HIV PN should only be carried out if preferred by the AGYW and should include follow-up counselling for all parties.

3 | CONCLUSIONS

While PN services have the potential to reach AGYW and their sexual partners in need of HIV testing services, the implementation of PN needs careful consideration to minimize potential social harms, particularly for girls under age 18 who may be experiencing violence or stigma, fear violence or stigma, or who may have acquired HIV as a result of violence. PN services for AGYW should also be designed to ensure that AGYW who know their status are linked to appropriate HIV services, such as pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to prevent HIV infection, antiretroviral therapy (ART) to suppress HIV viral load, and adherence and social support services for adolescents or partners living with HIV. Such strategies should be incorporated into HIV and SRH services and complemented with the scale-up of outreach, HIV testing services and PN for adolescent boys, as well as young and adult men.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹International Center for Research on Women, Washington, DC, USA; ²Hera Solutions, Baltimore, MD, USA; ³Making Cents International, Washington, DC, USA; ⁴Independent Consultant, Washington, DC, USA

COMPETING INTERESTS

None declared.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

AS, CJ and CK conceptualized the manuscript. MS and CR conducted the literature review. AS led the manuscript writing. MS, CK, CJ, CR and EC were involved in drafting the manuscript and provided critical feedback on the full manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper was made possible by the support of the American People through the support of the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) through the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID), under the terms of YouthPower Learning, Contract No. AID-OAA-I-15-00034/AID-OAA-TO-00011. The authors' views expressed in this report do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government.

REFERENCES

1. UNAIDS. HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women: Putting HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women on the Fast-Track and engaging men and boys. Geneva: 2016.

2. UNAIDS. Fast-track - ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS; 2014.

3. World Health Organization (WHO). HIV self-testing and partner notification: supplement to consolidated guidelines on HIV testing services. 2016.

 Shoveller J, Knight R, Davis W, Gilbert M, Ogilvie G. Online sexual health services: examining youth's perspectives. Can J Public Health. 2012;103:14–8.
Tan W, Chio T. Which partner notification method do patients prefer? Results of a patient preference survey at the national STI clinic in Singapore. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:A96–7.

6. Doull M, Haag D, Bondyra M, Lee C, Dinner K, Wong T, et al. Similarities and differences in perceptions of models for online partner notification for sexually transmitted infections: potential users versus care providers. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:A95–6.

7. Stangl A, Sebany M, Kapungu C, Ricker C, Chard E, Jessee C. Technical and programmatic considerations for index testing and partner notification for adolescent girls and young women: technical report. Washington, DC: Youth Power Learning, Making Cents International; 2019.

8. Reed JL, Huppert JS, Gillespie GL, Taylor RG, Holland CK, Alessandrini EA, et al. Adolescent patient preferences surrounding partner notification and treatment for sexually transmitted infections. Acad Emerg Med. 2015;22:61–6.

9. van den Berg JJ, Javanbakht M, Gorbach PM, Rudy BJ, Westfall AO, Wilson CM, et al. Partner notification for youth living with HIV in 14 cities in the United States. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;77:46–52.

10. Dalal S, Johnson C, Fonner V, Kennedy CE, Siegfried N, Figueroa C, et al. Improving HIV test uptake and case finding with assisted partner notification services. AIDS. 2017;31:1867–76.

11. Kahabuka C, Plotkin M, Christensen A, Brown C, Njozi M, Kisendi R, et al. Addressing the first 90: a highly effective partner notification approach reaches previously undiagnosed sexual partners in Tanzania. AIDS Behav. 2017;21:2551–60.

12. World Health Organization (WHO). HIV and adolescents: guidance for HIV testing and counselling and care for adolescents living with HIV: Recommendations for a public health approach and considerations for policy-makers and managers. 2013.

13. Denison JA, Pettifor A, Mofenson LM, Kasedde S, Marcus R, Konayuma KJ, et al. Youth engagement in developing an implementation science research agenda on adolescent HIV testing and care linkages in sub-Saharan Africa. AIDS. 2017;31:S195–201.

14. Rosenberg NE, Mtande TK, Saidi F, Stanley C, Jere E, Paile L, et al. Recruiting male partners for couple HIV testing and counselling in Malawi's option B+ programme: An unblinded randomised controlled trial. Lancet HIV. 2015;2: e483–91.

15. Harrison A, Colvin CJ, Kuo C, Swartz A, Lurie M. Sustained high HIV Incidence in young women in Southern Africa: social, behavioral, and structural factors and emerging intervention approaches. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2015;12:207–15.

16. Wamoyi J, Mshana G, Mongi A, Neke N, Kapiga S, Changalucha J. A review of interventions addressing structural drivers of adolescents' sexual and reproductive health vulnerability in sub-Saharan Africa: implications for sexual health programming. Reprod Health. 2014;11:88.

17. Mackworth-Young CR, Bond V, Wringe A, Konayuma K, Clay S, Chiiya C, et al. " My mother told me that I should not ": a qualitative study exploring the restrictions placed on adolescent girls living with HIV in Zambia. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:e25035.

18. Jacquez F, Vaughn LM, Wagner E. Youth as partners, participants or passive recipients: a review of children and adolescents in Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR). Am J Community Psychol. 2013;51:176–89.

19. Necheles JW, Chung EQ, Hawes-Dawson J, Ryan GW, Williams LB, Holmes HN, et al. The Teen photovoice project: a pilot study to promote health through advocacy. Prog Community Heal Partnerships Res Educ Action. 2007;1:221–9.

20. Amir Singh J, Siddiqi M, Parameshwar P, Chandra-Mouli V. World Health Organization guidance on ethical considerations in planning and reviewing research studies on sexual and reproductive health in adolescents. J Adolesc Heal. 2019;64:427–29.

21. WHO. Guidance on ethical consideration considerations in planning and reviewing research studies on sexual and reproductive health with adolescents. Geneva. 2018.

22. Mburu G, Hodgson I, Kalibala S, Haamujompa C, Cataldo F, Lowenthal ED, et al. Adolescent HIV disclosure in Zambia: barriers, facilitators and outcomes. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014;17:18866.

23. Michaud P-A, Suris J-C, Thomas LR, Kahlert C, Rudin C, Cheseaux J-J. To Say or not to say: a qualitative study on the disclosure of their condition by human immunodeficiency virus-positive adolescents. J Adolesc Heal. 2009;44:356–62.

24. DeSilva MB, Penwill N, Sabin L, Gifford AL, Li Z, Fujie Z, et al. We don't dare to tell her \ldots we don't know where to begin: disclosure experiences and challenges among adolescents living with HIV and their caregivers in China. Int J Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2018;5:5–12.

25. Stangl A, Bond V, Mackworth-Young C, Sievwright K, Singh D, Clay S, et al. Transitioning to a healthy adulthood: lessons learned from adolescent girls living with HIV in urban Zambia. Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women; 2015.

26. Hall KS, Morhe E, Manu A, Harris LH, Ela E, Loll D, et al. Factors associated with sexual and reproductive health stigma among adolescent girls in Ghana. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0195163.

27. Gyan SE. Passing as "Normal": adolescent girls' strategies for escaping stigma of premarital sex and childbearing in Ghana. SAGE Open. 2018;8:215824401880142.

28. Health Policy Plus. Held back by fear how stigma and discrimination keep adolescents from accessing sexual and reproductive health information and services. Washington, DC: Health Policy Plus; 2016.

29. Stangl A, Mwangala M, Meroji SCM, Chipo C, Mutale C, Sue CKS, et al. 'Let's talk to each other' (Tikambisane): The development, feasibility and acceptability of a support group intervention for adolescent girls living with HIV in Zambia. Washington, DC: International Center for Research on Women; 2018.

30. UNAIDS. Confronting discrimination. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2017.

31. World Health Organization. Adolescent HIV testing, counseling and care: implementation guidance for health providers and planners. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.

32. Adams OP, Carter AO, Redwood-Campbell L. Understanding attitudes, barriers and challenges in a small island nation to disease and partner notification for HIV and other sexually transmitted infections: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:455.

33. Wood JM, Harries J, Kalichman M, Kalichman S, Nkoko K, Mathews C. Exploring motivation to notify and barriers to partner notification of sexually transmitted infections in South Africa: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health. 2018;18:980.

34. Gleeson HS, Oliveras Rodriguez CA, Hatane L, Hart D. Ending AIDS by 2030: the importance of an interlinked approach and meaningful youth leadership. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018;21:e25061.

35. Eba PM, Lim H. Reviewing independent access to HIV testing, counselling and treatment for adolescents in HIV-specific laws in sub-Saharan Africa: implications for the HIV response. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21456.

36. Mckinnon B, Vandermorris A. National age-of-consent laws and adolescent HIV testing in sub-Saharan Africa: a propensity-score matched study. Bull World Health Organ. 2019;97(1):42–50.

37. UNAIDS. HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women: putting HIV prevention among adolescent girls and young women on the Fast-Track and engaging men and boys. Geneva, Switzerland: UNAIDS; 2016.

38. Cheng T. HIV stigma in health care settings: a need for greater partnership of doctors and lawyers in ending AIDS. Health Human Rights J. 2015. [cited 2015 Feb 24]. Available from: https://www.hhrjournal.org/2015/02/hiv-stigma-in-health-care-settings-a-need-for-greater-partnership-of-doctors-and-lawyers-in-ending-aids/

39. Kendall T, Albert C. Experiences of coercion to sterilize and forced sterilization among women living with HIV in Latin America. J Int AIDS Soc. 2015;18:19462.

40. UNAIDS. Eliminating discrimination in health care: stepping stone towards ending the AIDS epidemic. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2016.

41. Nyblade L, Srinivasan K, Mazur A, Raj T, Patil DS, Devadass D, et al. HIV stigma reduction for health facility staff: development of a blended- learning intervention. Front public Heal. 2018;6:165.

42. Greifinger R. Training health providers in youth-friendly health services. Washington, DC: Population Services International; 2015.

43. Senderowitz J, Solter C, Hainsworth G. Clinic assessment of youth friendly services a tool for assessing and improving reproductive health services for youth. Watertown MA: Pathfinder International; 2002.

44. Becker ML, Bhattacharjee P, Blanchard JF, Cheuk E, Isac S, Musyoki HK, et al. Vulnerabilities at first sex and their association with lifetime gender-based violence and HIV prevalence among adolescent girls and young women engaged

in sex work, transactional sex, and casual sex in Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018;79:296–304.

45. Shannon K, Strathdee SA, Goldenberg SM, Duff P, Mwangi P, Rusakova M, et al. Global epidemiology of HIV among female sex workers: Influence of structural determinants. Lancet. 2015;385:55–71.

46. Dunkle KL, Jewkes RK, Brown HC, Gray GE, McIntryre JA, Harlow SD. Gender-based violence, relationship power, and risk of HIV infection in women attending antenatal clinics in South Africa. Lancet. 2004;363:1415–21.

47. Jewkes RK, Dunkle K, Nduna M, Shai N. Intimate partner violence, relationship power inequity, and incidence of HIV infection in young women in South Africa: a cohort study. Lancet. 2010;376:41–8.

48. Maher JE, Peterson J, Hastings K, Dahlberg LL, Seals B, Shelley G, et al. Partner violence, partner notification, and women's decisions to have an HIV test. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2000;25:276–82.

49. Cherutich P, Golden MR, Wamuti B, Richardson BA, Ásbjörnsdóttir KH, Otieno FA, et al. Assisted partner services for HIV in Kenya: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet HIV. 2017;4(2):e74–e82.

50. Mathews C, Kalichman MO, Laubscher R, Hutchison C, Nkoko K, Lurie M, et al. Sexual relationships, intimate partner violence and STI partner notification in Cape Town, South Africa: an observational study. Sex Transm Infect. 2018;94:144–50.

51. Kissinger PJ, Niccolai LM, Magnus M, Farley TA, Maher JE, Richardson-alston G, et al. Partner notification for HIV and syphilis: effects on sexual behaviors and relationship stability. Sex Transm Dis. 2003;30:75–82.

52. Ricker C, Stangl A, Sebany M, Kapungu C, Chard E, Jessee C. Planning and conducting index testing and partner notification for AGYW: implementation and clinical guidance for health services. Washington, DC: Youth Power Learning, Making Cents International; 2019.

53. Kalichman SC, Mathews C, Kalichman M, Lurie MN, Dewing S. Perceived barriers to partner notification among sexually transmitted infection clinic patients, Cape Town, South Africa. J Public Health (Bangkok). 2016;39:fdw051.

54. Plotkin M, Kahabuka C, Christensen A, Ochola D, Betron M, Njozi M, et al. Outcomes and experiences of men and women with partner notification for HIV testing in Tanzania: results from a mixed method study. AIDS Behav. 2017;22:102–16.

55. Kamanga G, Brown L, Jawati P, Chiwanda D, Nyirenda N. Maximizing HIV partner notification opportunities for index patients and their sexual partners in Malawi. Malawi Med J. 2015;27:140–4.

56. UNAIDS, STRIVE. Transactional sex and HIV risk: from analysis to action. Geneva: UNAIDS, STRIVE; 2018.

57. Dick B, Ferguson J, Chandra-Mouli V, Brabin L, Chatterjee S, Ross DA. Review of the evidence for interventions to increase young people's use of health services in developing countries. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 2006;938:151–204.

58. Hinson L, Kapungu C, Jessee C, Skinner MBM, Evans-Whipp T. Positive youth development measurement toolkit: a practical guide for program implementers of youth programs. Washington, DC: 2016.

59. Nuwaha F, Faxelid E, Wabwire-Mangen F, Eriksson C, Höjer B. Psycho-social determinants for sexual partner referral in Uganda: quantitative results. Soc Sci Med. 2001;53(10):1287–301.

60. Fortenberry JD, Brizendine EJ, Katz BP, Orr DP. The role of self-efficacy and relationship quality in partner notification by adolescents with sexually transmitted infections. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2002;156:1133.

61. Gursahaney PR, Jeong K, Dixon BW, Wiesenfeld HC. Partner notification of sexually transmitted diseases: practices and preferences. Sex Transm Dis. 2011;38:821–7.

62. Nuwaha F, Kambugu F, Nsubuga PS. Factors influencing sexual partner referral for sexually transmitted diseases in Uganda. Sex Transm Dis. 1999;26:483–9.

63. World Health Organization (WHO). HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO); 2014.

COMMENTARY



Fostering successful and sustainable collaborations to advance implementation science: the adolescent HIV prevention and treatment implementation science alliance

Rachel Sturke¹*, Susan Vorkoper^{1,§}* (**b**), Linda-Gail Bekker² (**b**), Wole Ameyan³ (**b**), Chewe Luo⁴ (**b**), Susannah Allison⁵ (**b**), Damilola Walker⁴, Bill Kapogiannis⁶ (**b**) and Laura Guay⁷

[§]Corresponding author: Susan Vorkoper, 16 Center Dr, Bethesda, Maryland 20892, USA. Tel: +1 301 451 1764. (susan.vorkoper@nih.gov) *These authors have contributed equally to the work.

Abstract

Introduction: HIV continues to devastate the adolescent population in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). The complex array of interpersonal, social, structural and system-level obstacles specific to adolescents have slowed progress in prevention and treatment of HIV in this population. The field of implementation science holds promise for addressing these challenges.

Discussion: There is growing consensus that enhanced interactions between researchers and users of scientific evidence are important and necessary to tackle enduring barriers to implementation. In 2017, the Fogarty International Center launched the Adolescent HIV Prevention and Treatment Implementation Science Alliance (AHISA) to promote communication and catalyse collaboration among implementation scientists and implementers to enhance the cross-fertilization of insights as research advances and the implementation environment evolves. This network has identified key implementation science questions for adolescent HIV, assessed how members' research is addressing them, and is currently conducting a concept mapping exercise to more systematically identify implementation research priorities. In addition, AHSA pinpointed common challenges to addressing these questions and discussed their collective capacity to conduct implementation science using the shared learning approach of the network. Specifically, AHISA addresses challenges related to capacity building, developing mentorship, engaging stakeholders, and involving adolescents through support for training efforts and funding region-/country-specific networks that respond to local issues and increase implementation science capacity across SSA.

Conclusions: Innovative platforms, like AHISA, that foster collaborations between implementation science researchers, policymakers and community participants to prioritizes research needs and identify and address implementation challenges can speed the translation of effective HIV interventions to benefit adolescent health.

Keywords: implementation science; adolescent; HIV; alliance; Africa

Received 24 January 2020; Accepted 17 June 2020

Copyright © 2020 World Health Organization; licensed by IAS.

This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution IGO License which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided that the original work is properly cited. In any reproduction of this article there should not be any suggestion that WHO or the article endorse any specific organization or products.

1 | INTRODUCTION

While HIV continues to be one of the leading causes of death for adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) [1], interventions to address HIV prevention and treatment in this population have had limited effectiveness especially in low-resource settings like SSA [2]. In these settings, the benefits of proven interventions have not been fully realized because of enduring barriers to uptake, replication and scale-up including a complex array of interpersonal, social, structural and systems-level obstacles that often ignore developmental stages of and the many needs particular to adolescents [3].

The field of implementation science holds promise for addressing these challenges. However, critical research capacity in implementation science and deliberate and strategic efforts to facilitate collaboration, communication and relationship building among researchers and the users of research evidence are needed to make substantial advancements. Given this critical link in the context of implementation science and representing a collective commitment to the goal of reducing adolescent HIV infections, the Center for Global Health Studies at the United States (US) National Institutes of Health's (NIH) Fogarty International Center launched the Adolescent HIV Prevention and Treatment Implementation Science Alliance (AHISA). This innovative platform was established to identify gaps and provide opportunities for enhanced communication and collaboration between implementation scientists and programme implementers and policymakers to facilitate better utilization of scientific evidence in adolescent HIV programming while simultaneously helping to ensure that research is country driven and responsive to the adolescent context. Through this approach AHISA thereby promotes

scalable, empowering, and sustainable interventions. This commentary identifies both key implementation science questions and common implementation challenges related to adolescent HIV prevention and treatment research and outlines how AHISA is collectively addressing them.

2 | DISCUSSION: ADOLESCENT HIV IMPLEMENTATION SCIENCE ALLIANCE

Eliminating HIV as a public health threat among adolescents depends heavily on successful implementation of efficacious interventions that address the context in which adolescents live. Across the HIV continuum of care, adolescents are less likely to be tested [4] and linked to care [5], have higher loss to follow-up [6], and worse adherence [7] and viral suppression rates [8] than their adult counterparts despite evidence for appropriate treatment and care [9]. A number of factors, including youth-friendly health services, gender-based violence, harmful cultural and social norms, limit the uptake of health services within this population. Furthermore, many of the effective adolescent service delivery approaches and models have not been taken to scale and implemented widely.

Implementation science offers a scientific strategy that takes a holistic approach to address these barriers and is defined as the study of methods to promote the integration of research findings and evidence into health care policy and practice to achieve their potential public health impact [10]. The intent of implementation science is to investigate and address major social, behavioural, economic and management bottlenecks that impede effective implementation, test novel approaches to improve health programming and determine the effect of implementation strategies on the causal relationship between the intervention and its impact in order to enable proven intervention to be taken to scale.

Premised on the idea that support for implementation science alone will have limited impact unless coupled with concerted efforts to bring researchers together with policymakers and programme implementers, AHISA teams are made up of researchers with funding from across the NIH and their incountry, implementing partners. AHISA, which is funded by the US Office of the Global AIDS Coordinator (OGAC) and the NIH's Office of AIDS Research, was developed as an innovative platform to enhance communication and catalyse collaboration among the funded implementation science researchers and users of research evidence to promote a cross-fertilization of ideas, insights and experiences in real time as the research progresses and the implementation environment evolves. This innovative platform also helps to seed significant and sustainable implementation science collaborations aimed at addressing critical barriers to implementing proven health interventions among adolescents. Because collaboration between researchers and those who utilize research evidence is an implicit necessity for the field of implementation science, this opportunity to develop formal and informal networks is of particular importance to moving the implementation science agenda for adolescent HIV forward. Building multidisciplinary and multi-sector implementation science collaborations will inform global initiatives (e.g. PEPFAR DREAMS, the Global Fund's Strategic Investment in Adolescent Girls and Young Women, World Health Organization's Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents

and UNAIDS Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free) and help identify and overcome the intractable barriers that drive high rates of HIV among adolescents in SSA.

AHISA is made up of 26 teams of NIH-funded researchers, programme implementers and policymakers working in 11 countries in SSA and includes over 75 members [11]. The alliance is guided by a steering committee of experts from the NIH, OGAC, US Agency for International Development, the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the Elizabeth Glaser Pediatric AIDS Foundation, World Health Organization, UNICEF, and the Desmond Tutu Foundation. In addition to annual in-person meetings, webinars and online discussion, AHISA has also funded several small collaborative awards with the goal of catalysing long-term and sustainable region-/country-specific collaborations that respond to local issues and increase implementation science capacity across SSA. These small investments allow AHISA members to leverage their current research and engage a local audience that the larger alliance may not otherwise reach.

Pulling from the collective experience of its members, AHISA has identified critical implementation research questions that are imperative to moving the field of adolescent HIV prevention and treatment forward (Table 1). While researchers across the field including AHISA teams are addressing these priority areas such as transitions to adult care, predictors to uptake of and adherence to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), integrating mental health services in clinical care of adolescents with HIV, additional implementation research is needed for effective prevention, screening and treatment of HIV among adolescents [12-23]. Based on priority research questions identified by AHISA, the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development established a consortium entitled the "Prevention and Treatment through a Comprehensive Care Continuum for HIV-affected Adolescents in Resource Constrained Settings (PATC³H)," which funds eight research teams to conduct clinical research and evaluation of a variety of combination interventions aimed at the individual, family, community, structural and education, and health systems levels, to improve health outcomes among adolescents at risk for or living with HIV [24].

To more systematically identify implementation research priorities for adolescent HIV, AHISA is harnessing the collective expertise and experience of its members and conducting a concept mapping exercise [25]. Specifically, this exercise uses a rigorous methodology to identify factors that impact the implementation of HIV prevention and intervention programmes for adolescents in SSA. Using a multi-step approach, AHISA members generated responses to the focus question: "In your experience, what factors have facilitated or hindered implementation of evidence-based HIV prevention or treatment for adolescents in SSA?" These statements were sorted into thematically relevant groups and rated each statement on importance and changeability. The exercise will result in a set of agreed upon key factors that facilitate or hinder implementation of evidence-based HIV prevention or treatment for adolescents in SSA; factors that could be addressed by implementation science.

In addition to research priorities, AHISA members have identified common challenges to addressing these questions and discussed their collective capacity to conduct implementation

Table 1. Priority research areas for adolescent HIV

Transitions to adult care

Predictors of uptake of and adherence to PrEP

Integrating mental health services in clinical care of adolescents with HIV

- Implementation/scale up/roll out/experiences with novel treatment options
- Scale-up and disseminating of pilot results (e.g. pilot test for young men who have sex with men in Nigeria)
- Drawing lessons from implementation science research to reach the most vulnerable and improve prevention outcomes
- Acceptability and adaptation of mHealth approaches to prevention and treatment of HIV among adolescents
- Understanding cultural barriers to the use of HIV Prevention methods among adolescent girls and young women and their partners

Optimizing youth engagement

Participation to improve HIV care continuum outcomes among young people. Expanding access and reach of youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services

Engaging men and boys

Increasing uptake and retention into care using differentiated service delivery model

PrEP, pre-exposure prophylaxis.

science using the shared learning approach of the network. AHISA has outlined and addressed a range of challenges related to implementation science and adolescent HIV research:

2.1 | Building capacity in implementation science

Lack of capacity to conduct implementation research exists in the region and global health more generally. To help build implementation science capacity, AHISA in collaboration with the University of North Carolina and Wits University hosted a three-day training to provide alliance members with an indepth overview of the theory, operational and evaluation approaches to implementation science; methods to assess barriers in implementation science and strategies/tools to overcome them; and options for dissemination of results [26,27].

To further develop tools for sustainable implementation science capacity, through the collaborative awards, AHISA is supporting the development of the Adolescents in Research Toolkit which will source and consolidate information pertaining to clinical, research and ethico-legal aspects of HIV prevention and treatment clinical trials in low- and middle-income countries and share this information through an online toolkit aimed at a wide variety of stakeholders working within adolescent health research and who are designing, implementing and disseminating adolescent health research and implementation science projects.

AHISA continues to build the capacity through trainings at each of the annual meetings and through biannual webinars on topics related to implementation science and adolescent HIV with the aim of strengthening learning among members. These activities allow members to both increase their capacity for conducting implementation science and share relevant work in the field demonstrating the applicability of implementation science within their own research.

2.2 Developing mentorship

Given the lack of capacity in implementation science, there are insufficient mentors for the discipline especially in SSA. These mentors are needed to build a sustainable pipeline of independent implementation scientists. To help address this challenge, AHISA has developed opportunities for mentoring through ongoing engagement with implementation science experts and continued capacity building. For example the AHISA-supported Central and West Africa Implementation Science Alliance (CAWISA), a locally led alliance with membership from Ghana, Nigeria, Cameroon and the Democratic Republic of the Congo, is supporting mentoring relationships by pairing early investigator mentees with both a senior research member of the CAWISA steering committee and a representative from a local institution for between two and five years. In addition, CAWISA aims to develop a mentorship toolkit as the programme progresses.

2.3 Engaging stakeholders

There are important challenges in engaging stakeholders throughout the research process. First, researchers and policymakers ask different questions. Most researchers ask questions rooted in a quest for empirical evidence, whereas policymakers are often looking for programmatic/public health insights to inform policy and programme changes. Second, researchers and decision makers have different stakeholder audiences. While researchers often pursue broad scientific theory and work with a view towards generalizable findings, policymakers need answers to questions that are targeted to their distinct population. Finally, there is an important tension between the long gestation periods and rigorous requirements of research and the short time frames and need for quick information for policymakers and implementers. Strategies to help reconcile these time frames are critical. Recognizing the critical differences between the issues researchers and decision makers prioritize, AHISA has explored strategies for stakeholder engagement and has hosted several discussions with policymaking and programme implementing partners to understand best practices. Overall, successful research and practice partnerships emphasized the need to engage various stakeholders early in the research process to better align each other's interests and motivation and to include these stakeholders in the process to ensure timely dissemination of the results.

In addition, four collaborative AHISA-sponsored small awards support country-specific alliances – in Kenya, South Africa, Uganda and Zambia – that develop collaborative partnerships with other AHISA teams also engage local stakeholders, including policymakers, programme implementers and youth. By encouraging a more local geographic focus, these alliances are able to address specific local policies, such as Kenya's *Fast-Track Plan to End HIV and AIDS among Adolescents and Young People*, tackle areas of particular concern for a country, such as Uganda's HIV service delivery for adolescents, and focus on more granular populations.

2.4 Involving adolescents

Adolescents themselves are important stakeholders often left out of the research process. They are critical to understanding barriers to implementation as well as to designing effective implementation science studies that address challenges in the context of this unique population. Without their engagement, uptake and feasibility of interventions is severely compromised. Indeed, adolescents can play important roles as advocates, participants and advisors to research. To increase the input of adolescents, AHISA has sponsored youth participants at the 2018 International AIDS Society conference, which gathered over 20,000 participants from more than 170 countries. In addition, AHISA supports the African Youth Implementation Science Alliance, which is developing a cadre of young researchers under 30 years old to build their capacity in implementation science. Along with engaging youth, a key component of the Youth Alliance is to provide both training and ongoing mentorship to ensure that young researchers are supported in the appropriate use of the implementation science designs and frameworks thereby ensuring that their results are efficacious and replicable.

While most of these challenges call for long-term investments, AHISA enables its members to share best practices and novel approaches while supporting the development of creative, empowering, and sustainable collaborations and implementation science capacity.

3 | CONCLUSIONS

The work of the alliance is well positioned to inform local and national policies and programmes related to adolescent HIV. For example research being conducted in Kenya in collaboration with the National AIDS and STI's Control Programme is developing a novel approach to address the continuum between paediatric to adult HIV care that can be scaled nationally [28]. Similarly, a partnership between researchers and the Rwanda Biomedical Center is primed to increase ART adherence among young people living with HIV [29]. Research focused on the challenges of effective and sustainable implementation of proven interventions in real-world settings is critical to the goal of achieving an AIDS-free generation and ensuring the survival and health of adolescents. Integration of clinical research evidence, programme implementation, and policy is critical to speed the translation of effective HIV prevention and treatment interventions. Implementation science can help close the gap between evidence and programme and policy as well as address stubborn barriers. Innovative platforms, like AHISA, that bring together and foster collaboration of implementation science researchers with implementers, policymakers and community participants prioritize research needs and identify and address implementation challenges that can speed the translation of effective HIV interventions to benefit adolescent health. Indeed, AHISA helps create and enhance partnerships, galvanizes regional and country investment and ownership, builds regional research capacity in implementation science, and can help promote meaningful engagement of adolescents in helping to overcome implementation challenges.

AUTHORS' AFFILIATIONS

¹Fogarty International Center, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA; ²Desmund Tutu HIV Centre at the University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa; ³Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland; ⁴HIV Section, Programme Division, United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), New York, NY, USA; ⁵National Institute of Mental Health, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA; ⁶Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA; ⁷Elizabeth Glaser Pediatric AIDS Foundation, Washington, DC, USA

COMPETING INTERESTS

There are no competing interests.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

RS and SV involved in conception of the work and drafting the article. RS, SV, LGB, WA, CL, SA, DW, BK and LG carried out final approval of the version to be published.

ABBREVIATIONS

AHISA, Adolescent HIV Prevention and Treatment Implementation Science Alliance; CAWISA, Central and West Africa Implementation Science Alliance; NIH, United States National Institutes of Health; OGAC, US Office of the Global AIDS Coordinator; PATC³H, Prevention and Treatment through a Comprehensive Care Continuum for HIV-affected Adolescents in Resource Constrained Settings; PrEP, pre-exposure prophylaxis; SSA, sub-Saharan Africa.

AUTHORS' INFORMATION

All authors are part of the AHISA Steering Committee.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We thank the entire AHISA Steering Committee and the AHISA members for their contributions.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Fogarty International Center, National Institutes of Health.

DISCLAIMER

The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position of the US government.

REFERENCES

1. World Health Organization. Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!): guidance to support country implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.

2. Michielsen K, Chersich MF, Luchters S, De Koker P, Van Rossem R, Temmerman M. Effectiveness of HIV prevention for youth in sub-Saharan Africa: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized and nonrandomized trials. AIDS. 2010;24(8):1193–202.

3. UNAIDS.The gap report: adolescent girls and young women. Geneva: 2014. [cited 2020 Jan 24]. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/file s/media_asset/02_Adolescentgirlsandyoungwomen.pdf

4. Sam-Agudu NA, Folayan MO, Ezeanolue EE. Seeking wider access to HIV testing for adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa. Pediatr Res. 2016;79(6):838–45.

5. Auld AF, Agolory SG, Shiraishi RW, Wabwire-Mangen F, Kwesigabo G, Mulenga M, et al. Antiretroviral therapy enrollment characteristics and outcomes among HIV-infected adolescents and young adults compared with older adults-seven African countries, 2004–2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(47):1097–103.

6. Lamb MR, Fayorsey R, Nuwagaba-Biribonwoha H, Viola V, Mutabazi V, Alwar T, et al. High attrition before and after ART initiation among youth (15–24 years of age) enrolled in HIV care. AIDS. 2014;28:559–68.

7. Kasedde S, Luo C, McClure C, Chandan U. Reducing HIV and AIDS in adolescents: opportunities and challenges. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2013;10:159–68. 8. Nasuuna E, Kigozi J, Babirye L, Muganzi A, Sewankambo NK, Nakanjako D. Low HIV viral suppression rates following the intensive adherence counseling (IAC) program for children and adolescents with viral failure in public health facilities in Uganda. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1):1048.

9. Mark D, Armstrong A, Andrade C, Penazzato M, Hatane L, Taing L, et al. HIV treatment and care services for adolescents: a situational analysis of 218 facilities in 23 sub-Saharan African countries. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20:21591.

10. Fogarty International Center. Implementation science news, resources and funding for global health researchers. 2019. [cited 2020 Jan 24]. Available from: https://www.fic.nih.gov/ResearchTopics/Pages/ImplementationScience.aspx

11. Fogarty International Center. Adolescent HIV Prevention and Treatment Implementation Science Alliance. 2020. [cited 2020 Jan 24]. Available from: https://www.fic.nih.gov/About/center-global-health-studies/Pages/adolescent-hivprevention-treatment-implementation-science-alliance.aspx

12. Ssewamala F. SUUBI4HER: A Combination Intervention Addressing HIV Risk Behaviors among Older Adolescent Girls Transitioning into Adulthood in Uganda. Washington University in St. Louis; 2019. Grant No.: R01MH113486. Supported by the US National Institute of Mental Health.

13. John-Stewart G, Multi-Level Kohler P.Behavioral Economics and Community Psychology Approaches to Strengthen HIV Prevention Cascades in Adolescent Girls and Young Women in East Zimbabwe. University of Washington, 2019. Grant No.: R01HD094630. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

14. Kuo C, Bekker LG, Stein D.Our Family Our Future: A Resilience-Oriented Family Intervention to Prevent Adolescent HIV/STI Infection and Depression in South Africa. Brown University, 2019. Grant No.: R01MH114843. Supported by the US National Institute of Mental Health.

15. Subramanian S.Developing and Testing a Multi-Level Package of Interventions for an Integrated Care Delivery Model of HIV Prevention and Treatment Targeting Adolescent Girls in Zambia. Research Triangle Institute, 2019. Grant No.: UG3HD096908. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

16. Taiwo B, Garofalo R.Intensive Combination Approach to Rollback the Epidemic (ICARE) in Nigerian Adolescents. Northwestern University at Chicago, 2020. Grant No.: UG3HD096920. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

17. Ssewamala F.Bridges to the Future: Economic Empowerment for AIDS Orphaned Children in Uganda. Washington University in St. Louis, 2015. Grant No.: R01HD070727. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

18. Lightfoot M, Dunbar M.Social Media Messaging for HIV Testing in Zimbabwe. University of California, San Francisco, 2019. Grant No.: R01HD085793. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

19. Pettifor AA.Culturally Appropriate Intervention for Young Couples in South Africa. University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, 2009. Grant No.: R21HD058288. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

20. Denison JHIV.Counseling and Testing Among Adolescents in Zambia. Johns Hopkins University, 2005. Grant No.: F31MH066547. Supported by the US National Institute of Mental Health.

21. Celum C, Delany-Moretlwe S.PrEP for Young South African Women: Evaluating Uptake by Risk Screening or a Decision Support Tool and Scaled Adherence Support Using a Smart Design. University of Washington, 2019. Grant No.: R01MH114544. Supported by the US National Institute of Mental Health.

22. Exploring Nelson L.Stigmas and HIV Diagnosis Delay, Linkage and Retention for MSM in Ghana. University of Rochester, 2019. Grant No.: R21MH109350. Supported by the US National Institute of Mental Health.

23. Medina-Marino A, Bekker LG.The Community PrEP Study. Foundation for Professional Development, 2019. Grant No.: R01MH114648. Supported by the US National Institute of Mental Health.

24. Maternal and Pediatric Infectious Disease Branch. Prevention and Treatment through a Comprehensive Care Continuum for HIV-affected Adolescents in Resource Constrained Settings (PATC3H). 2019. [cited 11 June 2020]. Available from: https://www.nichd.nih.gov/research/supported/PATC3H

25. Aarons GA, Sommerfeld DH, Chi BH, Ezeanolue E, Sturke R, Guay L, et al. Concept mapping of PMTCT implementation challenges and solutions across 6 sub-Saharan African countries in the NIH-PEPFAR PMTCT implementation science Alliance. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016;72(Suppl 2):S202–6.

26. Nilsen P. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. Implement Sci. 2015;10:53.

27. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Adm Policy Ment Health. 2011;38(2):65–76.

28. John-Stewart G.Transitioning from Pediatric to Adult HIV Care in Kenya. Grant No.: R01HD089850. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

29. Cohen M, Donenburg G.Improving Adherence Among HIV+ Rwandan Youth: A TI-CBTE Indigenous Leader Model. Grant No.: R01HD074977. Supported by the US Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.



AUTHOR INDEX

A	
Abrahams, N.	65
Akin-Olugbade, O.	65
Allison, S.	77
Ameyan, W.	77
Amstutz, A.	32
Archary, M.	1
B	
Bekker, L-G.	77
Bernays, S.	15, 40
Birdthistle, I.	54
Bradshaw, M.	65
Brand, A.	65
C	
Carpenter, D.	60
Chard, E.	71
Chikeya, A.	15
Chimbindi, N.	54
Chinbunchorn, T.	21
Cluver, L.	47
Cowan, F.	15
Cressey, T.R.	21
D	
Dua, T.	65
F	
Floyd, S.	54
G	
Glass, T.R.	32
Gordon, S.	65
Guay, L.	77
н	
Hargreaves, J.R.	54
Harling, G.	54
I	
Inarukundo, A.	13

]	
Janyam, S.	21
Jessee, C.	71
К	
Kao, M.	32
Kapogiannis, B.	77
Kapungu, C.	71
Kawichai, S.	22
Kerr, S.J.	
Khananuraksa, P.	<u>[</u>
Khesa, L.	32
Коро, М.	32
L	
Labhardt, N.D.	32
Langwenya, N.	47
Lanyon, C.	4(
Laurenzi, C. A.	47, 65
Lejone, T.I.	32
Linjongrat, D.	2:
Luo, C.	77
М	
Matama, C.	40
Mavhu, W.	1
Melendez-Torres, G.J.	6
Mthiyane, N.	54
Mufuka, J.	1
Muhairwe, J.	32
Musiime, V.	4(
Mvududu, K.	15
N	
Nakyambadde, H.	40
Namukwaya, S.	4(
Noviyanti, I.	13

Ρ

Г		
Pa	parini, S.	40
Pe	nazzato, M.	60
Pe	ttifor, A.E.	1
Ph	anuphak, N.	21
Pu	thanakit, T.	5, 21

R

71
60
65
13
5

S

5	
Saisaengjan, C.	21
Sebany, M.	71
Seeley, J.	40, 54
Servili, C.	65
Shahmanesh, M.	54
Sherr, L.	47
Skeen, S.	65
Songtaweesin, W.N.	21
Stangl, R.L.	71
Sturke, R.	77
Subero, M.A.	13
Т	
Teeraananchai, S.	5
Toit, S.	65
Tomlinson, M.	65
Toska, E.	1, 47
Tshuma, M.	15
Turkova, A.	40, 60
V	
Venter, F.	60
Vorkoper, S.	77
W	
Walker, D.	77
Willis, N.	15
Wittesaele, C.	47
Wongharn, P.	21
Z	
Zhou, S.	47
Zuma, T.	54

Journal Information

About the journal

The *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, the official journal of the Society, provides a peerreviewed, open access forum for essential and innovative HIV research, across all disciplines. All articles published by the *Journal of the International AIDS Society* are freely accessible online. The editorial decisions are made independently by the journal's Editors-in-Chief.

Website: www.jiasociety.org

eISSN: 1758-2652

Contact details

Editorial office:

Avenue de France, 23 CH-1202 Geneva Switzerland Email: editorial@jiasociety.org Tel: +41 (0) 22 710 0800

Publisher

The *Journal of the International AIDS Society* is published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of the International AIDS Society

John Wiley & Sons Ltd 9600 Garsington Road Oxford, OX4 2DQ UK Telephone: +44 1865 776868 Email: customer@wiley.com

Production Editor

Maruthu Pandian Sankareswaran (email: maruthupandian@wiley.com)

Abstracting and Indexing Services

The *Journal of the International AIDS Society* is indexed in a variety of databases including PubMed, PubMed Central, MEDLINE, Science Citation Index Expanded and Google Scholar. The 2019 Journal Impact Factor is 5.553, Journal Citation Reports (Clarivate Analytics, 2020).

Advertising, sponsorship and donations

Please contact the editorial office if you are interested in advertising on our journal's website. We also gladly receive inquiries on sponsorship and donations to support open access publications from authors in low- and middle-income countries.

Supplements

The *Journal of the International AIDS Society* publishes supplements and thematic series on its own initiative or based on proposals by external organizations or authors. Inquiries can be sent to the editorial office at editorial@jiasociety.org.

All articles submitted for publication in supplements are subject to peer review. Published supplements are freely accessible online and can also be produced in print.

Disclaimer

The Publisher, International AIDS Society and Editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising from the use of information contained in this journal; the views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the Publisher, International AIDS Society and Editors, neither does the publication of advertisements constitute any endorsement by the Publisher, International AIDS Society and Editors of the products advertised.

Copyright and Copying

The content in this supplement is published under the Creative Commons Attribution license ("CC-BY"). The license allows third parties to share the published work (copy, distribute, transmit) and to adapt it under the condition that the authors are given credit, and that in the event of reuse or distribution, the terms of this license are made clear. Authors retain the copyright of their articles, with first publication rights granted to the *Journal of the International AIDS Society*.

Wiley's Corporate Citizenship Initiative

Wiley's Corporate Citizenship Initiative seeks to address the environmental, social, economic, and ethical challenges faced in our business and which are important to our diverse stakeholder groups. Since launching the initiative, we have focused on sharing our content with those in need, enhancing community philanthropy, reducing our carbon impact, creating global guidelines and best practices for paper use, establishing a vendor code of ethics, and engaging our colleagues and other stakeholders in our efforts. Follow our progress at www.wiley.com/go/citizenship.

Research4Life

Wiley is a founding member of the UN-backed HINARI, AGORA, and OARE initiatives. They are now collectively known as Research4Life, making online scientific content available free or at nominal cost to researchers in developing countries.

Please visit Wiley's Content Access – Corporate Citizenship site: www.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-390082.html

Editors

Editors-in-Chief: Kenneth H Mayer (United States) Annette Sohn (Thailand)

Executive Editor: Marlène Bras (Switzerland)

Deputy Editors:

Laith Abu-Raddad (Qatar) Jenny Anderson (Australia) Benjamin Bavinton (Australia) Carol Camlin (United States) Morna Cornell (South Africa) Claudia Cortés (Chile) Trevor Crowell (United States) Alison Drake (United States) Matthew Fox (United States) Omar Galárraga (United States) Kimberly Green (Vietnam) Anna Grimsrud (South Africa) Renee Heffron (United States) Martin Holt (Australia) Mina Hosseinipour (United States) Rami Kantor (United States) Sheri Lippman (United States) Carmen Logie (Canada) Nyaradzo Mgodi (Zimbabwe) Matthew Mimiaga (United States) Kenneth Ngure (Kenya) Sophie Pascoe (South Africa) Nittaya Phanuphak (Thailand) Colette Smith (United Kingdom) Sunil Solomon (United States) Jonathan Stadler (South Africa) Junko Tanuma (Japan) Elona Toska (South Africa) Lara Vojnov (Switzerland) Iryna Zablotska (Australia)

Managing Editor:

Elisa de Castro Alvarez (Switzerland) Editorial Assistant:

Karoline Soerensen (Switzerland)

Editorial Board

Quarraisha Abdool Karim (South Africa) Laith J Abu-Raddad (Qatar) Adaora Adimora (United States) Joseph Amon (United States) Judith D Auerbach (United States) Linda-Gail Bekker (South Africa) Sarah Bernays (Australia) Chris Beyrer (United States) Carlos Cáceres (Peru) Andrea Ciaranello (United States) Elisabeth Connick (United States) Mark Cotton (South Africa) Diana Dickinson (Botswana) Sergii Dvoriak (Ukraine) Paul Flowers (United Kingdom) Nathan Ford (Switzerland) Omar Galárraga (United States) Elvin Geng (United States) Beatriz Grinsztejn (Brazil) Huldrych Günthard (Switzerland) Diane Havlir (United States) Amy Justice (United States) Adeeba Kamarulzaman (Malaysia) Rami Kantor (United States) Sukhontha Kongsin (Thailand) Nagalingeswaran Kumarasamy (India) Mathias Lichterfeld (United States) Kathleen MacQueen (United States) Navid Madani (United States) Paula Munderi (Uganda) Denis Nash (United States) Christy E Newman (Australia) Richard Parker (Brazil) Praphan Phanuphak (Thailand) Tonia Poteat (United States) Anton Pozniak (United Kingdom) Linda Richter (South Africa) Jürgen Rockstroh (Germany) Sean Rourke (Canada) Gabriella Scarlatti (Italy) Lorraine Sherr (United Kingdom) Colette Smith (United Kingdom) Tim Spelman (Australia) Steffanie Strathdee (United States) Francois Venter (South Africa) Sten Vermund (United States) Alan Whiteside (South Africa) Iryna Zablotska (Australia)

